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FERRATUM OYJ 
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An Application has been made to the Listing Authority in Malta, which is the Maltese competent authority for the 

purposes of the Prospectus Directive for the approval of this Base Prospectus. Application will also be made to the 

Listing Authority for each Series of the Bonds issued under this Programme to be admitted for trading on the EWSM. 

There may also be applications to admit the Bonds issued under this Programme for trading on the Stockholm Stock 

Exchange and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 

Prospective investors are to refer to the Guarantee contained in Annex A of this Document for a description of the 

scope, nature and terms of the Guarantee. Reference should also be made to the section entitled "Risk Factors" for a 

discussion of certain risk factors which should be considered by prospective investors in connection with the Bonds and 

the Guarantee provided by Ferratum Oyj.  

 
THE ACCEPTANCE BY THE LISTING AUTHORITY IN MALTA FOR THE ADMISSIBILITY OF THESE SECURITIES AS A LISTED 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT MEANS THAT THE SAID INSTRUMENTS ARE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS AND 
CONDITIONS SET OUT IN THE LISTING RULES. IN PROVIDING THIS ACCEPTANCE, THE LISTING AUTHORITY DOES NOT GIVE 
ANY CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE POTENTIAL RISKS IN INVESTING IN THE SAID INSTRUMENT AND SUCH ACCEPTANCE 
SHOULD NOT BE DEEMED OR BE CONSTRUED AS A REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO THE SAFETY OF INVESTING 
IN SUCH INSTRUMENT. 
 
A PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHOULD ALWAYS SEEK INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVICE BEFORE DECIDING TO INVEST IN 
ANY LISTED FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS. A PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHOULD BE AWARE OF THE POTENTIAL RISKS IN 
INVESTING IN THE SECURITIES OF AN ISSUER AND SHOULD MAKE THE DECISION TO INVEST ONLY AFTER CAREFUL 
CONSIDERATION AND CONSULTATION WITH HIS OR HER OWN INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER. 
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
 
THIS BASE PROSPECTUS SHOULD BE READ AND CONSTRUED IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE REFERENCE DOCUMENTS. FULL 
INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER, GUARANTOR AND THE BONDS IS ONLY AVAILABLE ON THE BASIS OF THE BASE 
PROSPECTUS, AS SUPPLEMENTED FROM TIME TO TIME, TOGETHER WITH THE REFERENCE DOCUMENTS, AND THE 
APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS. 
 
THIS DOCUMENT CONSTITUTES A BASE PROSPECTUS AND HAS BEEN DRAWN UP IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE GUIDELINES FOR LISTING AND TRADING ON THE EWSM, AND THE COMMISSION REGULATION (EC) 
NO. 809/2004 OF THE 29 APRIL 2004 IMPLEMENTING DIRECTIVE 2003/71/EC OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE 
COUNCIL AS REGARDS INFORMATION CONTAINED IN PROSPECTUSES, AS WELL AS THE FORMAT, INCORPORATION BY 
REFERENCE AND PUBLICATION OF SUCH PROSPECTUSES AND DISSEMINATION OF ADVERTISEMENTS (AS AMENDED BY 
DIRECTIVE 2010/73/EU OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL AND COMMISSION DELEGATED 
REGULATION (EU) NO. 486/2012 OF 30 MARCH 2012, COMMISSION DELEGATED REGULATION (EU) NO. 862/2012 OF 4 
JUNE 2012, COMMISSION DELEGATED REGULATION (EU) NO. 759/2013 OF 30 APRIL 2013, COMMISSION DELEGATED 
REGULATION (EU) NO. 382/2014 OF 7 MARCH 2014) AND COMMISSION REGULATION (EU) 2016/301 OF 30 NOVEMBER 
2015 SUPPLEMENTING DIRECTIVE 2003/71/EC AND AMENDING COMMISSION REGULATION (EC) NO 809/2014. 
 
THE BASE PROSPECTUS HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE LISTING AUTHORITY (MEANING THE MALTA FINANCIAL SERVICES 
!¦¢IhwL¢¸ όΨaC{!Ωύ ACTING IN ITS CAPACITY AS LISTING AUTHORITY IN TERMS OF THE FINANCIAL MARKETS ACT, 
CHAPTER 345 OF THE LAWS OF MALTA) AS COMPETENT AUTHORITY UNDER THE PROSPECTUS DIRECTIVE. THE LISTING 
AUTHORITY ONLY APPROVES THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AS MEETING THE DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS IMPOSED UNDER 
MALTESE AND EUROPEAN UNION LAW PURSUANT TO THE PROSPECTUS DIRECTIVE. 

THIS BASE PROSPECTUS IS VALID FOR 12 MONTHS FROM THE DATE OF PUBLICATION AND THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND 
ANY SUPPLEMENT HERETO AS WELL AS ANY FINAL TERMS REFLECT THEIR STATUS AS AT THEIR RESPECTIVE DATES OF 
ISSUE. THE BASE PROSPECTUS AND/OR ANY FINAL TERMS AND THE OFFERING, SALE OR DELIVERY OF ANY BONDS MAY 
NOT BE TAKEN AS: (A) AN IMPLICATION THAT THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN SUCH DOCUMENTS IS ACCURATE AND 
COMPLETE SUBSEQUENT TO THEIR RESPECTIVE DATES OF ISSUE; OR (B) THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO ADVERSE CHANGE IN 
THE FINANCIAL CONDITION OF THE ISSUER AND THE GUARANTOR SINCE SUCH DATES; OR (C) THAT ANY OTHER 
INFORMATION SUPPLIED IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROGRAMME IS ACCURATE AT ANY TIME SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE 
ON WHICH IT IS SUPPLIED OR, IF DIFFERENT, THE DATE INDICATED IN THE DOCUMENT CONTAINING THE SAME. 
 
EACH AND ALL OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE ISSUER AND THE GUARANTOR WHOSE NAMES APPEAR UNDER THE HEADING 
"IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT, ADVISORS AND AUDITORS" IN SECTION 9.1 OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS 
ARE THE PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE BASE PROSPECTUS. TO THE BEST OF THE 
KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF OF THE DIRECTORS, WHO HAVE TAKEN ALL REASONABLE CARE TO ENSURE THAT SUCH IS THE 
CASE, THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE BASE PROSPECTUS IS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FACTS AND DOES NOT 
OMIT ANYTHING LIKELY TO AFFECT THE IMPORT OF SUCH INFORMATION. THE DIRECTORS ACCEPT RESPONSIBILITY 
ACCORDINGLY.  
 
THE ISSUER UNDERTAKES TO SUPPLEMENT THE BASE PROSPECTUS OR PUBLISH A NEW BASE PROSPECTUS AT ANY TIME 
AFTER SUBMISSION OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS FOR APPROVAL TO THE LISTING AUTHORITY, IF AND WHEN, THE 
INFORMATION HEREIN SHOULD BECOME MATERIALLY INACCURATE OR INCOMPLETE IN THE EVENT OF ANY NEW 
SIGNIFICANT FACTOR THAT IS CAPABLE OF AFFECTING THE ASSESSMENT OF THE BONDS BY POTENTIAL INVESTORS. THE 
LISTING AUTHORITY IS NOT REQUIRED TO APPROVE ANY FINAL TERMS ISSUED BY THE ISSUER PURSUANT TO THIS BASE 
PROSPECTUS. 
 
NO BROKER, DEALER, SALESMAN OR OTHER PERSON HAS BEEN AUTHORISED BY THE ISSUER OR ITS DIRECTORS, TO ISSUE 
ANY ADVERTISEMENT OR TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION OR TO MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
SALE OF BONDS OF THE ISSUER OTHER THAN THOSE CONTAINED IN THE BASE PROSPECTUS AND IN THE DOCUMENTS 
REFERRED TO HEREIN IN CONNECTION, AND IF GIVEN OR MADE, SUCH INFORMATION OR REPRESENTATIONS MUST NOT 
BE RELIED UPON AS HAVING BEEN AUTHORISED BY THE ISSUER OR ITS DIRECTORS. 
 
THE BASE PROSPECTUS DOES NOT CONSTITUTE, AND MAY NOT BE USED FOR PURPOSES OF, AN OFFER OR INVITATION TO 
SUBSCRIBE FOR BONDS BY ANY PERSON IN ANY JURISDICTION (I) IN WHICH SUCH OFFER OR INVITATION IS NOT 
AUTHORISED OR (II) IN WHICH THE PERSON MAKING SUCH OFFER OR INVITATION IS NOT QUALIFIED TO DO SO OR (III) TO 
ANY PERSON TO WHOM IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE SUCH OFFER OR INVITATION. 
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IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF ANY PERSONS IN POSSESSION OF THIS DOCUMENT AND ANY PERSONS WISHING TO APPLY 
FOR ANY BONDS ISSUED BY THE ISSUER TO INFORM THEMSELVES OF, AND TO OBSERVE AND COMPLY WITH, ALL 
APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS OF ANY RELEVANT JURISDICTION. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD INFORM 
THEMSELVES AS TO THE LEGAL REQUIREMENTS OF APPLYING FOR ANY SUCH BONDS AND ANY APPLICABLE EXCHANGE 
CONTROL REQUIREMENTS AND TAXES IN THE COUNTRIES OF THEIR NATIONALITY, RESIDENCE OR DOMICILE. 
 
THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN NOR WILL THEY BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT, 1933 AS 
AMENDED, OR UNDER ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES LAW AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE 
TRANSFERRED, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ITS TERRITORIES OR POSSESSIONS, OR ANY 
AREA SUBJECT TO ITS JURISDICTION (THE "U.S.") OR TO OR FOR THE BENEFIT OF, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY U.S. 
PERSON (AS DEFINED IN "REGULATION S" OF THE SAID ACT). FURTHERMORE THE ISSUER WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER 
THE UNITED STATES INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT, 1940 AS AMENDED AND INVESTORS WILL NOT BE ENTITLED TO THE 
BENEFITS SET OUT THEREIN. 
 
A COPY OF THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN SUBMITTED TO THE LISTING AUTHORITY IN SATISFACTION OF THE GUIDELINES FOR 
LISTING AND TRADING ON THE EWSM AND HAS BEEN DULY FILED WITH THE REGISTRAR OF COMPANIES, IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE COMPANIES ACT. 
 
STATEMENTS MADE IN THE BASE PROSPECTUS ARE, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE STATED, BASED ON THE LAW AND 
PRACTICE CURRENTLY IN FORCE IN MALTA AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGES THEREIN. 
 
¢I9 /hb¢9b¢{ hC ¢I9 L{{¦9wΩ{ ²9.{L¢9 hw !b¸ ²9.{L¢9 5Lw9/¢[¸ hw Lb5Lw9/¢[¸ [LbY95 ¢h ¢I9 L{{¦9wΩ{ ²9.{L¢9 5h 
NOT FORM PART OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS. ACCORDINGLY NO RELIANCE OUGHT TO BE MADE BY ANY INVESTOR ON ANY 
INFORMATION OR OTHER DATA CONTAINED IN SUCH WEBSITES AS THE BASIS FOR A DECISION TO INVEST IN THE BONDS. 
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1  Definition s 

All terms not otherwise defined in this Base Prospectus ǎƘŀƭƭ ƘŀǾŜ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŀƴƛƴƎ ŀǎ ǎŜǘ ƻǳǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ Ψ¢ŜǊƳǎ ŀƴŘ 

ConditionsΩ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ƻƴŘǎΦ Lƴ ŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŘŜŦƛƴŜŘ ǘŜǊƳǎ ǳǎŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘƛǎ Base Prospectus 

ŜƴǘƛǘƭŜŘ Ψ¢ŜǊƳǎ ŀƴŘ /ƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎΩΣ ǘƘŜ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭƛǎŜŘ ǘŜǊƳǎ ǎƘŀƭƭ ƘŀǾŜ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŀƴƛƴƎ ŀǘǘǊƛbuted 

hereunder:  

"Bond/s" or "Security/ies" the bonds issued or to be issued in terms of the Programme;  

"Bondholder" a holder of Bonds issued by Ferratum Bank; 

"Bond issue" the issue of the Bonds; 

"Clearstream" Clearstream Banking societé anonyme 

"Companies Act" or "Act" the Companies Act (Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta); 

"Company" or "Issuer" or 
"Bank" or "Ferratum Bank" 

Ferratum Bank p.l.c., a company registered under the laws of Malta having its 
registered office at Tagliaferro Business Centre, Level 6, 14 High Street, Sliema, 
SLM 1551, Malta and bearing company registration number C-56251; 

"CSD"  the central securities depository of the Malta Stock Exchange (MSE) 
established pursuant to article 24 of the Financial Markets Act (Cap. 345 of the 
laws of Malta), and situated at Garrison Chapel, Castille Place, Valletta, VLT 
1063, Malta; 

"Euro" or "EUR" or "ϵ" the lawful currency of the Republic of Malta; 

"Ferratum Group" or "the 
Group" 

Ferratum Oyj and its subsidiaries form the Ferratum Group;  

"Guarantee" 

 

the irrevocable guarantee for each respective series of the Bonds granted by 
the Company under the Deed of Guarantee, under which the Company 
guarantees the due and punctual payment of all sums from time to time 
payable by the Issuer in respect of the Bonds; 

"Guarantor" or "Ferratum 
Oyj" 

 

Ferratum Oyj, a company registered under the Laws of Finland, having its 
registered office at Ratamestarinkatu 11A, 00520 Helsinki, Finland and bearing 
company registration number 1950969-1; 

"EWSM" 

 

the EWSM, European ²ƘƻƭŜǎŀƭŜ {ŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ aŀǊƪŜǘΣ ƛǎ ŀ ΨǊŜƎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ƳŀǊƪŜǘΩ ŀǎ 
defined in Article 4(1), point 14, of the Directive on Markets in Financial 
Instruments (2004/39/EC). The EWSM is authorised and regulated by the 
Malta Financial Services Authority; 

"Listing Authority" 

 

the Malta Financial Services Authority όΨaC{!Ωύ, appointed as Listing Authority 
for the purposes of the Financial Markets Act (Chapter 345 of the Laws of 
Malta) by virtue of Legal Notice 1 of 2003; 

"Listing Rules" 

 

the listing rules issued by the Listing Authority, as may be amended from time 
to time;  

"Offering" or "Shares" the offering of 6,517,188 ordinary shares of the Guarantor on the regulated 
market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange; 

"Offer Price"  the offer price for the Shares issued by Ferratum Oyi in January 2015, with a 
price per share of ϵмт; 

"Person"  any person, firm, company, corporation, government, state, or agency of a 
state or any association, trust or partnership (whether or not having separate 
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legal personality) of two or more of the foregoing; 

"Programme" 

 

the Bond Issuance Programme being made by the Issuer pursuant to this Base 
Prospectus;  

"Prospectus Directive" 

 

Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 
November 2003 on the Prospectus to be published when securities are offered 
to the public or admitted to trading and amending Directive 2001/34/EC, as 
amended by Directive 2010/73/EU of the European Parliament and of the 
Council of 24 November 2010; 

"Reference Documents" any supplement to the Base Prospectus, together with any document on 
display; 

"Regulation" 

 

Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 of 29 April 2004 implementing 
Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards 
information contained in the Prospectus as well as the format, incorporation 
by reference and publication of such prospectuses and dissemination of 
advertisements; 

"Series" one or more Tranches, which are expressed to be consolidated and forming a 
single series and identical in all respects, except for issue dates, interest 
commencement dates and/or issue price; 

"Terms and Conditions" or 
"Conditions" 

the terms and conditions contained in section 13 of this Base Prospectus; and 

"Tranche" each tranche of Bonds is identical in all respects, except for issue dates, 
interest commencement dates and/or issue prices, issued in accordance with 
the provisions of this Base Prospectus as may be amended, supplemented and 
updated from time to time and the applicable Final Terms. 

 

All references in the Base Prospectus to "Malta" are to the "Republic of Malta". 

A reference in this Base Prospectus to a provision of law is a reference to that provision as amended or re-
enacted. 
 

References in this Base Prospectus to a company or entity shall be deemed to include a reference to any 
successor or replacement thereto. 
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2  Persons responsible  

This Document includes information prepared in compliance with the Guidelines for Listing and Trading 

on the EWSM for the purpose of providing prospective investors with information regarding the Issuer 

and the Guarantor. All of the Directors of the Issuer, whose names appear under the heading "Identity 

of Directors, Senior Management, Advisors and Auditors" in Section 9.1.1 (Directors of the Issuer) of 

the Document, accept responsibility for the information contained in this Document.  

To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Directors of the Issuer , who have taken all reasonable 

care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this document is in accordance with 

the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information. The Directors of the 

Issuer and the Guarantor accept responsibility accordingly. 
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3  Risk factors  

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD CAREFULLY REVIEW AND CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING RISK FACTORS AND OTHER 

INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS, AS WELL AS ALL THE OTHER INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS BASE PROSPECTUS, 

BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT DECISION WITH RESPECT TO THE ISSUER. SOME OF THESE RISKS ARE SUBJECT TO 

CONTINGENCIES WHICH MAY OR MAY NOT OCCUR AND THE ISSUER IS NOT IN A POSITION TO EXPRESS A VIEW ON THE 

LIKELIHOOD OF ANY SUCH CONTINGENCIES OCCURRING.  

THE SEQUENCE IN WHICH THE RISKS BELOW ARE LISTED IS NOT INTENDED TO BE INDICATIVE OF ANY ORDER OF 

PRIORITY OR OF THE EXTENT OF THEIR CONSEQUENCES. 

LC !b¸ hC ¢I9 wL{Y{ 59{/wL.95 .9[h² ²9w9 ¢h a!¢9wL![L{9Σ ¢I9¸ /h¦[5 I!±9 ! {9wLh¦{ 9CC9/¢ hb ¢I9 L{{¦9wΩ{ 

!b5κhw ¢I9 D¦!w!b¢hwΩ{ CLb!b/L![ w9{¦[¢{ !b5 ¢w!5LbD twh{t9/¢{ !b5 ¢I9 !.L[L¢¸ hC ¢I9 L{{¦9w !bD/OR 

THE GUARANTOR TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE SECURITIES ISSUED BY IT FROM TIME TO TIME. THE RISKS 

AND UNCERTAINTIES DISCUSSED BELOW ARE THOSE IDENTIFIED AS SUCH BY THE DIRECTORS, BUT THESE RISKS AND 

UNCERTAINTIES MAY NOT BE THE ONLY ONES THAT THE ISSUER AND THE GUARANTOR FACE. ADDITIONAL RISKS AND 

UNCERTAINTIES, INCLUDING THOSE WHICH THE DIRECTORS ARE NOT CURRENTLY AWARE OF, MAY WELL RESULT IN A 

MATERIAL IMPACT ON THE FINANCIAL CONDITION AND OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE OF THE ISSUER AND/OR THE 

GUARANTOR THAT COULD LEAD TO A DECLINE IN VALUE OF THE SECURITIES. 

NEITHER THE BASE PROSPECTUS NOR ANY OTHER INFORMATION SUPPLIED IN CONNECTION WITH SECURITIES ISSUED 

BY THE ISSUER: (I) IS INTENDED TO PROVIDE THE BASIS OF ANY CREDIT OR OTHER EVALUATION NOR (II) SHOULD BE 

CONSIDERED AS A RECOMMENDATION BY THE ISSUER OR THE SPONSOR OR AUTHORISED FINANCIAL INTERMEDIARIES 

THAT ANY RECIPIENT OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS OR ANY OTHER INFORMATION SUPPLIED IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

SHOULD PURCHASE ANY SECURITIES ISSUED BY THE ISSUER.  

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD MAKE THEIR OWN INDEPENDENT EVALUATION OF ALL RISK FACTORS, AND SHOULD 

CONSIDER ALL OTHER SECTIONS IN THIS DOCUMENT. 

3.1 Introduction  

Ferratum Bank p.l.c. (the "Issuer") forms part of the Ferratum Group, a group of companies 
independent of any other business groups in the financial or commerce sector. The Group is mainly 
capitalised by Ferratum Oyj (the "Guarantor").  

Considering that the Issuer and the other companies within the Group operate mainly within the same 
line of business (i.e. that of providing consumer loans distributed either via a highly developed mobile 
phone solution or the internet) the risks mentioned hereunder in section 3.2 concern the Group as a 
whole, including the Issuer.   

3.2 Risks concerning the Issuer and the Guarantor   

3.2.1 Economic risk  

Changing economic conditions have a strong influence on the consumer credit and microloans credit 

markets. The Group's business depends on the demand for consumer loans, as well as on access to 

capital Any period of regional or global economic downturn could result in a lower demand for the 

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǇǊƻŘǳŎǘǎΣ ŀ ǊŜŘǳŎǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇƻǘŜƴǘƛŀƭ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ ǿƘƻ ǉǳŀƭƛŦȅ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇϥǎ ŎƻƴǎǳƳŜǊ ƭƻŀƴ 

products, or more difficult access to capital. In addition, periods of economic downturn could pressure 

ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŜȄƛǎǘƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ǇƻǘŜƴǘƛŀƭ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎΦ !ǎ ŀ ǊŜǎǳƭǘΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇ credit business could experience an 

increase in defaults, credit extension requests, or a higher frequency and severity of credit losses. 

Difficulties in access to capital may result in a decreased ability to arrange as many microloans as 

demanded by the market. In turn, this may cause the Group to lose the momentum of its market 
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growth and market share and, thereby, have a material adverse effect on its business, financial 

standing, results from operations and prospects. 

3.2.2 Fraud risk  

The Group is exposed to fraud risk due to possible intentional misconduct from its customers and 

potential customers, acting maliciously for their own gain or that of connected third parties. The most 

ŎƻƳƳƻƴ ŦǊŀǳŘ Ǌƛǎƪ ŎƻƴŎŜǊƴǎ ƛŘŜƴǘƛǘȅ ǘƘŜŦǘΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛƴǾƻƭǾŜǎ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎǳƳǇǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀƴƻǘƘŜǊ ǇŜǊǎƻƴΩǎ ƛŘŜƴǘƛǘȅ 

in order to gain access to resources from the Group. To minimize fraud risk, the Group has 

implemented regulatory procedures pertaining to customer identification and verification, 

complementing requirements for the prevention of money laundering and financing of terrorism, which 

are in turn based on the legislation of each country. Nevertheless, full assurance that fraud would not 

cause any losses to the Group cannot be provided. The Group uses fraud risk management as an 

internal control system, which includes such tools as the identification of fraud levels through default 

rate monitoring systemǎΣ ΨōŀŘ ŘŜōǘΩ ŘŀǘŀōŀǎŜǎΣ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ƛƴǘŜƭƭƛƎŜƴŎŜ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴΣ ŀƴŘ ŀŘŜǉǳŀǘŜ 

customer due diligence. 

Lǘ ƛǎ ǊŜƭŜǾŀƴǘ ǘƻ ƳŜƴǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŦǊŀǳŘ Ǌƛǎƪ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƴŜƎŀǘƛǾŜ ƛƳǇŀŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƴŜǘ ƛƴŎƻƳŜΣ 

business prospects, or financial condition. In the case of materialization of fraud risk, the Group would 

also have to create additional reserves to cover potential fraud losses.  

3.2.3 Liquidity risk  

/ŀǎƘ Ŧƭƻǿ ŜŦŦƛŎƛŜƴŎȅ ŀƴŘ ŎŀǎƘ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ƘƛƎƘƭȅ ǊŜƭŜǾŀƴǘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƎǊƻǿǘƘ ǊŀǘŜΦ /ƻƴǎƛŘŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ 

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎs model and the path of implementation of its expansion strategy in new countries, 

based on the best practices it has developed and tested, the Group is exposed to related liquidity risks. 

[ƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ Ǌƛǎƪ ŀǊƛǎŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ ŀƴ ƛƴǎǘƛǘǳǘƛƻƴΩǎ ƛƴŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ƳŜŜǘ ōƻǘƘ expected and unexpected current and 

future obligations as and when they fall due, without incurring significant losses. 

Lack of liquidity may occur in numerous scenarios, including but not limited to two specific potential 

risk scenarios: the first concerns the situation of unexpected increase in rates of delinquencies or 

ŘŜŦŀǳƭǘǎ ƻƴ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŘǳŜ ǘƻ ǎŜǊƛƻǳǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǇǊƻōƭŜƳǎ ŦǊƻƳ ŀ ǎŜƎƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎΦ 

¢ƘŜ ǎŜŎƻƴŘ ƛǎ ŎƻƴƴŜŎǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǿǘƘ ƻŦ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ƛƴ ƴŜǿ ŎƻǳƴǘǊƛŜǎΦ bŜǿ ŎƻǳƴǘǊƛŜǎΩ ōusinesses are 

incapable of financing themselves at the very beginning. Consequently, the Group has to provide the 

liquidity required for the new business. If the Group is unable to meet such cash requirements, its 

growth in new markets may be adversely affected. Decreasing cash inflows from existing operations, 

and/or increasing cash outflows associated with new business, could result in material adverse effects 

ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎǎΣ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ ƻŦ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΣ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǎǇŜŎǘǎΦ 

3.2.4 Risk of limi ted access to capital  

The Group depends on external funding from credit and capital markets in order to support its fast 

growth and rapid geographic expansion. If such external funds are not available under affordable terms, 

as a possible result of disturbances in the banking and financial sector, the Group could be negatively 

affected by an increased cost of capital. A limited availability of credit and limitations in access to 

financial and capital markets, combined with rising credit costs, may slow down, deteriorate, or even 

prevent the growth and further expansion of the Group entirely. The limitations may undermine the 

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǇƻǘŜƴǘƛŀƭ ǘƻ ǊŜƳŀƛƴ ǇǊƻŦƛǘŀōƭŜΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ŀŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

business, financial standing, results of operations and prospects. 
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3.2.5 Credit loss risk  

The Group is a financing party to bilateral microloan and customer credit product agreements and 

ǘƘŜǊŜŦƻǊŜ Ƴŀȅ ōŜ ŜȄǇƻǎŜŘ ǘƻ ŦƭǳŎǘǳŀǘƛƴƎ ǉǳŀƭƛǘȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎΩ ŎǊŜŘƛǘǿƻǊǘƘƛƴŜǎǎ ŀƴŘ ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘŜŘ 

risks. The Group's customers generally have a higher frequency of delinquencies, higher risk of non-

payment and, ultimately higher credit losses than consumers who are generally served by more 

ǘǊŀŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǊǎΦ ¢ƘŜ ǿƻǊǎŜƴƛƴƎ ǉǳŀƭƛǘȅ ƻŦ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎΩ ŎǊŜŘƛǘǿƻǊǘƘƛƴŜǎǎ Ƴŀȅ materialize when the 

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ Ŧŀƛƭ ǘƻ Ǉŀȅ ǘƘŜƛǊ ƳƛŎǊƻƭƻŀƴ ŀƴŘ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ǇǊƻŘǳŎǘǎ ŀǎ ŀ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ ŘŜǘŜǊƛƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ 

ƛƴ ǘƘŜƛǊ ƻǿƴ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎΦ ! ǇƻƻǊ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ ƳŀȅΣ ƛƴ ǘǳǊƴΣ 

adversely influence the financial and economic condition of the Group due to a growing rate of irregular 

ǊŜŎŜƛǾŀōƭŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘŜŘ ōŀƭŀƴŎŜ ǎƘŜŜǘ ǊŜǎǳƭǘƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎΩ ƛƴŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ŦǳƭŦƛƭ 

their liabilities towards the Group under microloan and customer credit product agreements, as well as 

due to increasing past-due payments and defaults in the customer base. Moreover, the negative 

ǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ Ƴŀȅ ŎŀǳǎŜ ƭƻǎǎŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǎƘƻǊǘŦŀƭƭǎ ƻŦ ŎŀǎƘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇ ŀƴŘ 

ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƛƴ ŀƴ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ financial costs caused by accruing provisions for deteriorating 

financial revenues. The credit loss risk may increase if the microloans portfolio is not adequately 

diversified (country and social status diversification) and if the customer base is fairly uniform. In such a 

ǎƛǘǳŀǘƛƻƴΣ ŀ ŘŜǘŜǊƛƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ ƻǊ ŀƴ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ǎƭƻǿŘƻǿƴ ǿƻǳƭŘ ƛƳǇŀŎǘ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

large customer base in the same way. 

To mitigate and control the above mentioned credit risks, the Group operates according to established 

credit risk policies, uses computer-aided loan approval algorithms, and follows regularly reviewed 

ethical and good crediting principles. In addition, the Group uses its own software-based scoring 

procedure to rate the creditworthiness of new and existing customers. The software-based scoring 

procedure combines the Group's historical data from all markets it operates in with current information 

regarding the specific market and customer. Although the Group's credit policies and software-based 

scoring procedure are refined and updated on an on-going basis, they may prove insufficient. In a 

rapidly changing economic environment there might arise a situation where current policies and 

ǇǊƻŎŜŘǳǊŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƴƻǘ ǎǳŦŦƛŎƛŜƴǘ ƻǊ ŀǊŜ ǎǳōƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ ŀ ǇǊƻŎŜŘǳǊŀƭ ΨǘƛƳŜ ƭŀƎΩΦ ! Ǉotential deterioration of 

economic conditions or an economic slowdown may additionally exacerbate the credit risk. As a result, 

the Group might be vulnerable to credit loss risks and deterioration in portfolio quality. Insufficient risk 

management procedurŜǎ ƳƛƎƘǘ ŀƭǎƻ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ŀŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻǾŜǊŀƭƭ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀƴŘ 

operational results or prospects. 

3.2.6 Risk of unsuccessful strategy implementation  

There can be no assurance that the Group strategy will be successfully implemented. One of the key 

elements of this strategy is the geographical expansion of the business through the setting up of new 

business units in different jurisdictions. The pace of the success of this strategy is largely contingent 

upon the ability of the Group to raise needed funds. 

In some countries, certain consumer loan products of the Group may not be offered in the same 

manner as in other countries due to more restrictive bank and consumer regulation. For instance, there 

are countries in which consumers cannot instantly access the Group's mobile consumer loan products. 

Under these circumstances, the business success of the Group depends on its ability to offer consumers 

alternative and equally attractive products. Failure to offer such alternative products may result in 

lower revenues of the Group in respective markets. 

In the past, the Group has expanded its product portfolio, which now consists of traditional microloans, 

instalment loans (so called PLUS Loans), a Credit Limit product, a online market place for investments in 
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consumer loans (Ferratum P2P) as well as small business loans (Ferratum Business) and invested in 

further development of scoring capabilities by founding a dedicated company (Personal Big Data Oy) 

and acquiring software that enables the analysis of a broad set of customer data. Product variations 

provide the Group with a diversified product portfolio. Nonetheless, the launch of new products ς even 

when based on the same processes, systems, and scoring as the existing products ς involves additional 

investments and carries the risk of product failure or implementation delays. Intensified investment 

costs and product introduction failure or delays may have a material adverse effect on the Group's 

business, financial condition, or results of operations. 

In addition, in 2015 the Group started its drive to become a leading mobile bank. In this regard, the 

Group has already and is further making significant investments into its internal operational structure 

and production offerings, including a mobile banking platform, its deposit taking operations, as well as 

investments, enhancements and modifications to its anti-money laundering risk, foreign exchange risk, 

liquidity risk, operational risk and fraud risk systems and processes. Should the Group be unsuccessful 

to establish itself as a mobile bank or if this strategy is delayed or more costly than expected, this could 

jeopardize return on investments, reduce profitability, lead to lost investments and thus could have a 

material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, or results of operations.  

Organic growth, product variations, and geographical expansion are core components of the Group's 

growth strategy. However, growth through acquisitions (through the acquisition of a competing 

business or a loan portfolio or customer database) may also comprise part of the Group's strategy. Such 

acquisitions are accompanied by respective transactional risks. Any future acquisition may require 

significant financial resources (including cash). If the Group experiences any difficulties in integrating 

acquired operations into its business, the Group may incur higher than expected costs and may not 

realize all the benefits of such acquisitions. This could lead to adverse accounting and financial 

consequences, such as the need to write down acquired assets, which may have a material adverse 

effect on the Group's business prospects, financial condition or results of operations. 

3.2.7 Risk of losing diversification ability  

The international business operations of the Group allow it to mitigate the risk of lack of microloan 

portfolio diversification. Nonetheless, several countries that the Group operates in, such as the 

Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Poland, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland Sweden or Poland, 

create more revenues than others and, simultaneously, are more important and more risky from a 

diversification point of view. As a result, the Group is exposed to country-specific risks with respect to 

such national markets. It is noteworthy that the microloan portfolio is built on microloans lent to 

customers from different social backgrounds. The different socio-ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ΨŎƭǳǎǘŜǊǎΩ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

customers allow it to keep the microloan portfolio diversified. If the Guarantor would not be able to 

successfully dƛǾŜǊǎƛŦȅ ƛǘǎ ƳƛŎǊƻƭƻŀƴ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻΣ ǘƘŜƴ ƛǘ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ŀŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

3.2.8 Regulatory risk concerning Group business and strategy  

Operating in many different countries with different regulations requires managing the legal 

environment challenges and rules in varied fields, amongst which the most important are: (i) licence 

requirement regulations, (ii) maximum interest rate regulations, (iii) distance contracts regulations, and 

(iv) consumer protection requirement regulations. Such a legal environment brings along many legal 

risks, including, but not limited to: 
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The legal requirements for opening business in new countries vary significantly: (i) some jurisdictions 

have no registration / licence requirement and (ii) some jurisdictions have strict licensing requirements 

(e.g. banking licence). Entering new countries presents challenging legal requirements and rules on a 

ƭƻŎŀƭ ƭŜǾŜƭΦ CŀƛƭǳǊŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƭŜƎŀƭ ŎƘŜŎƪΣ ǿƘŜǘƘŜǊ ǎystemic or based on merit, in new countries 

Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ŀŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎΣ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ ƻŦ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ 

and prospects. 

The EU Consumer Credit Directive (2008/48/EC) was adopted in April 2008 and entered into force in 

May 2008. The Member States were obliged to harmonise their legislation by 12 May 2010. Most of the 

EU Member States have already implemented the Directive. The main points of the Directive are: 

¶ The Directive provides a list of information that the consumer shall receive from the creditor 

before entering into a credit agreement and the same information shall be stated in the credit 

agreement; 

¶ This pre-contractual information shall be presented to the consumer by filling the Standard 

European Consumer Credit Information form; 

¶ Consumer credit advertisements shall state the annual percentage rate of the loan; 

¶ The mandatory pre-contractual information shall be forwarded to the consumer immediately after 

concluding the loan contract; 

¶ A right of withdrawal, exercisable within 14 calendar days; 

¶ If the consumer uses the right of withdrawal, the creditor may not require other charges from the 

consumer, except for the interest for the period the loan amount was used by the consumer. 

To serve the purposes of consumer protection and credit transparency, the EU Consumer Credit 

Directive mandates disclosure of a standardized annual percentage rate (APR) figure for all consumer 

credit products. Due to the nature of the Group's business model, whereby in most countries where the 

Group operates, small loan amounts are offered for very short periods of time, the extrapolated APRs 

may appear to be far higher than standard market APRs offered by other consumer credit companies 

and may therefore create an incorrect impression of the actual business relationship between the 

Group and its customers. The disclosure of high APRs may thus mislead consumers, consumer 

protection organizations, courts, or regulatory agencies in the belief that the Group is in violation of EU 

or local consumer protection and consumer credit regulations, specifically regarding interest rate caps. 

It is thus possible that legal or regulatory challenges may be brought against the Group regarding 

noncompliance with existing, amended, or new consumer protection or consumer credit laws. Adverse 

judgments based on such findings could result in legal claims and reputational damage against the 

Group. In addition, regulatory authorities have in recent times increased their inquiries as to 

compliance with European and local consumer protection laws, which, if this intensifies, could further 

increase the burden on the Group's compliance, legal and business departments managing 

communication with authorities. 

To mitigate the possible risks arising from legislative changes at EU level, the Group has adjusted its 

business activities in accordance with the requirements of the Directive and with the local legislative 

requirements. Nevertheless, unexpected changes with regard to the legislation at EU level or country-

level Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ŀŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎΣ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ ƻŦ 

operations and prospects. 
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3.2.9 Compliance with consumer protection laws and other local legal requirements  

Whilst the Group takes intensive measures to inform itself about the legal environment and 

requirements in the jurisdictions it operates in, it cannot be excluded that the services the Group offers 

are held to be in violation of local legal requirements, such as maximum interest rate provisions or 

transparency requirements, by local courts. Adverse judgements based on such findings could lead to 

the Group being exposed to damage claims and reputational damage. Further, existing microloan 

agreements might be held null and void. As a consequence, the Group may be limited from offering its 

microloan business successfully in certain jurisdictions or may be forced to terminate its business in 

certain jurisdictions. This could have material adverse impacts on the financial and market position of 

the Guarantor. 

3.2.10The Group may lose required licences to operate the Group's mobile consumer loan 

business or face challenges to renew such licences.  

The local financial authorities of some jurisdictions additionally require licenses to operate a consumer 

loan business. There can be no assurance that, where a license is required, the Group will in all 

scenarios be able to maintain its licenses on commercially favourable terms or at all. Accordingly, there 

is a risk of delay in obtaining the required licenses, which may lead to operational delays. The loss of a 

license or such operational delays may in turn have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, 

financial condition, or results of operations. 

3.2.11 Risks connected with licence and agreements required for running microloans busi ness 

Changes to local legislation require the Group's respective local subsidiaries to adapt operations to 

ensure compliance with such changes. Failure to timely implement procedures that comply with new 

rules may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, or results of 

operations. While the Group takes comprehensive measures to comply with the legal framework and 

specific local regulatory requirements of each jurisdiction, it remains possible that local courts, 

regulatory ŀƎŜƴŎƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǳǇŜǊǾƛǎƻǊȅ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘƛŜǎΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƘƻƳŜ ŎƻǳƴǘǊȅ 

regulator FIN-FSA, issue new regulations or interpretations or find the Group's services to be in violation 

of local or EU-wide legal requirements such as license requirements, maximum interest rate provisions, 

transparency requirements or other regulatory requirements. For instance, there is no assurance that 

the FIN-FSA would not in the future be of the view that or issue an interpretation to the effect that the 

DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƻperations would be considered to require an authorisation or licence in Finland which the 

Group does not currently hold. In such case, the Company or the Group would need either to apply for 

such authorisation or license or to restructure the business in such manner that it is in compliance with 

the new requirements. Adverse judgments based on such findings or new regulations or interpretations 

could result in legal claims, administrative sanctions and reputational damage against the Group, need 

for restructuring or new licensing of the Group or alterations to the business carried out by the Group. 

Further, existing loan agreements might be held null and void by local courts. As a consequence, the 

Group may be restricted in successfully offering its services in certain jurisdictions or may be forced to 

terminate its business in certain jurisdictions. This could have material adverse impacts on the financial 

and market position of the Group. 

In the past, the Group has adapted its business model and product offerings in several countries as a 

result of regulatory changes. Although the Group strives to adapt its business model and products to all 

changes in the regulatory requirements in the various countries it operates in, future regulatory 

changes may be too burdensome to comply with or may result in its business model in a particular 
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jurisdiction becoming unprofitable. Such developments could have a material adverse impact on the 

financial and market position of the Group. 

3.2.12 Risk connected to changes in nationa l law in countries of business operations of the Group  

Crucial legislative changes in a specific country shall effect the business operations of the Group 

subsidiary. Such changes can include the introduction of extremely restrictive maximum interest rate 

caps and prohibitive requirements on the conclusion of distance contracts, creating the obligation to 

ŎƻƴŎƭǳŘŜ ŀƭƭ ŎƻƴǎǳƳŜǊ ŀƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘǎ ΨŦŀŎŜ-to-ŦŀŎŜΩΦ ! ŦŀƛƭǳǊŜ ƛƴ ǳǇŘŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƭŜƎŀƭ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ 

and reorganizing business activities due to changes in the legal environment may have a material 

ŀŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎΣ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ ƻŦ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǎǇŜŎǘǎΦ  

The Group has operations in the UK. On 23 June 2016, a referendum on the continued membership of 

the UK in the European Union resulted in a majority for leaving the European Union. While the Group 

operates under a local British license in the UK and does not expect any material impact on its operating 

business in the UK, the exit of the UK from the European Union may, under certain circumstances, still 

require changes to the Group's business model in the UK or increased management attention. 

3.2.13 Risk of compliance procedure initiated by a Local Authority  

The local authorities are entitled to screen and monitor the business activities of the Group in a specific 

country. In case there are any suspicions on behalf of the local authority, the Group subsidiary is usually 

required to provide additional information about its activities and procedures. It is possible for the local 

authority to suspend the business of the Group subsidiary for further clarification.  Undergoing such 

ǇǊƻŎŜŘǳǊŜǎ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ŀŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎΣ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ ƻŦ 

operations and prospects. 

3.2.14 Reputation risk  

The Group is exposed to the risk of severe damage of its reputation based on unfavourable media 

coverage or measures taken by consumer protection bodies. The Group has a strong commitment to 

ethical standards as exhibited by leading the development of self-regulation (e.g. the Finnish Micro 

Loan Association and similar organisations in other countries of operation). An inaccurate or unjustified 

ƴŜƎŀǘƛǾŜ ǇŜǊŎŜǇǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ ōŜƘŀǾƛƻǳǊ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŘǳǎǘǊȅ ŀǎ ŀ ǿƘƻƭŜ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ 

adverse effect on tƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎΣ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ ƻŦ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǎǇŜŎǘǎΦ  

3.2.15 Competition risk  

The Guarantor faces increasing competition in all countries of its operations. The Group remains 

competitive due to its superior operational efficiency and fine-tuned, constantly developing processes. 

The highest risk of competition is experienced in mature markets where there is high saturation. In the 

past, intensive competition has pushed prices downward in some markets, which, if competition further 

intensifies, could erode the profit margins and the net income of the Group. The Group believes that 

the consumer loan market may become even more competitive as the industry consolidates. Some of 

the Group's competitors may have larger and more established customer base and substantially greater 

financial, marketing and other resources than the Group has. As a result, the Group could lose market 

share and its revenues could decline, thereby affecting the Group's ability to generate sufficient cash 

flow to fund expansion of its operations and to service its indebtedness. ! ŘŜǘŜǊƛƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ 

Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ ŀƭƭ ŎƻǳƴǘǊƛŜǎ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ŀŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣ 

financial standing, results of operations and prospects.  
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3.2.16 Risk relating to rapid growth and internalisation  

Fast growth in microloan volumes in current countries of operation and the establishment of operations 

in new market areas require on-going development of monitoring and control systems within the 

Group. The Group implements high quality business and management processes and standards in new 

countries of operations. "Best practices" are constantly being developed and implemented into 

operative day-to-day business. Nonetheless, due to its level of growth and future global presence, the 

Guarantor is exposed to certain risks related to structuring and managing a global company. Diminished 

operational standards at the Group level or failures to implement properly procedures in new countries 

ƻŦ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ŀŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣ financial standing, results of 

operations and prospects. 

3.2.17The Group's Maltese banking subsidiary and its German banking subsidiary may fail to 

comply with all regulations it is subject to and such failures could materially impact its 

operations and strateg y. 

The Group operates in several markets making use of Ferratum Bank plc's EU credit institution license 

issued in September 2012 by the Malta Financial Services Authority, namely Slovakia, Poland, Estonia, 

Latvia, Germany, Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Norway, France, Sweden, Croatia and Spain. This EU 

banking licence is required or may be required to conduct business in a number of existing and 

potential future markets. Ferratum Bank plc's banking license also provides the Group with the benefits 

of increased levels of trustworthiness vis-à-vis its customers, access to pertinent databases to further 

enhance scoring models, and funding options linked to accepting deposits to support profit growth. 

However, under Maltese law, the credit institution license may be revoked or restricted at any time by 

the Malta Financial Services Authority ("MFSA") for a variety of reasons including, but not limited to, 

the Group's non-compliance with existing or new regulatory requirements. Such a restriction or 

revocation of the credit institution license would require the Group to comply with the existing or new 

regulatory requirements of the MFSA or obtain a banking license from the relevant regulatory authority 

of another EU Member State.  

The MFSA will have to be informed in case a new shareholder accumulates a shareholding of 5% or 

more; whilst a new shareholder attaining a shareholding level of 10% or more will have to be approved 

by the MFSA so that the Group's Maltese banking subsidiary remains in compliance with Maltese laws 

and regulations.  

These factors could impair the Group's swift entry into new European markets and/or result in 

operational delays that could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial 

condition, or results of operations. 

3.2.18 Market risk  

The Group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 

a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open 

positions in interest rate and currency products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market 

movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates and 

foreign exchange rates. 

3.2.19 Interest rate risk  

Changes to interest rates and parameters of financial markets have affected and will continue to affect 

the Group. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including international and domestic 

ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ŀƴŘ ǇƻƭƛǘƛŎŀƭ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎΣ ŀƴŘ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŦŀŎǘƻǊǎ ōŜȅƻƴŘ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭΦ CƭǳŎǘǳŀǘions in 
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interest rates may result in increases to financial costs which may not always be covered by increases in 

financial revenues from microloan agreements. In particular, the Group is exposed to the interest rate 

risk resulting from microloan agreements being based on fixed costs of loaned money (including 

floating charges based on interest rate) and external financing being partly based on floating interest 

rates. Differences between fixed and floating financial charges create a risk of wider spreads between 

financial (microloan) revenues and financial (borrowed money) costs which, if negative for the Group, 

may lead to losses on financial activity. Increased costs of borrowings have a material impact on the 

cost base of the Group, the impact of which is difficult to offset or partially transfer to customers 

through increased service costs. 

¢ƘŜ ǊƛǎŜ ƻŦ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜǎ Ƴŀȅ ŜȄǇƻǎŜ ǘƘŜ DǳŀǊŀƴǘƻǊΩǎ DǊƻǳǇ ǘƻ ŀƴ ŜǊƻǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ƳŀǊƎƛƴǎΣ ōŜŎŀǳǎŜ ǘƘŜ 

Group will be required to commit a greater proportion of its revenues to pay interest expenses on its 

floating-rate debt and on any new debt or other market-rate security that the Group may issue. There 

can be no assurance that the Group will not be affected by interest rate changes in the future which 

may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial results, results of operations and 

prospects. 

3.2.20 Foreign exchange risk  

¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ƛǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘŜŘ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀǘƛƻƴŀƭƭȅ ŀƴŘΣ ǘƘŜǊŜōȅΣ ŜȄǇƻǎŜŘ ǘƻ ŦƭǳŎǘǳŀǘƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ 

rates due to the collection of microloan instalments in various currencies. Fluctuations of exchange 

ǊŀǘŜǎ ŀǊŜ ŎŀǳǎŜŘ ōȅ ŜǾŜƴǘǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŀǊŜ ōŜȅƻƴŘ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭΦ !ŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ǊŀǘŜ 

fluctuations against the Euro currency (the functional currency of the Group) could have a material 

adverse ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎΣ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ ƻŦ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǎǇŜŎǘǎΦ  

3.2.21 IT or external telecommunication infrastructure risks  

L¢ ǎȅǎǘŜƳǎ ŀǊŜ ŀƴ ŜǎǎŜƴǘƛŀƭ ǇŀǊǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ŘǳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƘƛƎƘ ƭŜǾŜƭ ƻŦ 

automation in different processes and controls. The Group has acquired industry leading IT 

professionals for improvements to current systems, development of new systems, and the maintenance 

ƻŦ ŜȄƛǎǘƛƴƎ ǎȅǎǘŜƳǎΦ ¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƭƻŀƴ ƘŀƴŘƭƛƴƎ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ ƛǎ ōǳƛƭǘ "in-house", which provides total control 

and autonomy in conducting the day-to-day business. Due to the open nature of the Internet, all web-

based services are inherently subject to risks such as online theft through inappropriate use of access 

codes, user IDs, username, PIN, passwords, virus attacks, hacking, unauthorised access, and fraudulent 

transactions. The Group has implemented the industry standard necessary security practices and 

measures to mitigate each of these risks. 

The online applications have two audit logs: 

¶ Technical log: Contains all the necessary technical failure data and is stored in the application 

server log file. The log can be "cleaned up". 

¶ ¢ǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴ ŀǳŘƛǘ ƭƻƎΥ /ƻƴǘŀƛƴǎ ŀƭƭ ǘƘŜ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ ƳŀŘŜ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭΣ 

including information allowing the identification of all operations performed by the customer in the 

ƻƴƭƛƴŜ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊΩǎ ǳƴƛǉǳŜ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜǊΣ ŀƴŘ ŀ ǘƛƳŜǎǘŀƳǇ ƻŦ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴΦ 

The online applications are tested against well-known attacks (XSS, SQL injection etc.).  

A security audit covering all IT systems is performed by an independent third party specialist. Thus, a 

malfunction in IT systems or a break in operations due to IT updates means potentially severe exposure 

of the Group to IT risk. A deterioration ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ L¢ ǎȅǎǘŜƳǎ ŀƴŘ ǎƻŦǘǿŀǊŜ ƻǊ ŀ ŦŀƛƭǳǊŜ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǘŜŎǘ ƛǘǎ 

data against any cyber-ŀǘǘŀŎƪ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ŀŘǾŜǊǎŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ 
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standing, results of operations and prospects. Additional hosting and back-up solutions have been put 

in place. Production systems have been transferred from AWS to COLT, which is one of the leading 

banking systems hosting provider.  

The Group relies on telecommunications, the internet, as well as mobile and online banking services 

worldwide in order to conduct its operations and offer its services to customers. To access the Group's 

online consumer loan portals, the Group's customers need to have an internet access or a mobile data 

connection. Disruption of such or similar telecommunications and internet services in the respective 

countries of operation due to equipment or infrastructure failures, strikes, piracy, terrorism, weather-

related problems, or other events, could temporarily impair the Group's ability to supply its product 

portfolio to its customers, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, 

financial condition, or results of operations. 

3.2.22 Risk relating to the EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive  

The EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (the "BRRD" or "the directive"), which sets common 

rules across the EU for dealing with failing banks and large investment firms, came into force on 1 

January 2015. The BRRD lays out a comprehensive set of measures that ensure that both banks and 

authorities make adequate preparation for crises, by empowering national authorities to intervene in 

troubled institutions at a sufficiently early stage to address developing problems, and to take rapid and 

effective action when bank failure cannot be avoided. 

The directive also establishes a bail-in system. In Malta, bail-in was immediately applicable to junior 

debt holders as from 1 January 2015 and applicable to senior debt holders as from 1 January 2016. The 

purpose of the bail-in system is to stabilise a failing bank so that its essential services can continue, 

without the need for bail-out by public funds. The tool enables authorities to recapitalise a failing bank 

through the write-down of liabilities and/or their conversion to equity so that the bank can continue as 

a going concern, giving authorities time to reorganise the bank or wind down parts of its business in an 

orderly manner. In the process, directors and senior management may be removed or replaced if those 

persons are found unfit to perform their duties. 

 

The application of the bail-in system requires the prior evaluation as to whether certain conditions are 

met. In particular, the following pre-requisites would need to be satisfied: 

(a) a determination by the competent authority or Resolution Authority that a bank is failing or is likely 

to fail; 

(b) no reasonable prospect that any alternative private sector measures or supervisory action would 

prevent the failure of the bank within a reasonable timeframe; and  

(c) a bail-in is necessary in the public interest. 

Bail-in would apply to any liabilities of Ferratum Bank not backed by assets or collateral. It would not 

apply to deposits protected by a deposit guarantee scheme, short-term inter-bank lending or claims of 

clearing houses and payment and settlement systems with a remaining maturity of seven days, client 

assets, or liabilities such as salaries, pensions, or taxes. 



 

 
 
 

Base Prospectus of Ferratum Bank p.l.c. | 20 
 

After shares and other similar instruments, bail-in will first, if necessary, impose losses evenly on 

holders of subordinated debt and then evenly on senior debt-holders. Deposits from SMEs and natural 

persons, including those in excess of EUR100,000, will be preferred to senior creditors. 

The tool has become applicable as of 1 January 2015 to all outstanding and newly issued debt of 

Ferratum Bank. Accordingly, in the event that Ferratum Bank meets the trigger conditions for entry into 

resolution, any portion of the Bonds, including both principal and accrued interest, that will not be 

backed by collateral could become subject to a write down or otherwise converted to equity as 

determined by the Resolution Authority. The write-down of liabilities and/or their conversion to equity 

ǿƛƭƭ ōŜ ōŜȅƻƴŘ ǘƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭΦ ¢ƘŜ ǿǊƛǘŜ-down or conversion would follow the ordinary allocation 

of losses and ranking in insolvency. Equity has to absorb losses in full before any debt claim is subject to 

write-down or conversion. The determination by the Resolution Authority shall not constitute an event 

of default and bondholders will not have any further claims in respect of any amount so written off, 

converted to equity or otherwise applied to absorb losses. As a result, bondholders may lose all or part 

of their investment. 

¢ƘŜ ǘŜǊƳ ΨwŜǎƻƭǳǘƛƻƴ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅΩΣ ŀǎ ǳǘƛƭƛǎŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘƛǎ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴΣ ǊŜŦŜǊǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǇǳōƭƛŎ ŀŘministrative authority 

appointed within the jurisdiction of Malta and empowered to apply the resolution tools and exercise 

the resolution powers described in the BRRD. The resolution authority in Malta is the Malta Financial 

Services Authority.  

3.2.23 Human resources risk  

The Group's activities depend on its employees.  

9ƳǇƭƻȅŜŜǎΩ ŜȄǇŜǊǘ ƪƴƻǿƭŜŘƎŜ ƻŦ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎŜǎ ŀƴŘ ƛǎǎǳŜǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŀǊŜŀǎ ƻŦ ǎǇŜŎƛŀƭƛȊŀǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ 

a critical factor in the efficiency of the Guarantor's business operations. The Guarantor takes various 

ŀǇǇǊƻŀŎƘŜǎ ǘƻ ƳƛǘƛƎŀǘŜ ǘƘŜ Ǌƛǎƪ ƻŦ ƭƻǎƛƴƎ ǘƘƛǎ ŜȄǇŜǊǘƛǎŜ ŀƴŘ ǘƻ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜ ƛǘǎ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜǎΩ ƭƻȅŀƭǘȅ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ 

Group, including attractive compensation models, challenging jobs and international career options. 

However, it cannot be ruled out that the Group may not be able to attract and retain suitable personnel 

and thus may not be able to pursue its business operations as planned. 

The Group is especially dependent on the expert knowledge of its CEO and majority shareholder Jorma 

Jokela as well as key management members in IT, legal, operational, financial as well as risk and analysis 

positions. If any of the key managers or other critical employees were to leave the Group or join a 

competitor, the Group may be unable to attract and retain suitable replacements. As a result, the 

Group may be unable to pursue its business operations as planned and this may have a material 

adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, or result of operations.  

3.2.24 The Group may incur property, casualty or o ther losses not covered by insurance  

The Group considers its insurance coverage to conform to market practice for companies in the mobile 

consumer loan market. However, insurance fully covering political risks and many other risks relating to 

the Group's business is not generally available to the Group or to other companies in the industry. No 

assurance can be given that any insurance policies will continue to be available, or that they will be 

available at economically feasible premiums. 

The actual losses suffered by the Group may exceed the Group's insurance coverage and would be 

subject to limitations and excesses, which could be material. The realization of one or more damaging 

event for which the Group has no or insufficient insurance coverage may have a material adverse effect 

on the Group's business, financial condition, or results of operations. 
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3.2.25 The nature of the Group's business as a provider of mobile consumer loans may be 

misunderstood by customers, consumer protection organizations and other peop le, which 

may have an adverse effect on our reputation.  

The Group cannot rule out the possibility that consumers, consumer protection organizations, or 

journalists misunderstand the nature or scope of the Group's products, which may result in reviews, 

articles, or complaints regarding the Group, the Group's products, or the industry. Such legal claims and 

negative publicity may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, reputational standing, 

financial condition, or results of operation. 

3.2.26 A reduction in demand for the Group's products, and failure by the Group to develop 

innovative and attractive products, could adversely affect the Group's business and results 

of operations.  

About a third of the Group's revenues are generated through its mobile microloan product, while the 

remainder is generated by the Group's more recently introduced products such the Credit Limit and 

PLUS Loan products. The demand for a particular product the Group offers may be reduced due to a 

variety of factors, such as regulatory restrictions that decrease customer access to particular products, 

the availability of competing products, changes in customers' preferences or financial conditions. 

Furthermore, any changes in economic factors that adversely affect consumer purchase behaviour and 

employment could reduce the volume or type of loan products the Group provides and have an adverse 

effect on the Group's revenues and result of operations. Should the Group fail to adapt to significant 

changes in consumers' demand for, or access to, the microloan products, the Group's revenues could 

decrease significantly and operations could be harmed. Each modification, new products and 

alternative method of conducting business is subject to risk and uncertainty and requires significant 

investment in time and capital, including additional marketing expenses, legal costs and other 

incremental start-up costs. Even if the Group does make changes to existing products or introduce new 

products to meet customer demand, customers may resist or may reject such products. 

A significant part of the Group's revenues stems from new customers as well as from new products 

introduced in recent years to complement the Group's core microloan product such as its PLUS Loans, 

its Credit Limit product and the small business loans. Additionally, the Group's strategy is to continue to 

evolve its product offerings to other bank products and to further establish itself as a mobile bank. If 

the Group is not able to further diversify and expand its product portfolio or if it fails to establish itself 

as a mobile bank, expand its customer base or reach enough deposits volume from customers and 

operate its planned common mobile bank application, this could have a material adverse effect on the 

Group's business, financial condition, or results of operations. 

The Group's future growth may depend on its ability to foresee the direction of the commercial and 

technological development of production processes and technologies in all of its key markets. Future 

growth and the Group's ability to reach its innovation targets will also depend upon the Group's ability 

to successfully develop new and improved consumer loan products and services, using its existing or 

new technological and servicing capabilities, and to successfully market the products in changing 

economic environments. 

There is no assurance that the Group will be successful in continuing to meet its customers' needs 

through innovation or in developing new products and/or technologies, or that, if developed, any such 

new products will be accepted by the Group's customers. The Group may not be able to recover 

investments that it has made in order to develop these new products or processes, and may not have 

sufficient resources to keep pace with technological developments. The failure of the Group to keep 
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pace with the evolving technological innovations in its markets and adequately predict customer 

preferences could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, product portfolio, financial 

condition, or results of operations. 

3.2.27 The Group is subject to accounting and management risk.  

Preparation of the Group's financial statements requires the Group's management to make estimates, 

assumptions, and forecasts regarding the future. These estimates, assumptions, and forecasts may be 

inaccurate and are inherently subject to uncertainties. Future developments may deviate significantly 

from the assumptions made if changes occur in the business environment and/or business operations. 

Furthermore, the Group's management is required to use its judgement in the application of the 

accounting principles in the preparation of the financial statements. Group companies and subsidiaries 

vary by their size and they are located in different parts of the world. The nature of the Group's global 

operations involves arrangements that often require the judgement of the Group's management in the 

application of accounting policies. Inadvertent errors in accounting and/or management decisions could 

have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, or results of operations.  

3.2.28 The Group is subject to a diverse set of tax regimes in the jurisdictions it operates in and 

changes in such tax regimes could materially impact its business, financial condition, or 

results of opera tions.  

The Group operates in 23 different countries with diverse sets of tax regimes and operates its banking 

subsidiary in Malta subject to Maltese tax law. Corporate income tax, value added tax or sales taxes and 

other taxes levied upon on the Group's business are subject to change and can be increased, changed 

or completely restructured at any time. While the Group monitors tax changes consistently and is from 

time to time subject to tax audits, the Group has not faced any significant tax challenges or tax disputes 

with tax authorities in the past three years. Changes to local tax regimes or challenges to the current tax 

structures of the Group's business could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, 

financial condition, or results of operations. 

3.2.29 Certain tax positions taken by the Group requires the judgment of management and could 

turn to be inefficient or challenged by tax authorities.  

The Group's main tax risks are related to changes to or possible erroneous interpretations of tax 

legislation. Such changes or erroneous interpretations could lead to tax increases or other financial 

losses. Realization of such risks might have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial 

condition, or results of operations. 

It is possible that the Group has made interpretations on the tax provisions that differ from those of the 

tax authorities in the various countries in which the Group operates, and that as a result, the tax 

authorities will impose taxes, tax rate increases, administrative penalties, or other consequences on the 

Group's companies. This could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial 

condition, or results of operations. 

3.3 Risks relating to the Bonds  

An investment in the Bonds involves certain risks including, but not limited to, those described below: 

3.3.1 Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors  

Each potential investor in Bonds must determine the suitability of that investment in light of their own 

circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:  



 

 
 
 

Base Prospectus of Ferratum Bank p.l.c. | 23 
 

a.  have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Bonds, 

the merits and risks of investing in the Bonds as set out in this Base Prospectus;  

b.  have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of 

its particular financial situation and the investment(s) it is considering, an investment in the 

Bonds and the impact the Bonds will have on its overall investment portfolio; 

c.  have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in 

the Bonds, including cases in which the currency for principal or interest payments is 

different from the potential investor's currency;  

d.  understand thoroughly the terms of the Bonds and the content of this Base Prospectus; and  

e.  be able to evaluate, either alone or with the help of a financial adviser, possible scenarios 

for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to 

bear the applicable risks. 

3.3.2 Liquidity ris k 

There is currently no market for the Securities and, notwithstanding that the Securities shall be 

admitted to trading at the EWSM, the Stockholm Stock Exchange and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, 

there can be no assurance that any secondary market for the Securities will develop or, if a secondary 

market does develop, that it will provide investors with liquidity of investment or that it will continue 

for the life of the Securities. Consequently, an Investor must be prepared to hold such Securities for an 

indefinite period of time. Even if a secondary market for the Securities does develop, it is not possible 

to predict the prices at which the Securities will trade in such secondary market. Such prices may not 

accurately reflect the theoretical value of the Securities.  

The Issuer is under no obligation to make a market in the Securities. Therefore, investors may not be 

able to sell their Securities easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar 

investments that have a developed secondary market. No assurance is given that the Securities shall 

remain listed indefinitely. A lack of liquidity in the secondary market for the Securities may have a 

severely adverse effect on the market value of Securities and may result in investors: (i) being unable to 

sell their Securities on the secondary market, or (ii) receiving less than the initial price paid for the 

Securities. The liquidity of such Securities may also be affected by restrictions on offers and sales of 

such Securities in some jurisdictions. 

3.3.3 Interest rate risk  

The Bonds have a floating interest rate. Accordingly, investment in the Bonds involves the risk that 

market interest changes. 

3.3.4 Risk of early redemption of bonds  

The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer (in whole, but not in part) at a certain price (as 

defined in the Terms and Conditions) plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, (i) for 

reasons of taxation, as more fully described in the Terms and Conditions or (ii) and at any time at the 

make-whole price (as set out in the Terms and Conditions) and after 21 months from the Issue Date at a 

fixed price above the nominal amount of the bonds (staggered based on how many months have 

passed since the Issue Date). In the event that the Issuer exercises the option to redeem the Bonds, the 

Bondholders might suffer a lower than expected yield and might not be able to reinvest the funds on 

the same terms. 
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3.3.5 Changes in laws and regulations  

The Bonds are based on the requirements of the Listing Rules of the Listing Authority, the Companies 

Act, Commission Regulation EC No. 809/2004 of 29 April 2004 implementing Directive 2003/71/EC of 

the European Parliament and of the Council, and Commission Regulation (EU) 2016/301 of 30 

November 2015 supplementing Directive 2003/71/EC and amending Commission Regulation (EC) No 

809/2014, in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus. No assurance can be given as to the impact of 

any possible judicial decision or change in Maltese law or administrative practice after the date of the 

Base Prospectus. 

3.3.6 Creditworthiness of the Guarantor  

If, because of the materialisation of any of the risks regarding the Group, the likelihood that the 

Guarantor will be in a position to fully perform all obligations under the Bonds when they fall due 

decreases, the market value of the Bonds will suffer. In addition, even if the likelihood that the 

Guarantor will be in a position to fully perform all obligations under the Bonds when they fall due 

actually has not decreased, market participants could nevertheless have a different perception. In 

addition, the market participants' estimation of the creditworthiness of corporate debtors in general or 

debtors operating in the same business as the Group could adversely change.  

Further, a downgrade of the Guarantor's rating may ς irrespective of the actual creditworthiness of the 

Issuer ς lead to a decrease of the exchange price of the Bonds.  

If any of these risks occur, third parties would only be willing to purchase Bonds for a lower price than 

before the materialisation of said risk. Under these circumstances, the market value of the Bonds will 

decrease. 

3.3.7 Exchange Rate Risk 

An investor in the Bonds will bear the risk of any fluctuations in exchange rates between the currency of 

the denomination of the Bonds όǘƘŜ 9ǳǊƻ ΨϵΩύ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƻǊΩǎ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ ƻŦ ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜ ƛŦ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴǘΦ  

3.3.8  Changes in Circumstances 

No prediction can be made about the effect which any takeover or merger activity involving the Issuer, 

will have on the market price of the Bonds prevailing from time to time. If such changes take place they 

could have an adverse effect on the market price for the Bonds. 

3.3.9  Further Bond issues  

bƻ ǇǊŜŘƛŎǘƛƻƴ Ŏŀƴ ōŜ ƳŀŘŜ ŀōƻǳǘ ǘƘŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀƴȅ ŦǳǘǳǊŜ ƻŦŦŜǊƛƴƎǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ and 

Guarantor's securities will have on the market price of the Bonds prevailing from time to time. 

3.3.10 Credit Rating  

The Issuer has not sought, nor does it intend to seek, the credit rating of an independent rating agency 

and there has been no assessment by any independent rating agency of the Bonds.  

3.3.11 Market price risk  

The development of market prices of the Bonds depends on various factors, such as the policies of 

central banks, overall economic developments, inflation rates or the lack of or excess demand for the 

Bonds. The Bondholders are therefore exposed to the risk of an unfavourable development of market 

prices of their Bonds, which would materialise if the Bondholders sell the Bonds prior to the final 
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maturity. If a Bondholder decides to hold the Bonds until final maturity, the Bonds will be redeemed at 

the Redemption price. 

3.3.12 Taxation  

Potential investors should be aware that they may be required to pay stamp duty or other documentary 

taxes or charges in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Securities are 

acquired or transferred.  

Investors will not receive grossed-up amounts to compensate for any withholding or other tax or duties 

suffered.  

!ƴȅ ŎƘŀƴƎŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ όŀǎ ŀǇǇǊƻǇǊƛŀǘŜύ ǘŀȄ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ƻǊ ƛƴ ǘŀȄŀǘƛƻƴ ƭŜƎƛǎƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ aŀƭǘŀ ƻǊ ŀƴȅ ƻǘƘŜǊ ǘŀȄ 

ƧǳǊƛǎŘƛŎǘƛƻƴ ŎƻǳƭŘ ŀŦŦŜŎǘ ǘƘŜ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ƻƴŘǎ ƻǊ ŀŦŦŜŎǘ ǘƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ŀŎƘƛŜǾŜ its investment 

objective for the Securities or alter the post-tax returns to investors. If, on the occasion of a payment 

due in respect of the Securities, the Issuer would be required by law to withhold or account for tax or 

would suffer tax in respect of its income so that it would be unable to make payment of the full amount 

due, the Issuer will use all reasonable endeavours to arrange the substitution of a company 

incorporated in another jurisdiction as the principal obligor or to change its residence for taxation 

purposes or, to the extent permitted by law, change its domicile to another jurisdiction.  

Investors should be aware that tax regulations and their application by the relevant taxation authorities 

are subject to change, possibly with retrospective effect, and that this could negatively affect the value 

of the Securities. Any such change may cause the tax treatment of the Securities to change from the tax 

position at the time of purchase. It is not possible to predict the precise tax treatment which will apply 

at any given time and changes in tax law may give the Issuer the right to amend the Terms & Conditions 

of the Securities, or redeem the Securities.  

The US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, 2010 ("FATCA") is particularly complex and its application 

as regards the Issuer is uncertain at this time. Investors should consult their own tax advisers to obtain 

a more detailed explanation of FATCA and to learn how this legislation might affect each Investor in his 

or her particular circumstance, including how FATCA may apply to payments received under the 

Securities.  

3.4 Forward looking  

This Base Prospectus contains various "forward-looking statements" that reflect management's current 

view with respect to future events and anticipated financial and operational performance. Forward-

looking statements as a general matter are all statements other than statements as to historical fact or 

present facts or circumstances. The words "aim", "anticipate", "assume", "believe", "continue", "could", 

"estimate", "expect", "forecast", "guidance", "intend", "may", "plan", "potential", "predict" "projected", 

"risk", "should", "will" and similar expressions or the negatives of these expressions are intended to 

identify forward-looking statements. Other forward-looking statements can be identified in the context 

in which the statements are made. Forward-looking statements occur in a number of places in this 

document. 

Although the Issuer believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are 

reasonable, it can provide no assurances that such expectations will prove to be correct, and such 

statements are not guarantees of future performance because they are based on numerous 

assumptions. Any forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which it is made and the 
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Issuer undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether 

as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, unless as required by law or regulation. 
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4  General description of the programme  

¦ƴŘŜǊ ǘƘƛǎ ϵ60,000,000 Bond Issuance Programme, the Issuer may issue Bonds from time to time. The 
maximum aggregate principal amount of the Bonds from time to time outstanding under the 
tǊƻƎǊŀƳƳŜ ǿƛƭƭ ƴƻǘ ŜȄŎŜŜŘ ϵ60,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency). 

The Bonds may be issued on a continuing basis and may be distributed by way of public or private 
placements. The method of distribution of each Tranche will be stated in the applicable Final Terms. 

Subject to the restrictions and conditions set out in this Base Prospectus, the categories of potential 
investors to which the Securities are intended to be offered are institutional investors. A percentage 
of any Tranche may be reserved for specific institutional investors, details of which shall be included 
in the Final Terms. 

Bonds will be issued in Tranches, each Tranche consists of a series of Bonds which are identical in all 
respects except for issue dates, interest commencement dates and/or issue prices. One or more 
Tranches, which are expressed to be consolidated and forming a single Series and identical in all 
respects, except for issue dates, interest commencement dates and/or issue prices, may form a Series 
of Bonds. Further Bonds may be issued as part of an existing Series. The specific terms governing each 
Tranche will be set forth in the applicable Final Terms. 

The Issuer shall notify potential investors  of publication of the Final Terms by means of electronic 
publication on the website of the Listing Authority (www.mfsa.com.mt), or, in addition, and at the 
option of the Issuer, on the website of the Issuer (www.ferratumbank.com). Any notice so given will 
be deemed to have been validly given on the date of such publication. Bonds will be issued in such 
denominations as may be determined by the Issuer and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms. 

Bonds will be issued bearing a fixed rate of interest throughout the entire term of the Bonds and will 
be payable on that basis (as specified in the applicable Final Terms). Bonds may be issued at an Issue 
Price which is at par or at a discount to, or a premium over, par.  

¢ƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘ ƻōƭƛƎŀǘƛƻƴǎ with respect to both the principal amount and the interest due shall 

be guaranteed by the Guarantor under an unsubordinated corporate Guarantee. Application will be 

made for each Series of the Bonds to be admitted to trading on the EWSM, a regulated market 

supervised by the Listing Authority. The Bonds shall be issued in terms of applicable Maltese law, 

including the Companies Act, Cap 386 of the laws of Malta. 
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5  Information on the Issuer and the Guarantor  

5.1 Histor ical  development of the Issuer   

Full legal and commercial name of the Issuer: Ferratum Bank p.l.c. 

Registration Address: Tagliaferro Business Centre 

 Level 6, 14 High Street, 

 Sliema SLM 1551 

Place of Registration and domicile: Malta 

Registration Number: C 56251 

Date of incorporation: 9 May 2012 

Legal form: The Issuer is lawfully existing and registered as  

 a Public Limited Company in terms of the Act 

Telephone number: +356 2092 7700  

Fax number: +356 2092 7710 

E-mail address: info@ferratumbank.com 

Website: www.ferratumbank.com 

 
Ferratum Bank p.l.c., the Issuer, a subsidiary of the Guarantor, was incorporated on 9 May 2012 and 

was granted a credit institution licence by the Malta Financial Services Authority in September 2012. 

In January 2014, the Issuer obtained an extension to the banking licence allowing it to be able to 

undertake guarantees and commitments. 

¢ƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘȅ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎŜǎ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǳƴǎŜŎǳǊŜŘ ŎƻƴǎǳƳŜǊ ƭƻŀƴǎ and other 

consumer and business orientated financial products, distributed through a mobile phone platform 

and through the internet. The attainment of this credit institution licence enabled the Group to start 

offering microloan services in certain EU Member States, by providing cross-border services directly in 

those Member States. Ferratum Bank is currently providing services in Poland, Slovakia, Estonia, 

Latvia, the Czech Republic, Germany, Bulgaria, Sweden, Norway, France, Spain and Croatia. 

As from the fourth quarter of 2015, the Issuer also commenced offering deposit products, which 

primarily consist of savings and time deposits, to its customers in Sweden. In the course of 2016 these 

products were also made available to its customers in Norway and Germany. 
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5.2 Histor ical  development of the Guarantor  

 

Full legal and commercial name of the Issuer: Ferratum Oyj 

Registration Address: Ratamestarinkatu 11A,  

 00520 Helsinki 

Place of Registration and domicile: Finland 

Number in the pertinent trade register: 1950969-1 

Date of incorporation: 8 March 2005 

Legal form:  The Guarantor is lawfully existing and 

registered as a Finnish public limited liability 

company  

Telephone number: +358 20 741 1611  

Fax number: +358 20 741 1612 

E-mail address: clemens.krause@ferratum.com 

Website: www.ferratumgroup.com 

 

The Guarantor is an international provider of unsecured mobile consumer loans and small business 

loans headquartered in Helsinki, Finland. The Guarantor is the parent company of the Group. The 

Guarantor was originally incorporated in 2005 as a private limited liability company under Finnish law 

and was later converted to a Finnish public limited liability company.  

The Guarantor initially focused the Group's business on Finland, Sweden, and the Baltic countries. In 

2007 and 2008 the Group expanded into Central and Eastern Europe as well as certain Western 

countries where entry in the microlending market was possible without a banking license. In 2011, the 

Group decided to expand internationally and enter the markets in New Zealand and Australia as well 

in 2012 in Russia. With the banking license being granted to the Issuer in 2012 and the start of 

operations of such bank in 2013, the Group could further expand into EU countries where a banking 

license is required for consumer lending activities.  

At the beginning of 2015, the Group successfully completed an initial public offering and listing of the 

shares of the Guarantor on the regulatory market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 

and used the proceeds from the offering to further expand the business and enter Canada, France, 

Norway and Mexico as well as diversify the product portfolio to small business loans.  

Ferratum Oyj has guaranteed several bonds issued by its subsidiaries, including bond issuances by 

Ferratum Capital Poland S.A. in Poland between 2011 and 2014, bond issuances by Ferratum Capital 

Germany GmbH in 2013 and 2016 in Germany and bond issuances ōȅ ǘƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊ ǳƴŘŜǊ ŀ ϵолΣлллΣллл 

2015 bond programme. 
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6  Business overview  

6.1 Overview  

Since its inception, the Group has grown rapidly and has expanded its operations to 23 countries in 

Europe, Asia-Pacific and North America. As of 30 September 2016, the Group had 1.5 million active 

customers and former customers who have been granted one or more loans in the past and 4.2 million 

total user accounts in its database. Its business is designed for easy and transparent loans to consumers 

and small businesses and can be accessed through the internet or mobile devices with loan approval 

within minutes after a multitude of financial background checks and profiling.  

¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇϥǎ ŀƴƴǳŀƭ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜǎ ƛƴ нлмр ŀƳƻǳƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ ϵмммΦл ƳƛƭƭƛƻƴΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ǘƻǘŀƭƭŜŘ 

ϵмсΦр million with a pre-ǘŀȄ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ƻŦ ϵмнΦп Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ όǇǊŜ-tax profit margin of 11.2%). The Group 

categorizes its business into two geographical regions, West (including New Zealand, Australia and 

/ŀƴŀŘŀύ ǿƛǘƘ ϵссΦф Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ƛƴ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜ ƛƴ нлмр ŀƴŘ 9ŀǎǘ όƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ aŜȄƛŎƻύ ǿƛǘƘ ϵппΦм Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ƛƴ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜ 

in 2015. 

Lƴ ǘƘŜ ƭŀǎǘ ǘǿŜƭǾŜ ƳƻƴǘƘǎ ŜƴŘŜŘ ол WǳƴŜ нлмсΣ ǘƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊ ǊŜŀƭƛǎŜŘ ŀ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜ ƻŦ ϵрн Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ όпл҈ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

DǊƻǳǇϥǎ ǘƻǘŀƭ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜύΣ ǿƛǘƘ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ϵуф Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ όпр҈ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇϥǎ ǘƻǘŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎύΦ 

The Group's revenues in the first nine months ƻŦ нлмс ŀƳƻǳƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ ϵ108.6 million (ǳǇ ŦǊƻƳ ϵ79.2 

million in the first nine months of 2015), and its ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ǘƻǘŀƭƭŜŘ ϵ14.2 Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ όǳǇ ŦǊƻƳ ϵ12.2 

million in the first nine months of 2015) with a pre-ǘŀȄ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ƻŦ ϵ9.5 Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ όǳǇ ŦǊƻƳ ϵ9.4 million in the 

first nine months of 2015). As of 30 September 2016, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of 

ϵ71.8 Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŀōƭŜǎ ƻŦ ϵ153.6 million outstanding on its balance sheet and 

employed 596 employees.  

6.2 The Group's Strategy  

The Group's strategy is fundamentally based on the aim to focus on organic growth, further geographic 

expansion, product portfolio expansion and the Group's vision to establish a leading mobile bank.  

6.2.1 Further growth through geographical expansion.  

The Group has rapidly expanded its business to 23 countries since it started operating in 2005. Most 

recently, the Group expanded to France, Norway, Canada and Mexico. The Group's mid-term goal is to 

expand its operations to a total of 30 countries. This expansion strategy, which is at the core of the 

Group's business strategy, involves a diversification of its geographic presence by expanding to further 

countries in Europe and internationally. The Group believes the banking license of the Issuer granted in 

Malta in 2012 will help the Group to expand to further European countries and become a leading 

mobile bank.  

6.2.2 Expansion and diversification of the Group's product portfolio as well as the geographic 

rollout of the Gro up's existing products in most or all of the countries where the Group  

operate s. 

A third of the Group's revenues are generated through mobile microloans with a principal amount per 

ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊ ƻŦ ōŜƭƻǿ ϵмΣллл ǿƛǘƘ ǘȅǇƛŎŀƭ ƭƻŀƴǎ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ϵолл ŀƴŘ ϵрллΦ Lƴ ǘƘŜ ƭast several years, the 

Group started to diversify its product portfolio by introducing a Credit Limit product, a PLUS Loan 

product, Ferratum P2P and Ferratum Business. All these products are only available in select countries 

at the moment, Credit Limit is available in nine countries, PLUS Loans are available in 11 countries, 
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Ferratum Business is available in five countries and Ferratum P2P has only been launched in one 

country. The Group aims to further roll out its existing products to countries where it has operations, 

thus significantly further diversifying its revenue sources. 

6.2.3 Provision of banking services as a mobile bank  

Initially, the Group principally viewed itself as a provider of mobile microloans. In 2014, the Group 

expanded its strategic focus and established a vision to grow into a leading mobile bank. The Group's 

mobile banking application has been launched in Sweden, Norway and Germany. This new multi-

banking application is planned to eventually offer all the same functions and products offered in all the 

countries the Group operate in with only slight regional variations.  

As part of the Group's strategy to become a leading mobile bank, the Group added deposit taking 

services for its customers in Germany in 2016. Deposit taking in Germany and in the future other 

countries in the European Union will allow the Group to further grow its business at favourable interest 

rates.  

Through the new banking application, the Group also aims to provide new products in addition to its 

current product portfolio. For instance, the Group aims to offer its mobile banking services as part of 

Ferratum Business and offer current accounts and deposit products also to businesses. Furthermore the 

Group intends to offer third party services and products accessible over its new multi-banking 

application which the Group targets to introduce to jurisdictions in which the Group operates in. 

6.2.4 Further refining the Group 's financ ing strategy based on a two spheres structure  

In 2015, the Group introduced a new financing strategy, dividing the Group into two spheres. In sphere 

one, the Group pooled all operations in countries in which the Group operates with the Issuer's credit 

institution license: Slovakia, Poland, Estonia, Latvia, Germany, Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Norway, 

France, Sweden, Croatia and Spain. This first sphere is currently principally financed via the ϵнл Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ 

bond issued in July 2015 by the Issuer under the ϵол Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ Maltese debt programme. Furthermore, 

the Group aims to further fund the first sphere with the deposits which it is currently taking in Sweden, 

Norway and Germany. Deposit products shall be offered in other countries as well as part of the mobile 

bank strategy. These deposits shall provide the principle source of financing for the Group's operations 

in the first sphere. The proceeds from the issue of Bonds under this Programme shall be used to 

ǊŜŦƛƴŀƴŎŜ ǘƘŜ ϵнл Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ōƻƴd issued in July 2015 and also to finance further growth in the first sphere. 

In sphere two, the Group pools all operations in countries where it does not use the Issuer's EU credit 

license, i.e. all operations outside of the European Economic Area (New Zealand, Australia, Russia, 

Canada and Mexico) and in certain European jurisdictions where the Group currently does not operate 

under the Issuer's banking credit license (Denmark, Finland, the Netherlands, the UK, Lithuania, 

Romania). The Group is considering shifting some of the jurisdictions for sphere two to sphere one over 

time. In April 2016 the Group expanded its bƻǊŘŜŀ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ƭƛƴŜ ŦǊƻƳ ϵмр Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ǘƻ ϵор Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ 

principally used to finance growth in sphere two.  

6.2.5 Implementation of the 2016 Growth Accelerati on Program  

The Group has set up a Growth Acceleration Program. The program includes changes in the 

organization which is now oriented towards products, instead of regions. In addition, the number of the 

directors team members has been reduced. The Group wants to use the existing capacities more 

efficiently than before. An additional aspect of the program is to discontinue products which are not 

profitable; the Group has thus decided to suspend FerBuy. Furthermore, the Group decided to repeal 
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the intended takeover of FCB Firmen-Credit Bank GmbH. The IT strategy has also undergone 

adjustments in order to achieve a more efficient IT architecture and systems. 

6.3 Overview of the Process Credit Scoring, Delivery and Collection of Loans  

6.3.1 Overview  

The following provides an overview of the total customer's view of the process from the first loan 

application to loan repayment:  

 

6.3.2 Identification and credit scoring  

The following provides an overview of the steps from digital identification of the customer to the 

Group's credit decision. 

 

The Group's approach to identification and credit scoring balances the evaluation of credit risk from its 

perspective with market acceptability from the customer's perspective. The Group's identification 

process is primarily based on (i) mobile technology, (ii) online banking, and (iii) face-to-face ID 



 

 
 
 

Base Prospectus of Ferratum Bank p.l.c. | 33 
 

verification. The identification process required in some countries can result in an initial delay of several 

days to receive a loan as the identity check process is completed. 

To support the Group's credit scoring system, i.e., the process of assessing the creditworthiness of a 

potential customer, the Group founded its own dedicated technology company, Personal Big Data Oy, 

for the purposes of further researching and developing the Group's credit scoring technology. The 

internal credit scoring model ranks potential and existing customers based on their respective credit 

risk. The IT software for credit scorecard building and customer evaluation, Model Builder 7.1, was 

purchased from FICO Company (USA), a global leader of scoring software. As from 2014, the Group 

started to use the ǎƻŦǘǿŀǊŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ ȈƘŀǘϥǎ ǎŎƻǊƛƴƎ ŜƴƎƛƴŜ ŦƻǊ ƳƻǊŜ ǎƻǇƘƛǎǘƛŎŀǘŜŘ ƳƻŘŜƭǎΦ 

Scoring and credit policies are centrally steered by the Group's risk team. The Group measures and 

monitors the performance of each credit portfolio's actual risk key performance indictors on different 

aggregation levels at daily, weekly, and monthly cycles. The risk team considers the following principles 

as part of the Group's operations: 

¶ Credit risk is managed and controlled on the basis of established credit processes, and within the 
framework of a clearly established Group credit policy.  

¶ Credit decisions are based on the ethical principles set by the central risk team, the business 
credit policy, as well as the scoring. Every loan dispersal requires a specific individualized 
decision. To assess a potential customer's creditworthiness, the credit score is calculated for each 
new application received. An application scorecard is used to assess new customers and a 
behaviour scorecard is used to assess repeated customers. Based on this credit score, customers 
are grouped into risk classes that ultimately affect the credit decision.  

¶ Individualized credit decisions are also combined with an assessment and estimation of credit 
losses at the Group's global level.  

¶ Credit scoring and monitoring systems are in place to accommodate the early identification and 
management of deterioration in loan quality, once loans have been provided to customers.  

The access to third-party banking scoring databases allowed the Group to increase its scoring and 

analytic in-house software as availability of relevant parameters increased drastically in recent times 

from about 400 to 10,000.  

For consumer loans, the Group operates with a relatively high rejection rate for loan applications (more 

than 75% in the first nine months of 2016). The reasons for the relatively high rejection rate are scoring 

and optimized risk guidelines in order to minimize the rate of loans that customers cannot pay back. 

Minimizing this so-called "credit loss rate" allows the Group to optimize the process of further building 

up its customer base, as it is not only important to reduce the Group's operating expenses, of which 

credit losses are a large portion, but also to retain repeat customers. This can only be achieved if the 

Group reject applications that indicate a high chance of eventual loan default. In some instances, the 

Group also initially denies a loan application for a certain amount of money, but approve a loan 

application for the same customer for a lower amount. The following graph illustrates the net 

receivables and the number of new customers reported on a quarterly basis between the first quarter 

of 2015 and the third quarter of 2016: 
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Credit scoring models allow the Group to create a customer default and risk profile for every single 

customer any time they request a loan. In order to strengthen credit scorecards, the Group uses its own 

customer database, collection companies' databases, and access to public databases, national credit 

losses registers, statistics databases, and public tax databases if available. 

To mitigate credit risks, the Group also use the following methods: 

¶ Tightening. Credit risk is mitigated by reducing the amount of credit extended, either in total or 
to certain customers, and by reducing maturity periods, e.g., from 45 days to 30 days. 

¶ Diversification. If the Group faces a high degree of unsystematic credit risk related to certain 
customer groups (concentration risk), credit risks can be mitigated by diversifying the customer 
pools. 

The Group calculates reserve requirements for its overall accounting purposes centrally and supports its 

subsidiaries in calculating their local reserve requirements. These are calculated based on certain 

models, which measure the probability of delinquency based on payment behaviour and calculate the 

required risk provisions for impairment of loan receivables (reserves) accordingly. The need for a 

provision based on the reserve model may be adjusted, by taking into account the market value of 

impaired receivables, i.e. expected or recent sales prices for overdue loans.  

6.3.3 Delivery  

The Group delivers consumer loans to its customers through a variety of distribution channels, primarily 

via bank account money transfer within minutes of loan approval. It operates more than 180 bank 

accounts with a large number of banks and distributed capital among these accounts through an 

automated algorithm. While this is costly and accounts for approximately 6-7% of sales, this allows the 

Group to pay out loans in a very short period of time. For existing customers, the mobile channel is the 

main distribution channel, whereby consumer loan amounts are paid directly into the customer's bank 

account. The specific distribution channels employed depend on the regulatory, operational, and 

logistical characteristics of each country of operations. In the majority of cases, customers will already 

see the money which was applied for on the customer's bank account within minutes, except for some 

cases when it the money appears on the account on the next banking day. 
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6.3.4 Collection and disposal  

Collection processes vary by country depending on local legislation, customer database size, and 

payment culture. The Group primarily conducts collection ourselves by employing a series of text 

messages, letters, and phone calls to encourage customer payment. The collection method, number of 

communication attempts and frequency are country-specific. When economically feasible, the Group 

also cooperates with external debt collection partners and outsourced collection services. External 

collection practices also differ across markets, e.g., external collection may start as early as one day 

after maturity, but usually starts later on up to sixty days after maturity - depending on the country the 

Group is also performing collection internally or later than sixty days after maturity. Impaired loans may 

also be sold to third parties. These process decisions are based on a cost-benefit analysis and are 

country-specific. Collection practices include default risks that some customers may not repay their 

loans. The key indicator of this risk is the credit loss ratio, expressed as a percentage of credit losses to 

gross receivables.  

6.4 Products  

The following graph provides an overview of the Group's product portfolio as of 30 September 2016: 

 

6.4.1 Microloans  

Short-ǘŜǊƳ ƳƛŎǊƻƭƻŀƴǎ ǿƛǘƘ ŀ ƴƻƳƛƴŀƭ ǾŀƭǳŜ ōŜƭƻǿ ϵмΣллл ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ the Group's core product since it 

started operations in 2005 and contributed 52% to the Group's revenues in the financial year 2015. In 

the last nine months ended 30 September 2016, microloans contributed 35.8% to the Group's revenues 

(compared to 55.4% in the nine months ended 30 September 2015). 

The Group ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘƭȅ ƻŦŦŜǊ ƳƛŎǊƻƭƻŀƴǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǊŀƴƎŜ ƻŦ ǘȅǇƛŎŀƭƭȅ ϵрлς1,000 with maturity periods of 

typically 7ς90 days, depending on the loan amount and the regulatory framework of the customer's 

ŎƻǳƴǘǊȅΦ Lƴ нлмрΣ ǘƘŜ ŀǾŜǊŀƎŜ ƭƻŀƴ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ǘƻǘŀƭƭŜŘ ϵнрр ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŀǾŜǊŀƎe loan maturity period was 29 

days. The microloans are unsecured, but under the Group's guarantee model may be guaranteed. 

The microloan business model is based on mobile phone technology and electronic bank account 

debiting, whereby customers are able to obtain microloans in most cases within minutes through the 

use of the Group's mobile phone application. The markets in which the Group operates in are highly 

diverse in terms of operational and financial circumstances, regulatory requirements, payment cultures, 

and credit risks. This broad spectrum of country-specific operational, financial, and legal circumstances 

necessitates the use of customized microloan interest rates, fee structures, and terms and conditions of 

the microloans depending on each respective market's unique features, advantages, challenges, and 



 

 
 
 

Base Prospectus of Ferratum Bank p.l.c. | 36 
 

risks. Accordingly the specific provisions for customer default, loan modification, technical repayment 

processes, and additional customer obligations differ from country to country.  

In a few countries that the Group operates in, the customers are required to provide an additional 

security ς a guarantee. They can do so by choosing a personal guarantor, for instance another individual 

who guarantees the performance of the debtor's obligations under the loan agreement. Alternatively, 

the customers can choose to use a guarantee service provided by an external guarantor. At the moment 

the guarantee model is only in use for the microloans. However, due to higher amounts of loans in 

Credit Limit product, the Group also considers demanding additional security from customers for this 

product in certain markets. 

6.4.2 Credit Limit  

In June 2013, the Group launched its Credit Limit product in Finland. The Group currently offer its Credit 

Limit product in nine countries, Finland, Denmark, Sweden, Estonia, Latvia, Poland, the Czech Republic, 

Spain and Norway and have seen strong growth revenues from this product. The Credit Limit product 

contributed 36% to the Group's revenues as of 31 December 2015. In the last nine months ended 30 

September 2016, Credit Limit contributed 42.5% to the Group's revenues (compared to 34% in the nine 

months ended 30 September 2015). 

In 2015, the average revenue per customer per annum for the Group's Credit Limit product was 

ŀǇǇǊƻȄƛƳŀǘŜƭȅ ϵт50. A credit limit works like a flexible revolving overdraft facility by which the Group's 

customers can withdraw money within a certain limit(limits offered to customers range up to-ϵоΣлллύ 

over a one month's period. Customer can flexibly choose which amount to pay back at the end of each 

month. Customers can flexibly choose the end of a month, which does not necessarily have to be a 

calendar month.   

6.4.3 PLUS Loans 

PLUS Loans were introduced several years ago to complement the Group's core microloan business to 

offer certain customers a more flexible loan product outside the typical range of microloans. The PLUS 

[ƻŀƴ ǇǊƻŘǳŎǘǎ ŀǊŜ ƻŦŦŜǊŜŘ ƛƴ ƭŀǊƎŜǊ ŀƳƻǳƴǘǎ όǘȅǇƛŎŀƭƭȅ ϵоллς5,000) with longer maturity periods 

(typically 2ς36 months). Plus Loans contributed 12% to the Group's revenues in the financial year 2015. 

In the last nine months ended 30 September 2016, PLUS Loans contributed 19.1% to the Group's 

revenues (compared to 10.5% in the nine months ended 30 September 2015). 

In 2015, the average revenue per customer per annum for the Group's Plus Loan product was 

ŀǇǇǊƻȄƛƳŀǘŜƭȅ ϵптр ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŀǾŜǊŀƎŜ ƭƻŀƴ ƳŀǘǳǊƛǘȅ ǿŀǎ оло ŘŀȅǎΦ t[¦{ [ƻŀƴǎ ƛƴǾƻƭǾŜ ƛƴǎǘŀƭƳŜƴǘ 

repayment plans, which further distinguish them from the Group's traditional microloan product.   

PLUS Loans are offered only to select customer groups, who must apply separately using a simple online 

application. The PLUS Loans are currently in development, testing, and roll-out phases in several key 

markets.  

6.4.4 Ferratum P2P   

Ferratum P2P was introduced in 2016 and is the latest addition to the products that the Group offers. 

Ferratum P2P offers investments in credit portfolios and acts as sole underwriter and bundles credit 

portfolios on its platform. This enables investors to participate in a particular portfolio instead of a 

single credit which allows for risk diversification. 
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Ferratum handles all payments and collects overdue payments. In addition, Ferratum guarantees to buy 

back payments that are 60 days past due. Thus, the system secures typically around 85% of outstanding 

loans for investors. The investor's return depends on the performance of the particular portfolio which 

such investor is invested in. Currently, investors can participate in Czech consumer loans, but is planned 

to be expanded into other countries during 2017. The minimum investment amount is ϵ25. The loans 

provided on the platform usually range in between approximately ϵ400  and ϵмΣллл with a payment 

term of 6 to 12 months. 

6.4.5 Small Business Loans (Ferratum Business)  

In 2015, the Group introduced Ferratum Business in Finland and Sweden and then further expanded it 

to Lithuania. In February 2016, it was also launched in Denmark and in May 2016 in the Netherlands. In 

the last nine months ended 30 September 2016, Ferratum Business contributed 2.3% to the Group's 

revenues (compared to 0.1% in the nine months ended 30 September 2015).  

Ferratum Business offers established small businesses with a strong track record of at least two years 

loans to finance working capital with a term of six to twelve months. E.g. in Finland these loans can be 

applied in the amount of EUR 2,000 to EUR 100,000 by means of a simple and short application process, 

which usually only takes minutes to complete.   

6.4.6 Deposit taking  

The Issuer applied for a credit institution license in 2011 and was granted an EU Credit Institution 

license in September 2012 by the Malta Financial Services Authority.  

The Issuer's credit license allows it to take deposits guaranteed by national deposit schemes up to 

ϵмллΣллл ǇŜǊ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘΦ  

Currently, the Group takes deposits in Sweden, Germany and Norway, with an average interest rate of 

approximately 1%. 

6.5 Certain Information on the Group's credit portfolio  

6.5.1 Portfolio Quality  

The Group actively manages its loan portfolio. Over the last years it has managed to significantly 

increase the quality of the credit portfolio as shown in the next graph which shows the reserves as a 

percentage of the loan portfolio and the loan portfolio in thousands of Euros for the periods from the 

first quarter of 2014 to the third quarter of 2016: 
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The following table shows the portfolio quality as loans not overdue and overdue based on how long 

they are overdue as of 30 September 2016: 

Lƴ ǘƘƻǳǎŀƴŘ ϵ GBV Impairments NBV Coverage ratio (%) 

Not overdue 124,939 (6,038) 118,901 4.8 

1-90 days due 18,078 (4,823) 13,255 26.7 

91-180 days due 14,772 (6,687) 8,085 45.3 

>181 days due 54,275 (40,901) 13,374 75.4 

Total 212,064 (58,448) 153,615 27.6 

 

Credit losses as described by quarterly impairments as percentage per corresponding point in time 

have been stable at approximately 6% between 2015 and 2016. The following table shows the Credit 

losses as % impairment of the Gross Receivables: 

 

6.5.2   Bonds issued and deposits  

As of the date of this prospectus, the Group has four bonds outstanding. In addition, as of 30 

{ŜǇǘŜƳōŜǊ нлмсΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇ ƘŀŘ ϵууΦт Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ƛƴ deposits. The following table provides an overview 

over these funding sources: 

Instrument Nominal amount Coupon Maturity  

Ferratum Capital Germany 2013 ϵ25 million 8.0% 10/2018 
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Ferratum Capital Germany 2016 ϵ25 million 4.875% 06/2019 

Ferratum Bank ϵ20 million 4.9% 01/2017 

Ferratum Capital Poland PLN 20.5 million 6.5% 05/2017 

Deposits (30September 2016) ϵ88.7 million varies varies 

 

Interest and tenor of the Group's customers deposits varies but averages at approximately 1%, with an 

average tenor of a few months. 

6.6 Information on the Markets the Group operates in  

6.6.1 Overview  

The Group operates in the mobile consumer credit market, in particular the segment for smaller credits, 

as well as starting in 2015 in the small business loan market. Apart from small mobile consumer loans, 

other common forms of consumer credit include payday-loans, unsecured consumer loans, pawn loans, 

overdrafts, credit cards, retail finance, invoice financing, home lending, microfinance/social lending, car 

financing and peer-to-peer lending. Each of these products has specific characteristics that differ in 

regards to distribution channel (e.g., credit obtained via the internet, mobile phone, or visiting "bricks 

and mortar" locations) and attributes of consumer credit (e.g., secured versus unsecured credit or loan 

duration). Additional characteristics differentiating consumer credit sub-markets are the loan 

recipient's credit record, loan duration, loan amount, interest rate, duration of loan application, retailer 

dependency, or product and sales channel. 

Based on these characteristics, companies operating in the consumer credit market and small business 

loan market have created a variety of products in response to market demand that reflect the financial 

solvency, needs, and creditworthiness of customers. Customer needs and preferences are the most 

important market drivers as customers may prefer to use one or several credit products at one time. 

The Group segments its business into operations into four geographies, Nordics, CN, Northeast and 
Other. The Nordics include Finland, Sweden, Denmark and Norway while the CN includes Netherlands, 
UK, New Zealand, Australia and Canada. The Northeast consists of Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, 
Czech, Slovakia and Russia while Other consists of Bulgaria, Romania, Croatia, Spain, Germany, France 
and Mexico. In certain parts of Eastern Europe and other emerging and developing countries, consumer 
loans are often provided to under banked households and are generally regarded as improving 
livelihoods, reducing vulnerability to economic, social, and political risks, and improving social and 
economic developing. In Western Europe, Australia, New Zealand, and other developed countries as 
well as certain Eastern European countries such as Poland or the Baltic countries, consumer loans serve 
a similar function as in Eastern Europe, but are also a fast and economical means to deliver small 
consumer credit amounts to meet customers' short-term financial needs, while avoiding the formal 
often burdensome procedures of traditional banks.  
 
Mobile consumer loans are the newest consumer credit market segment. Mobile lending is a modern 

way of granting small loans by utilizing mobile telecommunications and online technology to enable 

fast, easy, and confidential loan services.  

6.6.2 Geographic Overview of the Small Consumer Loan Market  

Nordic Countries 



 

 
 
 

Base Prospectus of Ferratum Bank p.l.c. | 40 
 

The Group first launched operations in Finland in 2005 and was one of the first companies entering the 

small consumer loan market, especially focusing on offering such loans via mobile devices. The Group 

has experienced an expanded demand for short-term mobile consumer loans in Nordic countries since 

the Group launched more than ten years ago. Only a few competitors in Nordic countries are currently 

operating internationally. Current market saturation requires competitors to differentiate themselves 

for customers. For instance, responsible lending principles have lately, in the Group's management's 

estimate, become a differentiating factor among countries operating in the small consumer loan 

market, because consumers take the reputation and stated principles of companies into account before 

taking out consumer loans. Despite the mature status of the Nordic market, mobile lending continues 

to grow steadily, mainly through new product innovations and variations. Starting in Finland in June 

2013, a few companies in the small consumer loan industry, have introduced highly sophisticated digital 

revolving credit lines. The Group was one of the first companies which introduced such revolving credit 

lines and management. 

Baltic States 

The Group was the first mobile consumer loan company entering the Baltic countries Estonia, Latvia, 

and Lithuania in 2006 and 2007. Since then, competition in these markets has increased and the 

product offerings have adapted to a changing environment. The Group believes that the most notable 

difference between the Nordic and Baltic markets is the Baltic customers' frequent use of loan 

extension features. Despite the small Baltic population, these markets are an important testing ground 

for new products and market strategies. 

Eastern Europe 

Eastern European countries have fast growing online markets. Certain Eastern European countries, such 

as Poland or the Czech Republic, have well developed banking systems and high mobile phone 

penetration with a fast growing smartphone growth rate. In other Eastern European countries with a 

lower GDP, the banking system is still dynamically changing and the smartphone penetration growing 

fast from a lower level than in Western Europe. This dynamic has created opportunities to establish 

mobile lending as a compelling choice for consumers' needs for short-term financing in these countries.  

Western Europe 

Although Western European countries are highly-developed with high online usage, they have fairly 

underdeveloped consumer credit markets. Many small loan providers operate in the Western European 

markets, but most restrict their operations to single countries and the Group believes that no other 

Western European small consumer loan provider has a pan-European presence comparable to that of 

the Group. For example, the UK market is home to many online microloan providers with an active 

competitive landscape consisting of several dozen market participants. The market potential remains 

significant in the UK and the Group expects further consolidation in this market. Following the 2014 

entry into the German market, the Group additionally launched operations in 2015 in France and 

Norway. Entry barriers to these markets are very high, e.g., in Germany due to regulatory requirements 

(bank license) and the number of competitors is thus comparatively low. 

Asia Pacific 

In 2011, the Group expanded its business to New Zealand and Australia. These markets are highly-

developed with high mobile and online usage. However, they have a fairly underdeveloped mobile 

consumer credit markets. Competitors in the Asia-Pacific region primarily offer loan amounts above the 
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average microloan amounts that the Group provides to the Group's European customers and thus there 

exists high potential for further market penetration.  

Americas 

In 2015, the Group launched its business in Canada and Mexico offering microloans. The Canadian 

consumer finance market is a developed market which has similarities to the Western European 

market. There are several local as well as international consumer financing companies located in 

Canada which the Group competes with. In Mexico, the market is more comparable to Eastern Europe 

and is expanding rapidly although with generally lower amounts borrowed and higher default rates.  

6.6.3 The Small Business Loan Market  

In 2015, the Group started to offer small business loans in Sweden and have extended this product 

(Ferratum Business) to Finland and Lithuania and in 2016 to Denmark and the Netherlands. In the small 

business loan market the Group principally competes with traditional banks which provide liquidity and 

working capital facilities for small companies as well as with certain FinTech companies which are also 

starting to approach this market. Ferratum seeks to differentiate from traditional lenders by offering 

innovative, fast and easy lending processes like it already does successfully for many years in consumer 

lending. In this area of innovative lending the competition is still moderate. 

6.6.4 Revenue by Geography 

Geographically, the Group's Nordic region (Finland, Sweden, Denmark and Norway) have historically 

contributed the highest share of revenue. The following breakdown illustrates the Group's revenue by 

geography in the first nine months of 2016: 

¶ Nordics contributed 39.6% of the Group's revenue; 

¶ Northeast (Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Russia) contributed 30.3%; 

¶ BCN (Netherlands, UK, New Zealand, Australia, Canada) contributed 16.6%; and 

¶ Other (Bulgaria, Romania, Croatia, Spain, Germany, France and Mexico) contributed 13.5%. 

 

6.6.5 Competition  

The EU consumer credit market is highly fragmented with many new suppliers entering the small 

consumer loan market. The Group's key competitors are small local microloan companies with a limited 

customer database and limited international activities (i.e., operations in only 1ς3 countries). The 

Group also faces multi-segment competition from larger consumer credit companies, i.e., companies 

ƻŦŦŜǊƛƴƎ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀōƻǾŜ ϵмΣллл ǘƘŀǘ ƻŦǘŜƴ ƻǇŜǊŀǘŜ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀǘƛƻƴŀƭƭȅΦ {ǳŎƘ ŎƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎ ƻŦǘŜƴ ƻŦŦŜǊ ŀ ōǊƻŀŘ 

product portfolio, such as payday loans as well as pawn broking. The upper segment of the market is 

ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭƭŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǎǳƳŜǊ ŦƛƴŀƴŎŜ ŘƛǾƛǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ Ǝƭƻōŀƭ ōŀƴƪǎΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƻŦŦŜǊ ƭƻŀƴǎ ƛƴ ŜȄŎŜǎǎ ƻŦ ϵнΣллл ƻǊ 

ƻŦǘŜƴ ϵрΣлллΦ 

Competition in the mobile consumer loan market has increased steadily as mobile loan products have 

become established as a reliable source of consumer financing. The Group believes that its principal 

competitors in Europe are Enova Finance, 4 Finance / Vivus, DFC Global, Kreditech, Wonga and Klarna. 
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While the Group does not focus on larger consumer ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀōƻǾŜ ϵ5000, in this segment competitors 

are many of the larger consumer banks such as Santander, Swedbank, Citibank or Sberbank.  

The Group started to take deposits in Sweden, Germany and Norway in 2016. Deposit taking is 

principally a source of additional financing for the Group in countries where the Group operates under 

the Issuer's banking license. In Sweden, the Group has taken deposits for several years and have 

recently brought such deposits under the umbrella of the banking license. Generally, the Group 

competes with the traditional consumer banks in deposit taking, but even more so with direct banks 

which offer deposit rates above traditional consumer banks such as ING DIBA, VW Bank, Consors, 

Comdirect and others. This market is highly liquid and very sensitive to interest rate changes. 

Additionally, there are a wide range of smaller competitors which operate locally in Europe and Asia 

Pacific. Some markets such as the UK have dozens of small competitors while countries such as 

Germany, which have higher regulatory requirements and require a banking licence for a consumer 

loan business, have much fewer direct competitors which operate locally. 

6.7 Commitment to Responsible Lending  

Beyond the Group's compliance with the legal and regulatory frameworks governing microlending on 

the EU and national levels, the Group is committed to its ethical principles of responsible lending. The 

Group exercises this commitment by providing transparent contractual terms, ensuring maximum 

customer data security, and treating all borrowers fairly and reasonably. The Group considers this 

commitment to be an obligation to its shareholders, its customers, and the overall industry. 

The Group bases its lending decisions on a careful assessment of (i) the borrower's financial position, (ii) 

the borrower's capacity to repay loans, and (iii) whether the borrower's requirements and objectives 

will be met by the loan. The Group only issues loans when it believes, on the information available to it, 

that the borrower can reasonably afford to repay the loan. For PLUS Loans, the Group also 

independently checks the information provided by customers within the scope of a formal loan 

application. When processing the application, the Group is committed to the highest standards of 

disclosure and procedural fairness, including complete transparency of all interest, fees, and charges as 

well as information regarding repayment. 

6.8 Customers 

As of 30 September 2016, the Group had a total of 1.5 million active customers and former customers 

who have received one or more loans in the past. The Group's customer base comprises a wide cross-

section of the markets' populations. In the past, the Group's customers were nearly equally divided 

between men and women.  

6.9 Employees 

As of 30 September 2016, the Group had 596 employees. The cost of salaries and wages in 2015 

ŀƳƻǳƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ ϵмнΦр ƳƛƭƭƛƻƴΦ ²ƘƛƭŜ the Group is headquartered in Helsinki, Finland, most of its 

employees (89% as of 31 December 2015) are based outside of Finland. The Group's success is built on 

the technical, business, legal, finance, IT and risk & data analysis expertise of its employees.  

The employees of the Group are not unionized. There have been no strikes or threatened strikes or 

other labour disputes in the last three years.   
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6.10 Sales and marketing  

Selling and marketing expenses are the second largest class of expense within administrative expenses 

ǿƛǘƘ ϵмсΦн Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ŜȄǇŜƴǎŜŘ ƛƴ нлмрΦ ¢ƘŜ DǊoup principally uses online marketing tools similar to those 

employed by other mobile and internet companies, such as search engine marketing (SEM), search 

engine optimization (SEO), paid online advertisements and social media optimization (SMO). SEM 

principally involves paid search engine or pay-per-click advertisements, where the Group for instance 

uses AdWords, Google's marketing tool for advertisers. In line with the Group's SEO activities, it also 

optimizes its online presence. Additionally, the Group also works with affiliate online partners to attract 

customers, usually through paid advertisements (pay-per-click). Lastly, the Group's social media 

optimization involves activities on Facebook and other social media tools commonly used by its 

customers. All its online marketing efforts are based on a statistical analysis of the data it accumulates 

which allows it to make real-time changes to its marketing strategy to optimize the funds used to 

attract new customers in the different markets it operates in. 

In addition to its online marketing efforts, to a lesser extent, the Group also engages in offline 

marketing through television, radio and newspaper advertisements. The Group has, particularly in 

Eastern Europe, also engaged local credit point partners to attract new customers and to increase its 

brand awareness. 

As a general matter, customer generation can be broken down to 17% online marketing, 6% offline 

marketing and 77% repeat customers as of 2016. 

6.11 Material Contracts  

Other than the financing contracts and the bonds which are currently outstanding, there are no 

contracts the Group has entered into that would result in any obligation or entitlement that is material 

to the Group's business, financial standing, or results of operation.  

6.12 Insuran ce 

The Group maintains customary insurance policies for its offices as well as D&O insurance policies. The 

Group is insured against banking risks, asset losses, professional indemnity, and directors' and officers' 

claims at a level of cover that the Group's management believes is adequate. The Group assesses 

insurable risks and purchase insurance coverage from appropriate insurance companies. Review of new 

insurance policies and annual review of existing policies is conducted by the finance department.  

6.13 Properties  

The Group owns its office space in Helsinki (Headquarter) and leases office space for customer service 

throughout Europe, North America and the APAC region. The Group also leases its IT Headquarter in 

Bratislava, which is one of its main premises. In total, the Group, due to its international presence, 

leases properties in a large number of countries. 

 

6.14 Legal and arbitration proceedings  

As of the date of this prospectus, the Guarantor and the Issuer are not and have not been in the past 

year, party to any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which 

are pending or threatened of which the Guarantor and Issuer are aware) which may have, or have had 

ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǊŜŎŜƴǘ ǇŀǎǘΣ ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǳŀǊŀƴǘƻǊΩǎ ŀƴŘ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƻǊ ǇǊƻŦƛǘŀōƛƭƛǘȅΦ  
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In the ordinary course of business, the Group has been involved in disputes during the past year that 

ƘŀǾŜ ƴƻǘΣ ŀƴŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǳŀǊŀƴǘƻǊΩǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ŀƴŘ ǿƛƭƭ ƴƻǘ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ 

ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ DǳŀǊŀƴǘƻǊȫǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƻǊ ǇǊƻŦƛǘŀōƛƭƛǘȅΦ    
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7  Organisational structure  

The immediate parent company of the Issuer is Ferratum (Malta) Holding Limited, a company registered 

in Malta, which owns 99.99% of the shares of the Bank. Ferratum (Malta) Holding Limited, is in turn 

fully owned by Ferratum Oyj (the Guarantor). The Guarantor, Ferratum Oyj, is the parent company of 

the Group providing financing and other services to its subsidiaries, executing its business plan, and 

engaged in business activities through the subsidiaries, which are globally active in the business of 

providing microloans and consumer credits to private individuals. The following table provides an 

ƻǾŜǊǾƛŜǿ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ subsidiaries, their country of incorporation, and the ownership percentage:  

Name  

Country of 

incorporation 

Group 

share of 

holding 

Parent 

company share 

of holding 

Ferratum Finland Oy ........................................................................................................   Finland 100% 100% 

Baltic Skyways OÜ  .........................................................................................................   Estonia 100% 0% 
Ferratum Latvia SIA .........................................................................................................   Latvia 100% 100% 

Ferratum Sweden AB .......................................................................................................   Sweden 100% 100% 

Ferratum Czech s.r.o.  .......................................................................................................   
Czech 
Republic 100% 100% 

Ferbuy Poland Sp. Z.o.o.  .................................................................................................   Poland 100% 100% 

Ferratum Spain SL ............................................................................................................   Spain 100% 100% 
Ferratum Bulgaria EOOD .................................................................................................   Bulgaria 100% 100% 

Ferratum Slovakia s.r.o.  ...................................................................................................   Slovakia 100% 100% 

Ferratum Denmark ApS ....................................................................................................   Denmark 100% 100% 
Ferratum UK Ltd ..............................................................................................................   Great Britain 100% 100% 

Ferratum Capital Oy .........................................................................................................   Finland 100% 100% 

Global Guarantee OÜ .......................................................................................................   Estonia 100% 100% 
Ferratum d.o.o.  ................................................................................................................   Croatia 100% 100% 

Ferratum Capital Poland S.A.  ..........................................................................................   Poland 100% 100% 

Ferratum New Zealand Ltd.  .............................................................................................   New Zealand 100% 100% 
Ferratum Australia Pty Ltd ...............................................................................................   Australia 100% 100% 

Numeratum d.o.o.  ............................................................................................................   Croatia 100% 100% 

OOO MFI Ferratum Russia ..............................................................................................   Russia 100% 100% 
Rus-Kredit OOO ...............................................................................................................   Russia 100% 100% 

Ferratum Bank p.l.c. .........................................................................................................   Malta 100% 0.00001% 

Ferratum (Malta) Holding Limited ...................................................................................   Malta 100% 99.99999% 
Ferbuy Singapore Pte. Ltd.(2) ............................................................................................   Singapore 90% 90% 

Swespar AB ......................................................................................................................   Sweden 100% 100% 
Nereida Spain S.L.  ...........................................................................................................   Spain 100% 100% 

Ferratum Capital Germany GmbH ....................................................................................   Germany 100% 100% 

Ferratum Germany GmbH ................................................................................................   Germany 100% 100% 
Ferratum Romania I.F.N.S.A.(2) ........................................................................................   Romania 99,88% 99,88% 

Personal Big Data Oy .......................................................................................................   Finland 100% 100% 

Sideways Sp z.o.o.  ...........................................................................................................   Poland 100% 0% 
Highways Sp z.o.o.  ..........................................................................................................   Poland 100% 0% 

Highways Sp. Z o.o. Sp. k. ...............................................................................................   Poland 100% 0% 

Ferratum Canada Inc ........................................................................................................   Canada 100% 100% 
Ferratum Kredi Finansmani A.S,ééééééééééééééééé.  Turkey 100% 100% 

Ferratum Georgia LLCééééééééééééééééééééé.  Georgia 100% 100% 

Ferratum Mexico S.de R.L. de C.Véééééééééééééééé.  Mexico 100% 99% 
UAB Ferratum 

Financeééééééééééééééééééééééé  Lithuania 100% 100% 

Ferratum Chile Ltda(2)  Chile 100% 99% 
Pactum Collections GmbH  Germany 100% 100% 

Ferratum Peru S.A.C.  Peru 100% 99% 

Ferratum Brazil Servicos De Correspondente Bancario Ltda  Brazil 100% 99% 

 

 

(2) Jorma Jokela holds 10% in Ferbuy Singapore Pte. Ltd and 0,12% in Ferratum Romania I.F.N.S.A.  
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8  Financial Performance and Trend Information  

8.1 Trend Information  

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer and/or Guarantor since the 

date of publication of their latest audited financial statements. 

At the date of publication of the Base Prospectus, the Directors consider that the Issuer and the 

Guarantor will be subject to the normal risks associated with the business of the Group and do not 

anticipate any trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events outside the ordinary course of 

business that could be deemed likely to have a material effect on the upcoming prospects of the 

LǎǎǳŜǊ ŀƴŘ DǳŀǊŀƴǘƻǊΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ŦƻǊ ŀǘ ƭŜŀǎǘ ǳǇ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƴŜȄǘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ȅŜŀǊΦ IƻǿŜǾŜǊΣ 

investors are strongly advised to carefully read the risk factors in the Base Prospectus. 

The following is an overview of the trading prospects of the Issuer and the Guarantor in the 

foreseeable future. 

8.1.1 Trading prospects of the Issuer  

¢ƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅ ƛǎ ƛƴ ƭƛƴŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŀǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΣ ǿƘŜǊŜōȅ ǘƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊ ƛƴǘŜƴŘǎ ǘƻ capitalise on the 

potential of the mobile microloans market ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŘǳǎǘǊȅΦ  

As described in Section 6, the Group has already established operations in multiple countries, which 

will allow the Issuer to develop its operations further through country expansion. During 2015, the 

Issuer began to provide micro lending services in Norway and France, whilst in 2016 it commenced 

operations in Spain and Croatia.  

In Bulgaria the Bank started offering services as a guarantor to third-party loans, rather than as the 

provider of micro loans. Micro loans, which are backed by a guarantee, secure the loan amount and 

are referred to by segments of the industry as Guarantor Loans.  Although Guarantor Loans are a 

relatively new concept within the unsecured micro loan market, it is not uncommon for customers 

within the sector to be asked to provide a guarantee. When providing this type of service, the Issuer is 

selecting the customers entitled to obtain a guarantee via the scoring model and agreeing, against the 

ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ŀ ŦŜŜΣ ǘƻ ǊŜǇŀȅ ǘƘŜ ōƻǊǊƻǿŜǊΩǎ ŘŜōǘ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ǘƘŜ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊ ŘŜŦŀǳƭǘΦ ¢Ƙƛǎ ƎƛǾŜǎ ǊƛǎŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ 

same level of exposure should the Issuer grant the loan directly.   

Throughout the coming year the Issuer expects to provide loans and advances to customers in 

fourteen countries. Additionally, the Issuer intends to further capitalise on its position within the 

countries in which it currently operates by retaining its existing customers and further attracting new 

customers to increase its market share.  

As part of its strategy, the Bank intends to adopt various initiatives to build a solid deposit base 

through further developments in the Mobile Bank platform, with plans for the reinvestment of excess 

liquidity.  

8.1.2 Trading prospects of the Guarantor  

The Group further rolled out its deposit strategy, taking deposits in Germany starting in early 2016.  

Ferratum continued its product roll out into new geographies by introducing the Credit Limit product 

in Poland and introducing Ferratum Business in Denmark in the first quarter of 2016. Additionally, 
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Ferratum Bank plc also took over the operations in Spain in early 2016, which had previously been 

working under local licenses and are now operating under the Group's EU credit license. The Group 

further focused on the introduction of the Group's mobile bank into the European market in 2016, 

which the Group considers the most important strategic goal for 2016.  

Lƴ !ǇǊƛƭ нлмсΣ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇϥǎ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ƭƛƴŜ ǿƛǘƘ bƻǊŘŜŀ ǿŀǎ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ ϵмр Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ǘƻ ϵор Ƴƛllion to use 

as a refinancing facility for the Group's further growth of is non bank operational sphere. 

In May 2016, Ferratum launched Ferratum Business in the Netherlands.  

In August 2016, Ferratum Bank p.l.c. launched its operation in Croatia. Until then, Ferratum had 

operated its lending business in Croatia based on a local license.  

¢ƘŜ DǳŀǊŀƴǘƻǊΩǎ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŦƻǊŜǎŜŜŀōƭŜ ŦǳǘǳǊŜ ƛǎ ǘƻ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜ ŜƴƘŀƴŎƛƴƎ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ŀǊƛǎƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ƛǘǎ 

product portfolio and growth in the consumer finance market. In November 2016, Ferratum 

announced its new Growth Acceleration Program (see for further details, Section 6.2.5 above). 

8.2 Use of proceeds  
In connection with the Bond Issuance Programme, the Issuer will receive proceeds of approximately 

ϵ60,000,000.The proceeds net of the expenses incurred by the Issuer in connection with the issue of 

the bonds include a success fee of 2.5% for the bookkeeper. These proceeds are intended to be used 

for the refinancing ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ϵнл Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ōƻƴŘ ƛǎǎǳŜŘ ƛƴ Wǳƭȅ нлмр ōȅ CŜǊǊŀǘǳƳ .ŀƴƪ ŀƴŘ in addition for 

the operation of Ferratum Bank in Malta, the Group's first sphere operations as well as for its general 

business purposes.   
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8.3 Key Financial Review  

The financial information about the Issuer and the Guarantor is included in their respective audited financial 

statements for each of the financial years ended 31 December 2014 and 2015. The said statements are 

ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ƻƴ ŘƛǎǇƭŀȅ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ LǎǎǳŜǊΩǎ ǊŜƎƛǎǘŜǊŜŘ address. Set out below are highlights extracted from the audited 

financial statements of the Issuer and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor for the 

years ended 31 December 2014 and 2015. 

8.3.1 Financial review of the Issuer  
  

Statement of Comprehensive Income  

  

 Year ended 31 December 

   
    2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Interest and similar income 42,788,395 

(1,442,398) 

 

 

41,345,997 

 

 

 

344,210 

(2,729,103) 

 

 

(2,384,893) 

 

 

 

38,961,104 

(4,535,017) 

(13,169,722) 

(33,960) 

(13,835,065) 

 

 

7,387,340 

(2,585,569) 

18,348,726 

Interest and similar expense (1,442,398) (254,502) 

   
   Net interest income 41,345,997 18,094,224 

   
      

Fee and commission income 344,210 207,742 

Fee and commission expense (2,729,103) (701,861) 

   
   Net fee and commission expense (2,384,893) (494,119) 

   
   Operating profit 38,961,104 17,600,105 
Employee compensation and benefits (4,535,017) (2,422,074) 

Other operating costs (13,169,722) (6,133,653) 
Depreciation and amortisation (33,960) (20,989) 
Net impairment losses (13,835,065) (5,280,841) 
   
 

 

 

  Profit before tax 7,387,340 3,742,548 

Tax expense (2,585,569) (1,309,892) 

   
   Profit for the year -  

 

  

   total comprehensive income 4,801,771 2,432,656 
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Statement of Financial Position  

  

 As at 31 December 

  
   2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

ASSETS   

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 182 - 

Loans and advances to banks 3,704,583 3,043,304 

Loans and advances to customers 43,203,453 16,370,257 

Loans and advances to group companies - 1,360,845 

Property, plant and equipment 165,147 101,215 

Intangible asset 360,268 - 

Other assets 2,535,666 327,638 

   
   Total assets 49,969,299 21,203,259 

    

 

     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

Equity    

Share capital 10,000,000 10,000,000 

Other reserves 535,605 96,608 

Retained earnings 4,362,774 2,345,324 

   
   Total equity 14,898,379 12,441,932 

         
Liabilities   

Borrowed funds 345,484 4,218,723 

Amounts owed to customers 2,783 - 

Debt securities in issue 20,143,271 - 

Loans and advances from group companies 3,556,593 - 

Other liabilities 7,132,099 3,230,264 

Current tax liabilities 3,890,690 1,312,340 

   
   Total liabilities 35,070,920 8,761,327 

   
       

Total equity and liabilities 49,969,299 21,203,259 

   
      

MEMORANDUM ITEMS   

Commitments 1,496,947 1,473,542 
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Statement of cash flows  

  

 Year ended 31 December 

  
   2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Cash flows from operating activities   

Interest and commission receipts  43,132,605 18,556,468 

Interest and commission payments (4,028,230) (1,006,440) 

Tax payments (7,219) - 

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (17,554,974) (6,480,387) 

   
   Cash flows from operating profit before changes    

  in operating assets and liabilities 21,542,182 

 

11,069,641 

   

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   

    Loans and advances to group companies 4,917,438 (1,360,845) 

   Loans and advances to customers  (40,665,478) (17,285,465) 

  Borrowed funds  (3,301,282) - 

   
   Net cash used in operating activities (17,507,140) (7,576,669) 

   
      

Cash flows from investing activities   

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (97,892) (53,335) 

Purchase of intangible asset (360,268) - 

   
   Net cash used in investing activities (458,160) (53,335) 

   
      

Cash flows from investing activities   

Issue of debt securities 20,000,000 - 

   
   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash   

     equivalents 2,034,700 (7,630,004) 

   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,324,581 8,954,585 

   
   Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3,359,281 1,324,581 
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Statement of Changes in Equity     

 Share 
capital 

Other 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

 ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ 

     

Balance at 1 January 2014 10,000,000 - 9,276 10,009,276 

     
          

Comprehensive income     

Profit for the year - - 2,432,656 2,432,656 

     

Other comprehensive income     

Transfers and other movements - 96,608 (96,608) - 

     
     Total comprehensive income 
  for the year - 96,608 2,336,048 2,432,656 
     
     Balance at 31 December 2014 10,000,000 96,608 2,345,324 12,441,932 

     
          

Comprehensive income     

Profit for the year - - 4,801,771 4,801,771 

     

Other comprehensive income     

Transfers and other movements - 438,997 (438,997) - 

     
     Total comprehensive income 
  for the year - 438,997 4,362,774 4,801,771 
     

Transactions with owners     

Dividends - - (2,345,324) (2,345,324) 

     
     Balance at 31 December 2015 10,000,000 535,605 4,362,774 14,898,379 
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Notes to the financial statements of the Issuer 

 

1.  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. 

1.1 Basis of preparation 

 

¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘance with the requirements of 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and with the requirements of 
the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 and the Maltese Companies Act, 1995.  These financial statements are 
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the fair valuation of financial assets and 
financial liabilities carried at fair value. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the use 
of certain accounting estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their judgment in the process 
ƻŦ ŀǇǇƭȅƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ όǎŜŜ bƻǘŜ о ς Critical accounting estimates, and judgments in 
applying accounting policies).  

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2015 

In 2015, the Bank adopted new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that 
ŀǊŜ ƳŀƴŘŀǘƻǊȅ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ōŜƎƛƴƴƛƴƎ ƻƴ м WŀƴǳŀǊȅ нлмрΦ  ¢ƘŜ ŀŘƻǇǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜǎŜ 
revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU did not result in substantial changes to the 
.ŀƴƪΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎΦ 
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective  
 
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 
31 December 2015 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Bank. These principally 
ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎŜ LCw{ ф ΨCƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ LƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎΩΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇǊŜƘŜƴǎƛǾŜ ǎǘŀƴŘŀǊŘ ǘƻ ǊŜǇƭŀŎŜ L!{ оф 
ΨCƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ LƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎΥ wŜŎƻƎƴƛǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ aŜŀǎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘΩΣ ŀƴŘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŦƻǊ ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities, impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.  

 
The classification and measurement of financial asǎŜǘǎ ǿƛƭƭ ŘŜǇŜƴŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ƳƻŘŜƭ ŦƻǊ 
their management and their contractual cash flow characteristics and result in financial assets being 
ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜŘ ŀǘ ŀƳƻǊǘƛǎŜŘ ŎƻǎǘΣ ŦŀƛǊ ǾŀƭǳŜ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŎƻƳǇǊŜƘŜƴǎƛǾŜ ƛƴŎƻƳŜ όΨC±h/LΩύ ƻǊ ŦŀƛǊ ǾŀƭǳŜ 
through profit or loss. In many instances, the classification and measurement outcomes will be similar 
to IAS 39, although differences will arise, for example, since IFRS 9 does not apply embedded derivative 
accounting to financial assets and equity securities will be measured at fair value through profit or loss 
or, in limited circumstances, at fair value through other comprehensive income. The combined effect of 
the application of the business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics tests may result in 
some differences in the population of financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value 
compared with IAS 39. The classification of financial liabilities is essentially unchanged, except that, for 
certain liabilities measured at fair value, gaiƴǎ ƻǊ ƭƻǎǎŜǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ ƛƴ ŀƴ ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ ƻǿƴ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ Ǌƛǎƪ 
are to be included in other comprehensive income. 

The impairment requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, and 
lease receivables and certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. At initial 
recognition, allowance (or provision in the case of commitments and guarantees) is required for 
ŜȄǇŜŎǘŜŘ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ƭƻǎǎŜǎ όΨ9/[Ωύ ǊŜǎǳƭǘƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ŘŜŦŀǳƭǘ ŜǾŜƴǘǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŀǊŜ ǇƻǎǎƛōƭŜ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƴŜȄǘ мн ƳƻƴǘƘǎ 
όΨмн ƳƻƴǘƘ 9/[ΩύΦ Lƴ ǘƘŜ ŜǾŜƴǘ ƻŦ ŀ ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜ ƛƴ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ǊƛǎƪΣ ŀƭƭƻǿŀƴŎŜ όƻǊ ǇǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴύ ƛǎ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘ 
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for ECL resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument 
όΨƭƛŦŜǘƛƳŜ 9/[ΩύΦ 
The assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition is performed 
for each reporting period by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining 
life of the financial instrument, rather than by considering an increase in ECL. 
 
The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation of ECL, are required to be unbiased and probability-
weighted and should incorporate all available information which is relevant to the assessment, 
including information about past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts 
of future events and economic conditions at the reporting date. In addition, the estimation of ECL 
should take into account the time value of money. As a result, the recognition and measurement of 
impairment is intended to be more forward-looking than under IAS 39 and the resulting impairment 
charge will tend to be more volatile. It will also tend to result in an increase in the total level of 
impairment allowances, since all financial assets will be assessed for at least 12 month ECL and the 
population of financial assets to which lifetime ECL applies is likely to be larger than the population for 
which there is objective evidence of impairment in accordance with IAS 39. 
 
The general hedge accounting requirements aim to simplify hedge accounting, creating a stronger link 
with risk management strategy and permitting hedge accounting to be applied to a greater variety of 
hedging instruments and risks. The standard does not explicitly address macro hedge accounting 
strategies, which are being considered in a separate project. To remove the risk of any conflict between 
existing macro hedge accounting practice and the new general hedge accounting requirements, IFRS 9 
includes an accounting policy choice to remain with IAS 39 hedge accounting. 
 
The classification and measurement and impairment requirements are applied retrospectively by 
adjusting the opening balance sheet at the date of initial application, with no requirement to restate 
comparative periods. Hedge accounting is generally applied prospectively from that date. 
 
The mandatory application date for the standard as a whole is 1 January 2018, but it is possible to apply 
the revised presentation for certain liabilities measured at fair value from an earlier date. The Bank is 
ȅŜǘ ǘƻ ŀǎǎŜǎǎ LCw{ фΩǎ Ŧǳƭƭ ƛƳǇŀŎǘΦ 
 

1.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances 

 
Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Ŝƴǘƛǘȅ ƻǇŜǊŀǘŜǎ όΨǘƘŜ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴŀƭ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅΩύΦ ¢ƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀǊŜ 
ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ƛƴ ŜǳǊƻΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴŀƭ ŀƴŘ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅΦ 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
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1.3 Financial assets 

 
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets and available-for-sale investments. The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

Throughout the financial period and as at the end of the reporting period, the Bank only held loans and 
receivables.  

Initial recognition and derecognition 

The Bank recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the 
asset. Accordingly, the Bank uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording 
financial asset transactions.  

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership or the Bank has not retained control of the asset. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

This category comprises two sub-categories: financial assets classified as held-for-trading, and financial 
assets designated by the Bank as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. 

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of 
selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments 
that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term 
profit-taking.  

Derivatives are also categorised as held-for-trading unless they are designated and effective as hedging 
instruments. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if expected to be settled within 
twelve months; otherwise, they are classified as non-current. 

Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value; transaction costs 
are taken directly to the profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included 
ŘƛǊŜŎǘƭȅ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ƻǊ ƭƻǎǎ ŀƴŘ ŀǊŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘ ŀǎ ΨbŜǘ ƎŀƛƴǎκόƭƻǎǎŜǎύ ƻƴ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎ ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ 
held-for-ǘǊŀŘƛƴƎΩΦ LƴǘŜǊŜst income and dividend income on financial assets held-for-trading are included 
ƛƴ ΨbŜǘ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƛƴŎƻƳŜΩ ƻǊ Ψ5ƛǾƛŘŜƴŘ ƛƴŎƻƳŜΩΣ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘƛǾŜƭȅΦ  

The Bank may designate certain financial assets upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit 
or loss (fair value option). This designation cannot subsequently be changed. 

According to IAS 39, the fair value option is only applied when the following conditions are met: 

Å the application of the fair value option reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch that 
would otherwise arise; or 

Å the financial assets are part of a portfolio of financial instruments which is risk managed and 
reported to senior management on a fair value basis; or 

Å the financial assets consist of debt hosts and embedded derivatives that must be separated. 
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Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market, other than: 

(a)  those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are classified as held-
for-trading, and those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through 
profit or loss; 

(b)  those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or 

(c)  those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of their initial investment, other than 
because of credit deterioration. 

Loans and receivables arise when the Bank provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with 
no intention of trading the asset. They are included in current assets except for maturities greater than 
twelve months after the end of the reporting period. The latter are classified as non-current assets. 
Loans and receivables mainly consist of loans and advances to banks, customers and group companies 
and other assets. 

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value ς which is the cash consideration to originate 
or purchase the loan including any transaction costs ς and measured subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is the initial measurement amount adjusted 
for the amortisation of any difference between the initial and maturity amounts using the effective 
interest method. Interest on loans and receivables is included in profit or loss and is reported as 
ΨLƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ŀƴŘ ǎƛƳƛƭŀǊ ƛƴŎƻƳŜΩΦ  

In the case of an impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of 
ǘƘŜ ƭƻŀƴ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŀōƭŜ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜŘ ƛƴ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ƻǊ ƭƻǎǎ ŀǎ ΨbŜǘ ƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘ ƭƻǎǎŜǎΩΦ 

Held-to-maturity financial assets 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
ŀƴŘ ŦƛȄŜŘ ƳŀǘǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ Ƙŀǎ ǘƘŜ ǇƻǎƛǘƛǾŜ ƛƴǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ƘƻƭŘ ǘƻ 
maturity, other than:  

(a) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; 

(b) those that the Bank designates as available-for-sale; and 

(c) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables. 

 

These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and 
measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 

Interest on held-to-ƳŀǘǳǊƛǘȅ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘǎ ƛǎ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƛƴ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ƻǊ ƭƻǎǎ ŀƴŘ ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘ ŀǎ ΨLƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ŀƴŘ 
similar ƛƴŎƻƳŜΩΦ  Lƴ ǘƘŜ ŎŀǎŜ ƻŦ ŀƴ ƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘΣ ǘƘŜ ƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘ ƭƻǎǎ ƛǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘ ŀǎ ŀ ŘŜŘǳŎǘƛƻƴ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ 
carrying value of the investment and recognised in profit or loss.  

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period 
of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange 
rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  They are included in non-current assets unless the 
asset matures or management intends to dispose of it within twelve months of the end of the reporting 
period. 
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Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration 
including any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being 
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains 
and losses (in case of monetary assets), until the financial asset is derecognised. If an available-for-sale 
financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. Interest income on available-for-sale assets is 
calculated using the effective interest method, and is recognised in profit or loss as are foreign currency 
gains and losses on monetary assets classified as available-for-sale. Changes in the fair value of 
monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available-for-sale are analysed 
between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other 
changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes in amortised 
cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or 
ƭƻǎǎ ƛƴ Ψ5ƛǾƛŘŜƴŘ ƛƴŎƻƳŜΩ ǿƘŜƴ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ǊƛƎƘǘ ǘƻ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŜ ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘ ƛǎ ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘΦ 

1.4 Impairment of financial assets 

 
Assets carried at amortised cost  

The Bank assesses at each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that occurrŜŘ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ƛƴƛǘƛŀƭ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘ όŀ Ψƭƻǎǎ ŜǾŜƴǘΩύ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ ƭƻǎǎ ŜǾŜƴǘ 
(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial 
assets that can be reliably estimated. 

The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss 
include: 

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 

(c) the lender, foǊ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ƻǊ ƭŜƎŀƭ ǊŜŀǎƻƴǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ōƻǊǊƻǿŜǊΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŘƛŦŦƛŎǳƭǘȅΣ ƎǊŀƴǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ 
the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider; 

(d) it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or 

(f) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows 
from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the 
decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including: 

(i) adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and 

(ii) national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio. 
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The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets 
that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not 
individually significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. 
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to 
be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. The amount of the loss is 
ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜŘ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴŎŜ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻŦ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜŘ 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the 
ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of 
ǎƛƳƛƭŀǊ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ Ǌƛǎƪ ŎƘŀǊŀŎǘŜǊƛǎǘƛŎǎ όǘƘŀǘ ƛǎΣ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ōŀǎƛǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƎǊŀŘƛƴƎ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊǎ ŀǎǎŜǘ 
type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of 
future cash flows for ƎǊƻǳǇǎ ƻŦ ǎǳŎƘ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ōȅ ōŜƛƴƎ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘƛǾŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŘŜōǘƻǊǎΩ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ Ǉŀȅ ŀƭƭ ŀƳƻǳƴǘǎ 
due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated. 

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are 
estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Bank and historical loss 
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Bank. Historical loss 
experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current 
conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove 
the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist. 

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets reflect and be directionally consistent 
with changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment 
rates, payment status, or other factors as applicable which are indicative of changes in the probability 
of losses in the Bank and their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating 
future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates 
and actual loss experience. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement 
ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŘŜōǘƻǊΩǎ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ǊŀǘƛƴƎύΣ ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎƭȅ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜŘ ƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜnt loss is reversed by adjusting the 
allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 

Loans and advances to customers 

Losses for impaired loans are recognised promptly when there is objective evidence that impairment of 
a loan or portfolio of loans has occurred. Impairment allowances are calculated on individual loans and 
on groups of loans assessed collectively. Impairment losses are recorded as charges to the statement of 
comprehensive income. The carrying amount of impaired loans on the statement of financial position is 
reduced through the use of impairment allowance accounts. Losses which may arise from future events 
are not recognised. 

¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻ ƛǎ ŀǎǎŜǎǎŜŘ ŦƻǊ ƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘ ƻƴ ŀ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘƛǾŜ ōŀǎƛǎΣ ŀŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ the loan type, as 
the underlying loan portfolio consist of a large pool of homogeneous loans which by nature cannot be 
considered individually significant. The loan portfolio consists of short-term micro-loans, other medium-
term credit products and revolving micro-credit facilities.   

Collectively assessed loans and advances 

Impairment is assessed on a collective basis for homogeneous groups of loans that are not considered 
individually significant. 
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Homogeneous groups of loans and advances 

Statistical methods are used to determine impairment losses on a collective basis for homogeneous 
groups of loans that are not considered individually significant, because individual loan assessment is 
impracticable. Losses in these groups of loans are recorded on an individual basis when individual loans 
are written off, at which point they are removed from the group. The methods that are used to 
calculate allowances on a collective basis are as follows: 

When appropriate empirical information is available, the Bank utilises roll-rate methodology. This 
methodology employs statistical analysis of historical data and experience of delinquency and default to 
estimate the amount of loans that will eventually be written off as a result of the events occurring 
before the reporting date which the Bank is not able to identify on an individual loan basis, and that can 
be reliably estimated. This methodology is applied at territory or country level with adaptations to 
reflect the different nature of the respective markets in which the Bank operates.  Under this 
methodology, loans are grouped into ranges according to the number of days past due and statistical 
analysis is used to estimate the likelihood that loans in each range will progress through the various 
stages of delinquency, and ultimately prove irrecoverable. In applying this methodology, adjustments 
are made to estimate the periods of time between a loss event occurring and its discovery, for example 
through a missed payment, (known as the emergence period) and the period of time between discovery 
and write-off (known as the outcome period). Current economic conditions are also evaluated when 
calculating the appropriate level of allowance required to cover inherent loss. The estimated loss is the 
difference between the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate of the portfolio, and the carrying amount of the portfolio.  Expected future cash flows take 
into account expected portfolio sales prices. 

The inherent loss within the portfolio is assessed on the basis of statistical models using historical data 
observations, which are updated periodically to reflect recent payment and economic trends. In normal 
circumstances, historical experience provides the most objective and relevant information from which 
to assess inherent loss within the portfolio.  In certain circumstances, historical loss experience provides 
less relevant information about the inherent loss in the portfolio at the reporting date.  When the most 
recent trends arising from changes in economic, regulatory or behavioural conditions are not fully 
reflected in the statistical models, they are taken into account by adjusting the impairment allowances 
derived from the statistical models to reflect these changes as at the balance sheet date. 

These additional portfolio risk factors may include recent loan portfolio growth and product mix, 
unemployment rates, bankruptcy trends, geographic concentrations, loan product features, economic 
conditions such as national and local trends in interest rates, seasoning, account management policies 
and practices, current levels of write-offs, changes in laws and regulations and other factors which can 
affect customer payment patterns on outstanding loans, such as natural disasters. These risk factors, 
where relevant, are taken into account when calculating the appropriate level of impairment allowances 
by adjusting the impairment allowances derived solely from historical loss experience. 

Roll rates are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure they remain appropriate. 

Forborne loans 

Granting a concession to customers that the Bank would not otherwise consider, as a result of their 
financial difficulty, is objective evidence of impairment and impairment losses would be measured 
accordingly.  

A forborne loan is categorised as impaired when:  

¶ there has been a change in contractual cash flows as a result of a concession which the Bank 
would otherwise not consider; and 

¶ it is probable that without the concession, the borrower would be unable to meet contractual 
payment obligations in full. 
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Forbearance activity is generally undertaken where it has been identified that repayment difficulties 
against the original terms have already materialised, or are very likely to materialise. The Bank might 
consider the application of rescheduling to selected loans and advances, which process commences 
when a customer applies to extend the repayment date.  The upfront payment of a rescheduling fee is a 
pre-condition for rescheduling to be granted and for the loan term to be extended.  This upfront 
payment requirement is not deemed consistent with the profile of a customer which cannot meet the 
current contractual payment obligations.   

Moreover, upon rescheduling the Bank does not revise the key substantive terms and conditions of the 
ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƭƻŀƴ ƛƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ ŦŀŎƛƭƛǘŀǘŜ ǊŜŎƻǾŜǊŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘŀƪƛƴƎ ƛƴǘƻ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭΩǎ 
financial situation, but simply provides the individual customer with a standard extension to the 
maturity date. The significant terms and conditions of the loan are not altered, for instance, through 
moratorium on fees or waiver of fees. A significant level of individual customers apply for and request 
the extension of the loan term and considering that each loan transaction is individually insignificant, 
ǘƘŜ ƳƻƴƛǘƻǊƛƴƎ ƻŦ ŜŀŎƘ ƛƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎƛǘǳŀǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ƛƳǇǊŀŎǘƛŎŀōƭŜΦ  aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ 
considers historical experience and other factors when determining whether rescheduled loans are 
forborne loans. Such historical experience demonstrates that very high repayment rates are associated 
with rescheduled loans. 

Taking cognisance of the principles highlighted above, rescheduling of loans granted by the Bank is not 
deemed to constitute a forbearance measure in relation to customers experiencing difficulties in 
repaying the micro-credit.  

Assets classified as available-for-sale 

The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value of the security below its cost is objective evidence of impairment resulting in the recognition 
of an impairment loss. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative 
loss ς measured as the difference between the acquisition cost (or amortised cost, if applicable) and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss 
ς is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in the profit or 
loss on equity instruments are not reversed through profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair 
value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

Throughout the financial period and as at the end of the reporting date, the Bank did not hold assets 
classified as available-for-sale. 

1.5 Offsetting financial instruments 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

1.6 Intangible asset 

 
Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use 
the specific software. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected useful lives once the 
software has been put into use.   
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1.7 Property, plant and equipment 

 
All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.   

{ǳōǎŜǉǳŜƴǘ Ŏƻǎǘǎ ŀǊŜ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻr are recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part 
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial year 
in which they are incurred.  

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

 % 

Furniture and fittings 12.5 

Computer hardware 25 

Office equipment  25 

 

¢ƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘǎΩ ǊŜǎƛŘǳŀƭ ǾŀƭǳŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǳǎŜŦǳƭ ƭƛǾŜǎ ŀǊŜ ǊŜǾƛŜǿŜŘΣ ŀƴŘ ŀŘƧǳǎǘŜŘ ƛŦ ŀǇǇǊƻǇǊƛŀǘŜΣ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ ŜŀŎƘ 
reporting period. 

!ƴ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƛǎ ǿǊƛǘǘŜƴ Řƻǿƴ ƛƳƳŜŘƛŀǘŜƭȅ ǘƻ ƛǘǎ ǊŜŎƻǾŜǊŀōƭŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƛŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1.8). 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and 
are recognised in profit or loss. 

1.8 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is 
ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ōȅ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ŜȄŎŜŜŘǎ ƛǘǎ ǊŜŎƻǾŜǊŀōƭŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘΦ ¢ƘŜ 
ǊŜŎƻǾŜǊŀōƭŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ ƘƛƎƘŜǊ ƻŦ ŀƴ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŦŀƛǊ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƭŜǎǎ Ŏƻǎǘǎ ǘƻ ǎŜƭƭ ŀƴŘ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƛƴ ǳǎŜΦ CƻǊ ǘƘŜ 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating units).  The impairment test also can be 
performed on a single asset when the fair value less costs to sell or the value in use can be determined 
reliably. 

1.9 Other receivables 

 
Other receivables are amounts due to the Bank for services performed in the ordinary course of 
business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they 
are presented as non-current assets.  
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Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less provisions for impairment. A provision for impairment is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivables.  Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency 
in payments are considered indicators that the receivable is impaired.  The amount of the provision is 
ǘƘŜ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴŎŜ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻŦ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜŘ ŦǳǘǳǊŜ ŎŀǎƘ 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.  
When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade and other 
receivables.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in profit or loss.  

1.10 Current and deferred tax 

 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.  Tax is recognised in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period.  

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority. 

1.11 Share capital 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 

shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

1.12 Financial liabilities 

 
The Bank recognises a financial liability on its statement of financial position when it becomes a party 
ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǳŀƭ ǇǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘΦ  ¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜ ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ 
liabilities which are not at fair value through profit or loǎǎ όŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ ΨhǘƘŜǊ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎΩύ ǳƴŘŜǊ L!{ офΦ  
Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, being the 
fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or the issue of the financial liability.  These liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.  The Bank derecognises a financial liability from its statement of financial position when 
the obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is discharged, is cancelled or expires. 
 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise principally debt securities in issue, borrowed 
funds and other liabilities (Note 1.13). 
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1.13 Other liabilities 

 
Other liabilities comprise obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the 
ordinary course of business.  Other liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 
one year or less.  If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.  
 
Other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. 

1.14 Financial guarantee contracts 

 
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in 
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are issued by the Bank to 
financial institutions and other entities on behalf of customers to secure micro-loans and other credit 
related products. 
 
Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value, which is 
normally evidenced by the amount of fees received, on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent 
ǘƻ ƛƴƛǘƛŀƭ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǘƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǎǳŎƘ ƎǳŀǊŀƴǘŜŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜŘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ƘƛƎƘŜǊ ƻŦ όƛύ ǘƘŜ 
initial measurement amount less amortisation calculated to recognise in the income statement the fee 
income earned over the life of the guarantee and (ii) the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle any financial obligation arising out of the commitment at the end of each reporting period. These 
estimates are determined based on experience of similar transactions and history of past losses, 
ǎǳǇǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƧǳŘƎƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΦ !ƴȅ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ 
financial guarantee contracts is reflected in profit or loss. 

1.15 Interest income and expense  

 
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within 
ΨƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƛƴŎƻƳŜΩ ŀƴŘ ΨƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ŜȄǇŜƴǎŜΩ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ƻǊ ƭƻǎǎ ǳǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƳŜǘƘƻŘΦ 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a 
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, 
the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does 
not consider future credit losses.  The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between 
parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all 
other premiums or discounts. 
 
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an 
impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future 
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 

Loan origination fees received by the Bank for loans which are probable of being drawn down, are an 
integral part of generating an involvement with the resulting financial instrument and, together with 
the related direct costs, are deferred and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on 
the loan using the effective interest method. 
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¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƛƴŎƻƳŜ ǎǘǊŜŀƳǎ Ŏƻƴǎƛǎǘ ƻŦ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎ ŦŜŜǎΣ ǊŜǎŎƘŜŘǳƭƛƴƎ ŦŜŜǎ όŎƘŀǊƎŜŘ ǿƘŜƴ ŀ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊ 
applies to extend the repayment date) reminder fees (charged reminder actions effected with respect 
to a loan) and other fees charged on revolving credit products.  All these fees are considered to be an 
integral part of the effective interest rate of the loans and advances taking cognisance of the nature of 
these fees, the purposes for which these fees are assessed and the substance of the services provided.  
Accordingly these fees are amortised to profit or loss using the effective interest method over the 
expected term of the instrǳƳŜƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ΨLƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ŀƴŘ ǎƛƳƛƭŀǊ ƛƴŎƻƳŜΩΦ 

1.16 Fees and commissions  

 

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. 

Fee and commission expense, relating mainly to transaction and service fees and sales commissions, are 

expensed as the services are rendered. 

1.17 Leases 

 

The Bank is the lessee 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor 
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the 
lease. 

1.18 Cash and cash equivalents 

  
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at face value. Cash and cash 

ŜǉǳƛǾŀƭŜƴǘǎ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎŜ ōŀƭŀƴŎŜǎ ǿƛǘƘ ƭŜǎǎ ǘƘŀƴ ǘƘǊŜŜ ƳƻƴǘƘǎΩ ƳŀǘǳǊƛǘȅ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ŘŀǘŜ ƻŦ ŀŎǉǳƛǎƛǘƛƻƴΣ 

including cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments 

with original maturities of three months or less, together with borrowed funds having the same 

maturity. 

1.19 Dividend distribution 

 
5ƛǾƛŘŜƴŘ ŘƛǎǘǊƛōǳǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳǇΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ ƛǎ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜŘ ŀǎ ŀ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ 

statements in the period in which the obligation to pay a dividend is established. 
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2.  Financial risk management 
 

2.1 Financial risk factors  

 
¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŜȄǇƻǎŜ ƛǘ ǘƻ ŀ ǾŀǊƛŜǘȅ ƻŦ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ Ǌƛǎƪǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜǎŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƛƴǾƻƭǾŜ ǘƘŜ ŀƴŀƭȅǎƛǎΣ 
evaluation, ŀŎŎŜǇǘŀƴŎŜ ŀƴŘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǎƻƳŜ ŘŜƎǊŜŜ ƻŦ Ǌƛǎƪ ƻǊ ŎƻƳōƛƴŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǊƛǎƪǎΦ ¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŀƛƳ 
is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on 
ǘƘŜ ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜΦ 

The Board of directors oversees credit, market, funding and liquidity, operational and strategic business 
risks. The Bank has developed an integrated risk management framework to identify, assess, manage 
and report risks and risk adjusted returns. 

¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ Ǌƛǎƪ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ are designed to identify and analyse risks, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to date 
information systems. The Board is responsible for the overall effectiveness of the risk management 
ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ƘƻǿŜǾŜǊ ŎŀǊǊƛŜŘ ƻǳǘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǘŜŀƳΦ   

¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ![/h ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴΣ ŎƻǾŜǊŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ 9ȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜΣ ƛǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜ ŦƻǊ ƳŀƴŀƎƛƴƎ 
assets, liabilities and the overall financial position and is also responsible for the management of 
ŦǳƴŘƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ƭƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ ǊƛǎƪǎΦ ¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ Ǌƛǎƪ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴ Ƙŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƻǾŜǊŀƭƭ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 
ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ Ǌƛǎƪ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ Ǌƛǎƪ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇƭŜǎΣ ŦǊŀƳŜǿƻǊƪΣ Ǉolicies 
and related limits.    

(a) Credit risk 

 
The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss 
ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪ ōȅ ŦŀƛƭƛƴƎ ǘƻ ŘƛǎŎƘŀǊƎŜ ŀƴ ƻōƭƛƎŀǘƛƻƴΦ  /ǊŜŘƛǘ Ǌƛǎƪ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ Ƴƻǎǘ ƛƳǇƻǊǘŀƴǘ Ǌƛǎƪ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ 
business; accordingly management carefully manages its exposure to this risk. Credit exposures arise 
ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭƭȅ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƛƴ ǾŀǊƛƻǳǎ 9ǳǊƻǇŜŀƴ ŎƻǳƴǘǊƛŜǎΣ ǘƻƎŜǘƘŜǊ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ 
placement of liquidity with banks domiciled in Malta and other European countries.  The Bank is also 
exposed to credit risk arising from the issuance of financial guarantee contracts to entities granting 
micro-loans and other related credit products to individuals located in certain European countries. 
Credit exposures through advances to group undertakings located in Finland also give rise to credit risk.   

¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ Ǌƛǎƪ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ƻƴ-balance sheet financial assets analysed by IAS 
39 categorisation, reflecting the maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit 
enhancements, are as follows: 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

Loans and receivables:   

   Balances with Central Bank of Malta (Note 4) 182  

   Loans and advances to banks (Note 5) 3,704,583 3,043,304 

   Loans and advances to customers (Note 6) 43,203,453 16,370,257 

   Loans and advances to group companies (Note 7) - 1,360,845 

   Other financial assets (Note 10) 2,457,861 311,380 

   
    49,366,079 21,085,786 
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The exposures set out in the table above are based on carrying amounts as reported in the statement of 
financial position for on-balance sheet financial assets. The table represents a worst case scenario of 
credit risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2015 and 2014, without taking account of any 
collateral held or any other credit enhancements attached. 

Off-balance sheet instruments - Credit related commitments 

The Bank, through its credit granting operations in certain territories, issues financial guarantee 
contracts, which require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it 
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a 
loan instrument. Such financial guarantees are issued by the Bank to financial institutions and other 
entities on behalf of customers to secure micro-loans and other credit related products. Financial 
guarantees represent irrevocable assurances to make payments in the event that a customer cannot 
meet its obligations to third parties, and carry the same credit risk as loans.  At 31 December 2015, 
financial guarantee contracts issued and still outstanding covered loan assets with an amount of 
ϵмΣмртΣнтт όнлмп ϵмΣнфпΣпрнύΦ 

Credit risk management principles for significant financial assets and risk concentrations 

In order to manage its principal risk exposures arising from its activities the Bank compiles and updates 
due diligence reports in respect of individually significant financial assets, particularly with respect to 
loans and advances to banks and group companies.  The creditworthiness of individually significant 
counterparties or customers is formally evaluated and appropriate exposure limits are established in 
this respect.  Credit review procedures are designed to identify at an early stage individually significant 
exposures which require more detailed monitoring and review.  Exposure to credit risk is managed 
through regular analysis of the ability of such counterparties and potential counterparties to meet 
interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing the exposure limits where deemed 
appropriate.  The Bank manages adherence to limits by reference to reporting mechanisms covering 
exposures, and controls concentrations of risk wherever they are identified. 

The Bank monitors significant exposures on an individual basis throughout the different stages of the 
cycle from approval upon origination to ongoing monitoring until maturity.  The Bank focuses on the 
compilation, together with ongoing and event-driven updating, of due diligence analyses taking 
cognisance of actual account developments, repayment history, ability to meet commitments and 
collateral measurement if applicable.  

¢ƘŜ ƎŜƻƎǊŀǇƘƛŎŀƭ ŎƻƴŎŜƴǘǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŀǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ƛǎ 
analysed below.  For the purposes of this analysis, the Bank has allocated exposures to regions based on 
the country of domicile of the respective customers or counterparties. At 31 December 2015, loans and 
advances to banks were placed with banks domiciled in the following countries: 

 2015 2014 
 ϵ ϵ 
   
Malta 1,858,613 2,032,864 

Czech Republic  540,487  375,930 

Slovakia  293,416  315,346 

Latvia  261,868  - 

Germany  234,393  - 

Poland  202,545  319,164 

France  150,950  - 

Bulgaria  60,215  - 

Estonia  59,996  - 

Finland  42,100  - 

       3,704,583 3,043,304 
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   ¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ǘƻ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ ŀǎ ŀǘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмр ŀǊŜ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭƭȅ ƭƛƴƪŜŘ ǘƻ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ 
and related operations in Poland (41%) (2014: 48%), Sweden (22%) (2014: 10%), Czech Republic (17%) 
(2014: 17%) and Latvia (12%) (2014: 10%). The remaining exposures arise in other European countries, 
namely Estonia, Slovakia, Bulgaria, Germany, Norway and France.   

At 31 December 2015 and 2014, loans and advances to and from group companies consisted of 
advances with an undertaking registered in Finland.  

Loans and advances to customers 

¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎŜ ǘƘŜ ƎǊŀƴǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ǎƘƻǊǘ-term micro-loans, other medium-term 
credit products and revolving micro-credit facilities (mainly unsecured) to individual customers in 
specific European jurisdictions.  All loans to customers are granted on the basis of the outcome of the 
scoring model, depending on the loan type, and the rules embedded within the credit policy.  Each 
lending transaction and the related agreement are determined on the strength of an individual credit 
ŘŜŎƛǎƛƻƴΦ  !ƭƭ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ŘŜŎƛǎƛƻƴǎ ŀǊŜ ƘŀƴŘƭŜŘ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎŜŘ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ƭƻŀƴ ƘŀƴŘƭƛƴƎ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ 
through the application of both automated and manual processes.  The creditworthiness of potential 
customers is assessed by reference to the calculation of a credit score for each loan application 
received.  The relevant credit score is computed through the application scorecard for first time 
customers and through the behaviour scorecard for repeat customers.  Based on the credit score 
registered, customers are grouped into risk classes.  The respective risk class determines the maximum 
credit amount allowable for each customer. The scoring model and linked scorecards are developed 
and maintained centrally by the management team of the Bank.  These are applied in all jurisdictions in 
which the Bank operates with specific adaptations at country level taking cognisance of the different 
characteristics of each market; with the adaptations being centrally approved. 

The scorecards are reviewed on a monthly basis by the management team of the Bank and updated 
according to market trends, political circumstances in the particular jurisdiction, legislative and socio-
economic changes. 

Prior to generation of internal scores, automated credit policy checks or underwriting actions are 
ŎŀǊǊƛŜŘ ƻǳǘ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƭƻŀƴ ƘŀƴŘƭƛƴƎ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ ǊŜŦŜǊǊƛƴƎ ǘƻ ŦŀŎǘƻǊǎ ŜƳŀƴŀǘƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ 
ǊǳƭŜǎ ǎǳŎƘ ŀǎ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀƴǘΩǎ ŀƎŜΣ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ ƻǳǘǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎ ƭƻŀƴǎΣ ŜȄƛǎǘŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ ŘǳǇƭƛŎŀǘŜ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴǎΣ 
reference to .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊ ōƭŀŎƪƭƛǎǘΣ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎ ƭƻŀƴ ǊŜǇŀȅƳŜƴǘ ōŜƘŀǾƛƻǳǊ ŀƴŘ ƭƛƴƪŀƎŜ ǘƻ 
external collection company information.   These automated underwriting actions generate an internal 
credit score for the customer.  Subsequently, specifically designed manual underwriting actions are 
carried out to finalise the loan application review and decision making process.   These manual 
underwriting actions comprise requests for checks in relation to existence of bad debts reported by 
credit agencies, requests for external credit scoring checks with a view to checking external sources of 
credit information about the client, and requests for additional checks in respect of certain customer 
details.  The outcome of these manual underwriting actions is automatically reflected in the loan 
handling system and updates the scorecard in an automated manner.  If the scored or approved 
amount is higher than or equal to the requested amount, the loan is then automatically approved. 
Otherwise, the loan is automatically approved up to the scored amount.  The latter decision can be 
exceptionally overridden by management in specific circumstances and subject to certain conditions 
such that the amount granted is higher than the scored amount.    
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¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻ ƛǎ ŀǎǎŜǎǎed for impairment on a collective basis as the portfolio consists of a 
large pool of homogeneous loans according to loan type which by nature cannot be considered 
individually significant.  The Bank utilises roll-rate methodology employing statistical analyses of 
historical data and experience of delinquency and default to estimate the amount of loans that will 
eventually be written off as a result of the events occurring before the reporting date.  Under this 
methodology, loans are grouped into ranges according to the number of days past due and statistical 
analysis is used to estimate the likelihood that loans in each range will progress through the various 
stages of delinquency, and ultimately prove irrecoverable.  The estimated loss is the difference between 
the present value of expected future cash flows, taking cognisance of expected portfolio sales prices, 
and the carrying amount of the portfolio. 

Loan rescheduling is a concession which could be granted by the Bank, in certain circumstances, in 
responsŜ ǘƻ ŀ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊΩǎ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘΦ  ¦ƴŘŜǊ ŎŜǊǘŀƛƴ ǎǇŜŎƛŦƛŜŘ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎΣ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǎ ƭƻŀƴ 
rescheduling to borrowers by agreeing to modify the contractual payment terms of loans in order to 
improve the management of customer relationships, maximise collection opportunities and, if possible, 
avoid default. Rescheduling occurs when a customer applies to extend the loan repayment date, subject 
to the immediate payment of a rescheduling fee.  Rescheduling is only granted in situations where the 
customer has showed a willingness to repay the loan and is expected to be able to meet the obligation 
ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǘŜƴǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ǇŜǊƛƻŘΦ  ¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ǎŜǘǎ ƻǳǘ ǊŜǎǘǊƛŎǘƛƻƴǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ 
number of rescheduling measures together with the minimum period of the BŀƴƪΩǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴǎƘƛǇ ǿƛǘƘ 
the customer before a rescheduling measure can be considered.  Rescheduling usually takes place 
before due date, but the rescheduling option is also available after the due date.   

The Bank has a formal rigorous debt collection policy outlining the manner in which the Bank deals with 
past due loans and advances.  This policy has been approved by the Bank for use within the operations 
in the respective territories with formal documented adaptations for the respective territories. The 
policy highlights the prescribed actions, channels and mechanisms utilised to follow up on outstanding 
exposures indicating the precise point in time at which the respective actions are taken and allocating 
roles and responsibilities within the Bank in this respect.  The collection policy focuses on the extent to 
which collection activities are carried out by the Bank and the stage or phase at which external 
collection companies are utilised. 

The revised Banking Rule BR/09: Measures Addressing Credit Risks Arising from the Assessment of the 
Quality of Asset Portfolios of Credit Institutions Authorised under the Maltese Banking Act, 1994 
requires banks to allocate funds to the General Banking Risks reserve for cover against potential risks 
ƭƛƴƪŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩs non-performing loans and advances. This allocation is to occur over a three-year 
period, with a 30% allocation during the financial year ended 31 December 2013, and a 30% allocation 
both in the financial years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015.   The current year 
ŀƭƭƻŎŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƳƻǳƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ ϵпоуΣффт όнлмпΥ ϵфмΣоунύ ǘŀƪƛƴƎ ŎƻƎƴƛǎŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƴƻƴ-performing portion of 
the loans portfolio at 31 December 2015. 

Information on credit quality of loans and advances to customers 

 The Bank reviews and grades advances to customers using the following internal risk grades: 

 Performing 

- Regular 
- Watch 
- Substandard 

  

 Non-performing 

- Doubtful 
- Loss 
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 Regular  

¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ǘƻ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀǊŜ ŎŀǘŜƎƻǊƛǎŜŘ ŀǎ ΨwŜƎǳƭŀǊΩ ŀǊŜ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭƭȅ ŘŜōǘǎ ƛƴ 
respect of which payment is not overdue by 30 days and no recent history of customer default exists. 
Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these customers, which are 
considered as fully performing. 

Watch 

Loans and advances that attract this category principally comprise those where payment becomes 
overdue by 30 days and over but not exceeding 60 days. 

Substandard 

Exposures that are categorised within this category comprise those where payment becomes overdue 
by 60 days and over but not exceeding 90 days. 

Doubtful 

[ƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀǘǘǊŀŎǘ ŀ Ψ5ƻǳōǘŦǳƭΩ ƎǊŀŘƛƴƎ ŀǊŜ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭƭȅ ǘƘƻǎŜ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ƛƴ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘ ƻŦ ǿƘƛŎƘ 
repayment becomes overdue by 90 days and over but not exceeding 180 days. 

Loss 

Loans and advances in respect of which payment becomes overdue by 180 days. 

 

Gross loans and advances to customers analysed by internal ratings: 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Regular 34,339,137 7,609,902 

Watch (up to 60 days past due) 1,865,988 3,431,809 

Substandard (between 60 and 90 days past due) 2,347,464 916,100 

Doubtful (between 90 and 180 days past due) 5,272,742 1,925,201 

Loss (over 180 days past due) 17,569,882 9,115,739 

       61,395,213 22,998,751 

   
    
!ǎ ƻǳǘƭƛƴŜŘ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎƭȅΣ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻ ƛǎ ŀǎǎŜǎǎŜŘ ŦƻǊ ƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘ ƻƴ ŀ collective basis as the 
portfolio consists of a large pool of homogeneous loans which by nature cannot be considered 
individually significant. The collective assessment is carried out at country or territory level taking 
cognisance of the different characteristics of the respective markets. No specific provisions for 
impairment have been recognised during the current and preceding financial periods accordingly. 

!ǎ ŀǘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмрΣ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ǘƻ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ϵнтΣлрсΣлтс όнлмпΥ 
ϵмрΣоууΣу49) were deemed to be past due (and not deemed individually impaired), taking cognisance of 
the manner in which the Bank practically manages its collection activities. A financial asset is past due 
when a customer has failed to effect payment when contractually due, but normally, given the nature 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻΣ ǘƘŜ Ǉŀǎǘ ŘǳŜ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ƛǎ ƴƻǘ ŦƻǊƳŀƭƭȅ ŀǎǎƛƎƴŜŘ ǳƴǘƛƭ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ƛǎ ƳƻǊŜ ǘƘŀƴ 
60 days past due. An ageing analysis of these past due loans and advances is accordingly presented 
within the table above. 
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¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪ ƘŜƭŘ ǊŜƴŜƎƻǘƛŀǘŜŘ ƻǊ ǊŜǎŎƘŜŘǳƭŜŘ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ǘƻ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ϵсΣрмнΣмпт 
όнлмпΥ ϵоΣмууΣрсрύ ŀǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ǇŜǊƛƻŘΦ ¢ƘŜǎŜ ŀǊŜ ŀƴŀƭȅǎŜŘ ōŜƭƻǿ ōȅ ŀƎŜƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ 
geographical location: 

  Still 

  outstanding 

   

Decembe 

at  28 April 

 2015 2016 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Up to 60 days past due 3,717,724  939,749  

Between 60 and 90 days past due 367,295  244,670  

Between 90 and 180 days past due 899,313  755,057  

Over 180 days past due 1,527,815  1,408,702  

       6,512,147 3,348,178 

   
    

  Still 
  outstanding 
   

Decembe 

at  13 May 
 2014 2015 
 ϵ ϵ 
   
Up to 60 days past due 880 80 
Between 60 and 90 days past due 35,810 7,191 
Between 90 and 180 days past due 1,828,252 534,929 
Over 180 days past due 1,323,623 1,127,327 
       3,188,565 1,669,527 

   
    

 

 

2015 2014 
 ϵ ϵ 
   
Poland 2,037,869 1,091,360 
Czech Republic 2,231,067 843,858 
Sweden 224,038 28,745 
Slovakia 1,732,787 1,024,290 
Latvia 266,312 159,982 
Estonia 20,074 40,330 
       6,512,147 3,188,565 
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Lƴ ǾƛŜǿ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƴŀǘǳǊŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻΣ ŀǎ ŀǘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмрΣ ƴƻ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ǘƻ 
customers were deemed to be large exposures, prior to any eligible exemptions, in accordance with the 
requirements of Part Four of the Capital Requirements Regulations (CRR), Large Exposures. 

Use of collateral 

²ƛǘƘ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘ ǘƻ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀǘƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƛƴ ŀ ǇŀǊǘƛŎǳƭŀǊ ŎƻǳƴǘǊȅΣ 
which loans comprise approximately 1.0% (2014: 5%) of the .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻ ŀǎ ŀǘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ 
2015, the Bank is the holder of financial guarantee contracts issued by other parties.  These financial 
guarantee contracts require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it 
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due.  Since a financial guarantee 
contract represents a guarantee on an individual loan entered into with the loan contract and is 
essentially a pre-condition for granting the respective loan, the guarantee effectively forms part of the 
ǘŜǊƳǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƭƻŀƴΦ  LƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘ ŎƘŀǊƎŜǎ ŀǊŜ ŎŀƭŎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ ǎǳŎƘ ƭƻŀƴǎ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ 
accounting policy, but any impairment charges are reflected net of the financial guarantee 
reimbursement. This reimbursement gives rise to the recognition of a receivable from the issuer of the 
financial guarantee contract. 

Loans and advances to banks 

In the normal course of business, the Bank places funds and carries out transactions through 
correspondent accounts with high credit quality local listed banks and international banks having a very 
high credit rating, subject to the operational requirements and the application of a limit framework.  
Accordingly, such exposures are monitored through the practical use of exposure limits. In certain 
countries, the Bank had to utilise unrated banks for placement of surplus liquidity, in view of the profile 
of the banking sector in those territories. The Bank would carry out a comprehensive due diligence on 
such banks, prior to engaging with such banks and on an event-driven basis throughout the term of the 
relationship. ¢ƘŜ ǘŀōƭŜǎ ōŜƭƻǿ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ŀƴ ŀƴŀƭȅǎƛǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ǘƻ ōŀƴƪǎ ōȅ ǊŀǘƛƴƎ 
agency designation at 31 December 2015 and 2014, based on Fitch credit ratings or their equivalent: 

 Loans and 
 advances 
 to banks 
2015 ϵ 
AA- 42,100 
A 134,404 
A- 495,044 
BBB+ 1,009,399 
BBB- 52,583 
BB+ 159,663 
Unrated 1,811,390 
  
  Total 3,704,583 
  

 

  2014 ϵ 
A+ 9,168 
A 182,150 
A- 15,294 
BBB+ 1,508,557 
BBB- 99,858 
D+ 62,051 
Unrated 1,166,226 
  
  Total 3,043,304 
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Loans and advances (from)/to group companies 

The advances (from)/to a group undertaking, Ferratum Capital Oy, which were outstanding at 31 
December 2015 and 2014, and which were deemed to be fully performing, were considered to be a 
large exposure for regulatory reporting purposes, prior to any eligible exemptions, in accordance with 
the requirements of Part Four of the Capital Requirements Regulations (CRR), Large Exposures. These 
advances were primarily secured against the entire micro loan portfolio of all group companies that 
operate in the micro finance business. Under the terms of the funding arrangement in place with the 
group company, the Bank effects advances denominated in euro to the group entity with respect to the 
.ŀƴƪΩǎ ǎǳǊǇƭǳǎ ƭƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ ōƻǊǊƻǿǎ ŦǳƴŘǎ ŘŜƴƻƳƛƴŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ tƻƭƛǎƘ ½ƭƻǘȅΣ /ȊŜŎƘ YƻǊǳƴŀΣ {ǿŜŘƛǎƘ YǊƻƴŀ 
ŀƴŘ bƻǊǿŜƎƛŀƴ YǊƻƴŀ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜǎ ƻŦ ŦǳƴŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƛƴ ǎǇŜŎƛŦƛŎ ǘŜǊǊƛǘƻǊƛŜǎ 
giving rise to exposures in those foreign currencies.  The funding arrangement contemplates an 
ƻŦŦǎŜǘǘƛƴƎ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŜǳǊƻ ƭƻŀƴǎ ǘƻΣ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ ōƻǊǊƻǿƛƴƎǎ ŦǊƻƳΣ ǘƘŜ 
group company.  The euro loans are subject to a fixed interest rate of 3% per annum, whereas 
borrowings denominated in Polish Zloty Czech Koruna, Swedish Krona and Norwegian Krona are subject 
ǘƻ ŀ ŦƛȄŜŘ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜ ƻŦ у҈ όнлмпΥ мм҈ύ ǇŜǊ ŀƴƴǳƳΦ ¦ƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǘŜǊƳǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦǳƴŘƛƴƎ 
arrangement with the group company, referred to above, the group company has also committed to 
provide cover to the Bank from any realised and unrealised gains or losses arising on foreign currencies 
ŀǎ ŀ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΣ ƛƴ ŎŜǊǘŀƛƴ ǘŜǊǊƛǘƻǊƛŜǎΣ ŘŜƴƻƳƛƴŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǎǇŜŎƛŦƛŎ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ 
currencies taking cognisance of the funding obtained by the Bank in those currencies. 

Credit related commitments 

The Bank issues financial guarantee contracts to other parties that grant micro-loans and other short-
term credit products. Financial guarantees represent irrevocable assurances to make payments in the 
event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, and carry the same credit risk as 
ƭƻŀƴǎΦ ¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ Ǌƛǎƪ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŦǊŀƳŜǿƻǊƪ ŀǇǇƭƛŜŘ ǘƻ ƛǎǎǳŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ƳƛŎǊƻ-loans and related 
products, described in detail in the preceding sections, is utilised for management of issuance of 
guarantee contracts.  The entire micro-loan underwriting cycle from approval to monitoring is 
considered appropriate for financial guarantee contracts as in substance the issuance of such 
guarantees, covering micro-lending, is essentially considered to be micro-lending. 

(b) Market risk 

 

 The Bank takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open 
positions in currency and interest rate products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market 
movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as foreign exchange 
rates and interest rates. 
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Foreign exchange risk 

 

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange 
rates on its financial position and cash flows.  Foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings and value 
caused by a change in foreign exchange rates.  Foreign exchange risk arises when financial assets or 
ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜ ŘŜƴƻƳƛƴŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎƛŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŀǊŜ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴǘ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴŀƭ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ όŜǳǊƻύΣ 
principally in Polish Zloty, Czech Koruna, Swedish Krona, Norwegian Krona and Bulgarian Lev.  However, 
the Bank is not in substance exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates with respect to the Bulgarian Lev 
as this currency is pegged to the euro. During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Bank 
extended its lending and other credit related activities to a number of other European countries which 
have the Euro as their functioning currency.  

 
The Bank manages its currency risk on an ongoing basis by ensuring that foreign currency liabilities are 
utilised to fund assets denominated in the same foreign currency thereby matching asset and liability 
positions as much as is practicable.  In relation to the resultant asset and liability foreign currency 
position mismatching, the Bank has entered into an agreement with a group company to provide cover 
to the Bank from realised and unrealised exchange differences. 

 
¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜǎ ǘƻ tƻƭƛǎƘ ½ƭƻǘȅΣ /ȊŜŎƘ YƻǊǳƴŀΣ {ǿŜŘƛǎƘ YǊƻƴŀ ŀƴŘ bƻǊǿŜƎƛŀƴ YǊƻƴŀ ŀǊƛǎŜ ŦǊƻƳ ƛǘǎ 
lending and credit related activities in Poland, Czech Republic, Sweden and Norway respectively, as the 
ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎ ŀǊŜ ŘŜƴƻƳƛƴŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŀǘ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅΦ  ¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƻǾŜǊŀƭƭ 
objective is to fund the activities in these countries in the same local currency.  Accordingly the Bank 
has entered into a funding arrangement with a group company, whereby the group company 
ŎƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪ ƛƴ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎƛŜǎ ǘƻ ŦǳƴŘ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ 
denominated in specific foreign currencies in particular territories.  Under the terms of the same 
agreement, the Bank effects advances denominated in euro to the group company; the arrangement 
contemplates the offsetting of these euro advances against the foreign currency loan liabilities referred 
to above. The Bank also has a funding arrangement with a third party corporate with respect to 
borrowings in a specific currency to fund the lending activities in a particular country.   
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¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ǇŜǊƛƻŘǎ ŀǊŜ ŀƴŀƭȅǎŜŘ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘƛǾŜ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎƛŜǎ ƛn the following tables.  

 Total EUR PLN SEK CZK BGL NOK Other 

 ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ 

As at 31 December 2015         

Financial assets         

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 182 182 - - - - - - 

Loans and advances to banks 3,704,583 1,609,754 213,598 1,121,948 551,531 60,215 53,519 94,018 

Loans and advances to customers 43,203,453 8,115,138 17,816,295 9,314,816 7,324,849 410,386 221,969 - 

Other assets 2,535,666 959,012 - 

 

899,944 253,334 423,376 - - 

         
         
Total financial assets 49,443,884 10,684,086 18,029,893 11,336,708 8,129,714 893,977 275,488 94,018 

         
         Financial liabilities         

Borrowed funds 345,484 119,408 - 226,076 - - - - 

Amounts owed to customers 2,783 2,126 - 542 - - - 115 

Debt securities in issue 20,143,271 20,143,271 - - - - - - 

Loans and advances from/(to) group companies 3,556,593 (12,784,179) 2,575,562 9,656,449 3,816,375 - 292,386 - 

Other liabilities 7,132,099 5,058,010 1,567,180 203,956 288,309 - 14,644 - 

 ,,,        
         
Total financial liabilities 31,180,230 12,538,636 4,142,742 10,087,023 4,104,684 - 307,030 115 

         
         
Net currency exposure in financial assets/liabilities  18,263,654 (1,854,550) 13,887,151 1,249,685 4,025,030 893,977 (31,542) 93,903 

         
         Commitments and contingent liabilities 1,496,947 339,670 - - - 1,157,277 - - 
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 Total EUR PLN SEK CZK BGL Other 

 ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ 

As at 31 December 2014        

Financial assets        

Loans and advances to banks 3,043,304 1,804,211 319,164 535,130 375,631 9,168 - 

Loans and advances to customers 16,370,257 3,995,515 7,859,960 1,672,958 2,741,316 100,508 - 

Loans and advances to/(from) group companies 1,360,845 4,671,786 (907,841) - (2,403,100) - - 

Other assets 327,638 144,237 30,771 885 57,415 94,330 - 

        
        
Total financial assets 21,102,044 10,615,749 7,302,054 2,208,973 771,262 204,006 - 

        
                

Financial liabilities        

Borrowed funds 4,218,723 2,653,357 - 1,565,366 - - - 

Other liabilities 3,230,264 1,243,331 682,172 765,083 531,177 - 8,501 

        
        
Total financial liabilities 7,448,987 3,896,688 682,172 2,330,449 531,177 - 8,501 

        
                
Net currency exposure in financial assets/liabilities  13,653,057 6,719,061 6,619,882 (121,476) 240,085 204,006 (8,501) 

        
        Commitments and contingent liabilities 1,473,542 352,354 - - - 1,121,188 - 
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Under the scenario that the euro appreciates by 5% (2014: 5%) against all relevant currencies, the 
ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ŀ ŘŜŎǊŜŀǎŜ ƻŦ ϵмΣллмΣллл όнлмпΥ ϵоотΣлллύ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƴŜǘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ 
assets with the adverse impact recognised in profit or loss. Should the euro depreciate against all 
relevant currencies by 5% (20мпΥ р҈ύΣ ǘƘŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ŀ Ǝŀƛƴ ƻŦ ϵмΣллмΣллл όнлмпΥ ϵоотΣлллύ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 
carrying amount of the net financial assets and the favourable impact would be recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 
The ALCO function, through the Executive Committee, actively monitors thŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƴŜǘ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜǎ ǘƻ 
foreign currencies by currency, by analysing the information on financial instruments as reflected in the 
tables above and by performing sensitivity analysis, given the significance of such risk to the financial 
performance of the .ŀƴƪΦ ¦ƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǘŜǊƳǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦǳƴŘƛƴƎ ŀǊǊŀƴƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳǇ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΣ 
referred to above, the group company has also committed to provide cover to the Bank from any 
realised and unrealised gains or losses arising on foreign currencies as a result ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ 
activities, in certain territories, denominated in specific foreign currencies taking cognisance of the 
funding obtained by the Bank in those currencies. During the year, the Bank incurred net foreign 
ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ƭƻǎǎŜǎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ϵтпΣнло όнлмпΥ ϵмсмΣмолύΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǿŜǊŜ ōƻǊƴŜ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳǇ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΦ   

Interest rate risk 
 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  
 
¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜǎ ǘƻ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜ Ǌƛǎƪ ŀǎ ŀǘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ ŀǊŜ ŀƴŀƭȅǎŜŘ ōŜƭƻǿΥ 

 
 Floating Fixed Non-interest  
 rates rates bearing Total 
 ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ 
At 31 December 2015     
     
Loans and receivables:     
Balances with Central Bank of Malta - - 182 182 

  Loans and advances to banks 226,265 - 3,478,318 3,704,583 
  Loans and advances to customers - 43,203,453 - 43,203,453 
     
      226,265 43,203,453 3,478,500 46,908,218 
     
          
Borrowed funds - (226,076) (119,408) (345,484) 
Amounts owed to customers - (204) (2,579) (2,783) 
Debt securities in issue -  (19,705,627)  (437,644) (20,143,271) 
Loans and advances from group companies -  (3,110,954)  (445,639) (3,556,593) 
     
     
 - (23,042,861) (1,005,270) (24,048,131) 

    
 

 
          
Net exposure 226,265 20,160,592 2,473,230 22,860,087 
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 Floating Fixed Non-interest  
 rates rates bearing Total 
 ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ 
At 31 December 2014     
     
Loans and receivables:     
  Loans and advances to banks 1,398,210 - 1,645,094 3,043,304  
  Loans and advances to customers - 16,370,257 - 16,370,257 
  Loans and advances to group companies - 1,360,845 - 1,360,845 
     
      1,398,210 17,731,102 1,645,094   20,774,406  
     
          
Borrowed funds (2,500,000) (1,565,366) (153,357)  (4,218,723) 
     
          
Net exposure (1,101,790) 16,165,736 1,491,737 16,555,683  
     
 

Financial instruments issued at fixed rates potentially expose the Bank to fair value interest rate risk. 
IƻǿŜǾŜǊΣ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ǘƻ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊǎΣ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ǘƻ ƎǊƻǳǇ ŎƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ 
borrowed funds are measured at amortised cost and are therefore not subject to fair value interest rate 
ǊƛǎƪΦ !ƭǎƻΣ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƻŀƴ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻ Ŏƻƴǎƛǎǘǎ ƻŦ ƳƛŎǊƻ-loans, revolving loans and similar credit products, 
and accordingly the short-ǘŜǊƳ ƴŀǘǳǊŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜǎŜ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ƳƛǘƛƎŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜǎ ǘƻ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ Ǌŀte 
risk.   
 
As reflected above, the Bank is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in respect of certain financial 
assets and liabilities which are subject to floating interest rates. Taking cognisance of the nature of the 
.ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƭƛŀōilities as described above, under the requirements of IFRS 7, a sensitivity 
ŀƴŀƭȅǎƛǎ ƛƴ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘ ƻŦ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ ƛǎ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘ ƛƴ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƴŜǘ ŦƭƻŀǘƛƴƎ ǊŀǘŜ 
instruments. These instruments are the net resultant of floating rate assets, which mainly constitute the 
.ŀƴƪΩǎ ǎǳǊǇƭǳǎ ƭƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ ǇƭŀŎŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ōŀƴƪǎΣ ŀƴŘ ŦƭƻŀǘƛƴƎ ǊŀǘŜ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎΣ ŎƻƴǎƛǎǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ŦǳƴŘǎ ōƻǊǊƻǿŜŘ 
from financial institutions, if applicable.  
 
Management monitors the level of floating rate net instruments as a measure of cash flow risk taken 
ƻƴΦ 9ȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ǎǳŎƘ Ǌƛǎƪ ǿŀǎ ƴƻǘ ŘŜŜƳŜŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ǎƛƴŎŜ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦƭƻŀǘƛƴƎ 
rate assets and liabilities are of a short term nature. Management considers the potential impact on 
profit or loss of a defined interest rate shift that is reasonably possible at the reporting date.   
 
At the end of the reporting periods, if interest rates had increased/decreased by 100 basis points 
(assuming a parallel shift of 100 basis points in yields) with all other variables held constant, the pre-tax 
result for the year would change by the following amounts determined by applying the shift to the net 
variable interest exposure of the Bank at the end of the reporting periods: 
 

 2015 2014 
 

 

ϵ ϵ 
   
(+) 100 bp 2,200 (11,018) 
   
   (-) 100 bp (200) 2,200 
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¢ƘŜ ǘŀōƭŜ ōŜƭƻǿ ŦǳǊǘƘŜǊ ŀƴŀƭȅǎŜǎ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜǎ ǘƻ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜ ǊƛǎƪΦ  Lǘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ǘƘŜ ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ 
financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by re-pricing dates, taking cognisance of the 
ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎΩ interest rate or maturity terms.  For interest bearing assets and liabilities which are subject 
to fixed interest rates, the re-pricing periods are equivalent to the remaining period to maturity. 

 

  Within one   

 Within year but   

 three over three More than  

 months months one year             Total 

 ϵ ϵ ϵ                   ϵ 

     

As at 31 December 2015     

     

Financial assets     

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 182 - -               182 

Loans and advances to banks 3,704,583 - -     3,704,583 

Loans and advances to customers 24,653,862 16,494,246 2,055,345   43,203,453 

 
      28,358,627 16,494,246 2,055,345   46,908,218 

     
          

Financial liabilities     

Borrowed funds (345,484) - -      (345,484) 

Amounts owed to customers (2,783) - -          (2,783) 

Debt securities in issue -  (437,644)  (19,705,627)  (20,143,271) 

Loans and advances     

from group companies - - (3,556,593)   (3,556,593) 

     
      (348,267) (437,644) (23,262,220) (24,048,131) 
 

          

Interest rate gap 28,010,360 16,056,602 (21,206,875)  

     
          

Cumulative gap 28,010,360 44,066,962 22,860,087  
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  Within one  

 Within year but  

 three over three  

 months months Total 

 ϵ ϵ ϵ 

    

As at 31 December 2014    

    

Financial assets    

Loans and advances to banks 3,043,304  - 3,043,304 

Loans and advances to customers 11,466,027 4,904,230 16,370,257 

Loans and advances to group companies 1,360,845 - 1,360,845 

    
     15,870,176 4,904,230  20,774,406 

    
        

Financial liabilities    

Borrowed funds (1,718,723) (2,500,000) (4,218,723) 

    
        

Interest rate gap 14,151,453 2,404,230  

    
        

Cumulative gap 14,151,453 16,555,683  

    
     

(c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence 
may be the failure to meet obligations to repay creditors and fulfil commitments. 

¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪ ƳŀƴŀƎŜǎ ǘƘƛǎ ǊƛǎƪΣ ōȅ ƳŀƛƴǘŀƛƴƛƴƎ ŀ ǎǘǊƻƴƎ ōŀǎŜ ƻŦ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ƛƴƛǘƛŀƭ 
stages of its operations.  The Bank manages its asset base with liquidity in mind, and monitors future 
cash flows and changes in available liquidity on a regular basis.  As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the 
.ŀƴƪΩǎ Ǉƻƻƭ ƻŦ ƭƛǉǳƛŘ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ Ŏƻƴǎƛǎǘǎ ƻŦ ōŀƭŀƴŎŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǇƭŀŎŜƳŜƴǘǎ ǿƛǘƘ ōŀƴƪǎΦ  ¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ 
liabilities comprise predominantly borrowed funds, debt securities in issue and other funding 
aǊǊŀƴƎŜƳŜƴǘǎ ǿƛǘƘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƛƴǎǘƛǘǳǘƛƻƴǎΦ  ¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƛǎ ǘƻ Ƴŀƛƴǘŀƛƴ ŀ ŎƻƳŦƻǊǘŀōƭŜ ƭŜǾŜƭ ƻŦ 
liquid assets by reference to outflows expected in relation to borrowed funds, debt securities in issue 
and other liabilities. 

Liquidity is managed by the .ŀƴƪΩǎ ǘǊŜŀǎǳǊȅ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎ 
includes:  

¶ monitoring of day to day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that 
requirements attributable to financial liabilities can be met;  

¶ monitoring liquidity ratios and benchmarks against internal and regulatory requirements; 

¶ placing its liquid assets as short-term deposits with other credit and financial institutions taking 
ŎƻƎƴƛǎŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƭŜǾŜƭ ƻŦ ŎƻƳƳƛǘƳŜƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƻǳǘŦƭƻǿǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƭƛŀōilities; and  

¶ ŜƴǎǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ƭŜǾŜƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭƛǉǳƛŘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŜȄŎŜŜŘǎ ǿƛǘƘ ŀ ŎƻƳŦƻǊǘŀōƭŜ ƳŀǊƎƛƴ ǘƘŜ 
ŜȄǇŜŎǘŜŘ ŎŀǎƘ ƻǳǘŦƭƻǿǎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ƻǾŜǊ ŀ ǎǇŜŎƛŦƛŜŘ ǘƛƳŜ ƘƻǊƛȊƻƴΦ 
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Monitoring takes the form of cash flow projections for the next day, week and month respectively, as 
these are key periods for liquidity management.  Management ensures that it maintains a prudent 
measure of anticipated total net cash outflows in high quality liquid assets for the purposes of securing 
a healthy liquidity margin, taking cognisance of the nature of its financial liabilities. 

The following table discloses financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period by 
remaining period to maturity.   

 

  Within one   

 Within  year but   

 three over three More than  

 months months one year Total 

 ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ 

As at 31 December 2015     

     

Financial assets     

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 182 - - 182 

Loans and advances to banks 3,704,583 - - 3,704,583 

Loans and advances to customers 24,653,862 16,494,246 2,055,345   43,203,453 

Other assets 2,457,861 - - 2,457,861 

     
      30,816,488 16,494,246 2,055,345 49,366,079 

     
          

Financial liabilities      

Borrowed funds (345,484) - - (345,484) 

Amounts owed to customers (2,783) - - (2,783) 

Debt securities in issue - (437,644) (19,705,627) (20,143,271) 

Loans and advances from     

   group companies - - (3,556,593) (3,556,593) 

Other liabilities (7,132,099) - - (7,132,099) 

     
      (7,480,366) (437,644) (23,262,220) (31,180,230) 

     
          

Maturity gap 23,336,122 16,056,602 (21,206,875)  

     
          

Cumulative gap 23,336,122 39,392,724 18,185,849  
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  Within one  

 Within year but  

 three over three  

 months months Total 

 ϵ ϵ ϵ 

As at 31 December 2014    

    

Financial assets    

Loans and advances to banks 3,043,304 - 3,043,304 

Loans and advances to customers  11,466,027 4,904,230 16,370,257 

Loans and advances to group companies 1,360,845 - 1,360,845 

Other assets 311,380 - 311,380 

    
     16,181,556 4,904,230 21,085,786 

    
        

Financial liabilities     

Borrowed funds (1,718,723) (2,500,000) (4,218,723) 

Other liabilities (3,230,264) - (3,230,264) 

    
     (4,948,987) (2,500,000) (7,448,987) 

    
    Maturity gap 11,232,569 2,404,230  

    
        

Cumulative gap 11,232,569 13,636,799  
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¢ƘŜ ǘŀōƭŜ ōŜƭƻǿ ŀƴŀƭȅǎŜǎ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ƛƴǘƻ ǊŜƭŜǾŀƴǘ ƳŀǘǳǊƛǘȅ ƎǊƻǳǇƛƴƎǎ ōŀǎŜŘ 
on the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The 
amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  

 

  Within    

  one    

 Within year but    

 three over three More than  Carrying 

 months months one year Total amount 

 ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ 

As at 31 December 2015      

Borrowed funds 349,701 - - 349,701 345,484 

Amounts owed to customers 2,783 - - 2,783 2,783 

Debt securities in issue -  981,196   20,492,832   21,474,028  20,143,271 

Loans and advances from group 
companies 

- - 5,277,029 5,277,029 3,556,593 

Other liabilities 7,132,099 - - 7,132,099 7,132,099 

      
       7,484,583 981,196 25,769,861 34,235,640 31,180,230 

      
            

As at 31 December 2014      

Borrowed funds 1,903,876 2,594,070 - 4,497,946 4,218,723 

Other liabilities 3,230,264 -    - 3,230,264 3,230,264 

      
       5,134,140 2,594,070 - 7,728,210 7,448,987 

      
       

(d) Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with 
ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎŜǎΣ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭΣ ǘŜŎƘƴƻƭƻƎȅ ŀƴŘ ƛƴŦǊŀǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜΣ ŀƴŘ ŦǊƻƳ ŜȄǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŦŀŎǘƻǊǎ other than 
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and 
ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭƭȅ ŀŎŎŜǇǘŜŘ ǎǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ƻŦ ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ ōŜƘŀǾƛƻǳǊΦ ¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ƛǎ ǇǊƛƳŀǊƛƭȅ 
responsible for the development and implementation of policies and procedures to ensure that 
operational risks are managed effectively. The Bank mitigates the possibility of impact risk events 
impacting the entity through the implementation of a business continuity plan, which encompasses risk 
mitigation achieved through back-up information security infrastructures, back-up disaster recovery 
sites and insurance covers over particular business risks.   Such mechanisms enable the Bank to operate 
on an ongoing basis and limit losses in the event of severe business disruption. 

The Bank currently uses the Basic Indicator Approach to assess its operational risk capital requirements 
and accordingly allocates 15% of average projected gross income for a three year period in accordance 
with the requirements of this approach. 
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2.2 Capital risk management 

¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜǎ ǿƘŜƴ ƳŀƴŀƎƛƴƎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ŀ ōǊƻŀŘŜǊ ŎƻƴŎŜǇǘ ǘƘŀƴ ΨŜǉǳƛǘȅΩ ŀǎ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ƛƴ 
the statement of financial position, are: 

¶ to comply with the capital requirements set by the Malta Financial Services Authority (MFSA); 

¶ ǘƻ ǎŀŦŜƎǳŀǊŘ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜ ŀǎ ŀ ƎƻƛƴƎ ŎƻƴŎŜǊƴ ǎƻ ǘƘŀǘ ƛǘ Ŏŀƴ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

¶ to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 
 

/ŀǇƛǘŀƭ ŀŘŜǉǳŀŎȅ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǳǎŜ ƻŦ ǊŜƎǳƭŀǘƻǊȅ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ŀǊŜ ƳƻƴƛǘƻǊŜŘ ƻƴ ŀƴ ƻƴƎƻƛƴƎ ōŀǎƛǎ ōȅ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ 
management, employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and 
the European Union Directives, as implemented by the MFSA for supervisory purposes. The level of 
hǿƴ ŦǳƴŘǎ ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘǎ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ŀƴŘ ǊŜǎŜǊǾŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜǎ ƻŦ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƛƴƎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ 
adequacy from a regulatory perspective. The capital adequacy ratio is a measure of the long-term 
financial strength of a bank, usually expressed as a ratio of its own funds or capital to the measure of 
ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ƻǊ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜǎΦ ¢ƘŜ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜǎ ŀ ōŀƴƪ ǘƻ Ƴŀƛƴǘŀƛƴ ŀ Ǌŀǘƛƻ ƻŦ ǘƻǘŀƭ ǊŜƎǳƭŀǘƻǊȅ 
capital to risk-weighted assets and instruments (the Capital requirements ratio) at or above the 
prescribed minimum of 8%.  The Bank has processes to ensure that the minimum regulatory 
requirements in relation to own funds are met at all times.  

The capital requirements ratio expresses own funds as a proportion of risk weighted assets and off-
balance sheet items in relation to credit risk together with notional risk weighted assets in respect of 
operational risk and market risk.   

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of risk weights classified according to 
the nature of ς and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with ς each asset 
and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees.  A similar treatment is 
adopted for off-balance sheet exposures, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature 
of the potential losses.  Accordingly, risk-weighted assets are measured using the "Standardised 
approach" for credit risk with risk weights being assigned to assets and off-balance sheet instruments 
according to their asset class and credit risk mitigation.  For the determination of credit assessments, 
reference is made to independent rating agencies where applicable. 

 
The following table shows the components of own funds and accordingly the basis of calculation of the 
.ŀƴƪΩǎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ŀŘŜǉǳŀŎȅ ǊŀǘƛƻΥ 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Share capital 10,000,000 10,000,000 

Other reserves   

    Reserve for General Banking Risks 535,605 96,608 

Retained earnings 4,362,774 2,345,324 

Less:   

    Intangible assets (360,268) - 

   
   Total original own funds/Total own funds 14,538,111 12,441,932 
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The table below summarises the computation of the regulatory capital ratio of the Bank as at the end of 
the reporting period.  During the financial year under review, the Bank complied with all the externally 
imposed capital requirements to which it was subject with a significant buffer over and above the 
prescribed minimum. 

 Notional Risk weighted 

 amount assets 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

As at 31 December 2015   

Credit risk:   

Balances with Central Bank of Malta 182 - 

Loans and advances to banks 3,704,583 1,390,726 

Loans and advances to customers 43,203,453 32,402,592 

Other assets 3,061,081 3,061,081 

Off-balance sheet items 1,157,277 867,958 

   
    51,126,576 37,722,357 

   

Operational risk   48,947,514 

   
   Total risk weighted assets  86,669,871 

   
   Own funds   14,538,111 

   
      

Capital requirements ratio    16.77% 

   
    

 Notional Risk weighted 

 amount assets 

 ϵ ϵ 

As at 31 December 2014   

Credit risk:   

Loans and advances to banks 3,043,304 864,545 

Loans and advances to customers 16,370,257  12,277,693 

Loans and advances to group companies 1,360,845 1,360,845 

Other assets 428,853 428,853 

Off-balance sheet items 1,294,452 970,839 

   
    22,497,711  15,902,775 

   

Operational risk   37,912,514 

   
   Total risk weighted assets  53,815,289 

   
   Own funds   12,441,932 

   
      

Capital requirements ratio    23.1% 
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2.3 Fair value of financial instruments 

At 31 December 2015 and 2014, the carrying amounts of loans and advances to banks, loans and 
advances to customers, other assets, borrowed funds, amounts owed to customers, debt securities in 
issue, loans and advances from group companies and other liabilities reflected in the financial 
statements are reasonable estimates of fair value in view of the nature of these instruments and the 
short period of time between the origination of the instruments and their expected realisation or 
liquidation.  

3.  Critical accounting estimates, and judgments in applying accounting policies 

 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other 
factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

In the opinion of the directors, the accounting estimates and judgments made in the course of 
preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would 
warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1, other than those related to 
calculating loan impairment allowances on collectively assessed loans and advances. The directors 
believe there are no areas involving a higher degree of judgment that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements; and there are no key assumptions and other key 
ǎƻǳǊŎŜǎ ƻŦ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘƛƻƴ ǳƴŎŜǊǘŀƛƴǘȅ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ Ƴƻǎǘ ŘƛŦŦƛŎǳƭǘΣ ǎǳōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜ 
or complex judgments, other than as highlighted below. 

 
3.1 Impairment of loans and advances 

¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ŦƻǊ ƭƻǎǎŜǎ ŀǊƛǎƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ƛǎ 
described in accounting policy Note 1.4 to the financial statements. Loan impairment allowances 
ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ōŜǎǘ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜ ƻŦ ƭƻǎǎŜǎ ƛƴŎǳǊǊŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƭƻŀƴ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ŘŀǘŜΦ 
Management is required to exercise judgement in making assumptions and estimates when calculating 
loan impairment allowances on collectively assessed loans and advances. 

The methods used to calculate collective impairment allowances on homogeneous groups of loans and 
advances that are not considered individually significant are disclosed in accounting policy Note 1.4 to 
the financial statements. They are subject to estimation uncertainty, in part because it is not practicable 
to identify losses on an individual loan basis in view of the large number of individually insignificant 
loans in the portfolio. 

The estimation methods include the use of statistical analysis of historical information, supplemented 
with significant management judgement, to assess whether current economic and credit conditions are 
such that the actual level of incurred losses is likely to be greater or less than that suggested by 
historical experience. In normal circumstances, historical experience provides the most objective and 
relevant information from which to assess inherent loss within the portfolio.   

In certain circumstances, historical loss experience provides less relevant information about the 
inherent loss in the portfolio at the reporting date, especially where changes in economic, regulatory or 
behavioural conditions influence the most recent trends in portfolio risk.  These factors will not be fully 
reflected in the statistical models, since the statistical model is based on historical experience. Such risk 
factors are taken into account by adjusting the impairment allowances derived solely from historical 
loss experience. 
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Risk factors include loan portfolio growth, unemployment rates, bankruptcy trends, geographical 
concentrations, loan product features, economic conditions such as national and local trends, the level 
of interest rates, account management policies and practices, changes in laws and regulations, and 
other influences on customer payment patterns.  Different factors are applied in different countries or 
territories to reflect the effect of local economic conditions, and laws and regulations. The methodology 
and the assumptions used in calculating impairment losses are reviewed regularly in the light of 
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.  For example, roll rates are regularly 
benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure they remain appropriate. 

However, the exercise of judgement requires the use of assumptions which are highly subjective and 
very sensitive to the risk factors, in particular to changes in economic and credit conditions across 
geographical areas. Many of the factors have a high degree of interdependency and there is no single 
factor to which loan impairment allowances as a whole are sensitive, though they are particularly 
sensitive to general economic and credit conditions.  It is possible that the outcomes within the next 
financial year could differ from the assumptions used, and this could result in a material adjustment to 
the carrying amount of loans and advances. 

4. Balances with Central Bank of Malta 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

   

Mandatory reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta  182 - 

   
    

5. Loans and advances to banks 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Current:   

Repayable on call and at short notice 3,704,583 3,043,304 

   
    

 Loans and advances with a contractual maturity of three months or less are included in cash and cash 
equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows (Note 26).   

 

6. Loans and advances to customers 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Current:   

Term loans and advances to customers 43,203,453 16,370,257 
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 Loans and advances to customers consist of loans granted to individuals and are principally unsecured. 
¢ƘŜ ƭƻŀƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŀƴŎŜǎ ŀǊŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜƭȅ ǎǳōƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ ŀ ŦƛȄŜŘ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜ ŀǎ ŀƭƭ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜ ǎǘǊŜŀƳǎ 
(process, rescheduling, reminder fees and other fees attributable to revolving credit facilities) are 
amortised over the expected term of the loan using the effective interest method.  Process, reminder 
and other revolving credit fees due are reflected as part of the carrying amount of the loans receivable 
up to the extent of amounts amortised and recognised in profit or loss.  The amount of rescheduling 
fees received but not yet amortised and recognised in profit or loss are deducted from the carrying 
amount of the loans receivable.  The carrying amount of loans and advances to customers is further 
analysed as follows: 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Face value of loans and advances  47,423,530 17,437,392 

Amortised process and reminder fees 14,133,058 5,783,097 

Unamortised rescheduling fees (161,375) (221,738) 

Collective impairment allowances (18,191,760) (6,628,494) 

   
   Carrying amount 43,203,453 16,370,257 

   
    

 The movements in collective impairment allowances with respect to loans and advances to customers 
are analysed as follows: 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

At beginning of the year 6,628,494 1,420,422 

Increase in allowances - charge to profit or loss 13,835,065 5,280,841 

Loans and advances to customers written off during the year (2,215,103) - 

Exchange differences (56,696) (72,769) 

   
   At end of the year 18,191,760 6,628,494 
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7. Loans and advances (from)/to group companies 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Current: 

 

  

Advances (from)/to group company (3,556,593) 1,360,845 

   
 

 

 

 

     

The movements in the loans and advances are analysed below:    

   

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

At beginning of the year 1,360,845 - 

Net advances effected (from)/to group companies (1,580,408) 7,066,732 

Repayments  (3,337,030) (5,705,887) 

   
   At end of the year (3,556,593) 1,360,845 

   
 

 

 

 

   
During the financial years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Bank effected financing transactions, 
comprising advances and repayments thereof with a group company, Ferratum Capital Oy, in terms of a 
funding arrangement entered into with this entity.  These advances were primarily secured against the 
entire micro loan portfolio of all group entities that operate in the micro finance business. This security 
was held by the Bank as a continuing security for the payment of all sums of money which became due 
and payable by Ferratum Capital Oy.  These advances are repayable in December 2017, however the 
Bank may demand repayment at any time.   
 
Under the terms of the funding arrangement in place with the group company, the Bank effects 
advances denominated in eǳǊƻ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳǇ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ ǿƛǘƘ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ǎǳǊǇƭǳǎ ƭƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ 
borrows funds denominated in Polish Zloty, Czech Koruna, Swedish Krona and Norwegian Krona for the 
ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜǎ ƻŦ ŦǳƴŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƛƴ ǎǇŜŎƛŦƛŎ ǘŜǊǊƛǘƻǊƛŜǎ ƎƛǾƛƴƎ Ǌƛse to exposures in those 
foreign currencies.  
 
The latter borrowings constitute repayments of the euro advances effectively. The funding arrangement 
ŎƻƴǘŜƳǇƭŀǘŜǎ ŀƴ ƻŦŦǎŜǘǘƛƴƎ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŜǳǊƻ ƭƻŀƴǎ ǘƻΣ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ 
borrowings from, the group company.  The euro loans are subject to a fixed interest rate of 3% per 
annum, whereas borrowings denominated in Polish Zloty, Czech Koruna, Swedish Krona and Norwegian 
Krona are subject to a fixed interest rate of 8% (2014: 11%) per annum.  An offsetting arrangement is 
ŀƭǎƻ ŎƻƴǘŜƳǇƭŀǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜǎŜ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ŦƭƻǿǎΦ  ¦ƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǘŜǊƳǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦǳƴŘƛƴƎ 
arrangement with the group company, referred to above, the group company has also committed to 
provide cover to the Bank from any realised and unrealised gains or losses arising on foreign currencies 
ŀǎ ŀ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΣ ƛƴ ŎŜǊǘŀƛƴ ǘŜǊǊƛǘƻǊƛŜǎΣ ŘŜƴƻƳƛƴŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǎǇŜŎƛŦƛŎ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ 
currencies taking cognisance of the funding obtained by the Bank in those currencies. 
 
As at 31 December 2015, the Bank had a balance payable to Ferratum Capital Oy, under the funding 
arrangement referred to above. 
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8.  Property, plant and equipment 

 

 

 

Furniture Computer Office  

 and fittings hardware equipment Total 

 ϵ ϵ ϵ ϵ 

At 1 January 2014     

Cost  38,369 31,205 8,270 77,844 

Accumulated depreciation (2,303) (5,089) (1,583) (8,975) 

     
     Net book amount 36,066 26,116 6,687 68,869 

     
     Year ended 31 December 2014     

Opening net book amount 36,066 26,116 6,687 68,869 

Additions 17,393 35,942 - 53,335 

Depreciation charge (6,440) (12,482) (2,067) (20,989) 

     
     Closing net book amount 47,019 49,576 4,620 101,215 

     
     At 31 December 2014     

Cost  55,762 67,147 8,270 131,179 

Accumulated depreciation (8,743) (17,571) (3,650) (29,964) 

     
     Net book amount 47,019 49,576 4,620 101,215 

     
     Year ended 31 December 2015     

Opening net book amount 47,019 49,576 4,620 101,215 

Additions 28,256 57,864 11,772 97,892 

Depreciation charge (8,067) (23,365) (2,528) (33,960) 

     
     Closing net book amount 67,208 84,075 13,864 165,147 

          At 31 December 2015     

Cost  84,018 125,011 20,042 229,071 

Accumulated depreciation (16,810) (40,936) (6,178) (63,924) 

     
     Net book amount 67,208 84,075 13,864 165,147 

     
      

9.  Intangible asset 

 

 2015 

 ϵ 

Year ended 31 December 2015  

Additions 360,268 

  
  Closing net book amount 360,268 

  
   

At 31 December 2015  

Cost 360,268 

  
  Net book amount 360,268 
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10.  Other assets 

 

 2015  2014 

 ϵ  ϵ 

  Current:   

Amount due from immediate parent company 12,000 7,000 

Amount due from group companies 1,582,420 266,692 

Other receivables 863,441 37,688 

Prepayments 77,805 16,258 

   
    2,535,666 327,638 

   
    

 Amounts due from immediate parent company and from group companies are repayable on 
 demand, unsecured and bear no interest. 

 

11.  Share capital 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Authorised, issued and fully paid   

млΣлллΣллл hǊŘƛƴŀǊȅ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ ƻŦ ϵм ŜŀŎƘ 10,000,000 10,000,000 

   
 
 

   

12. Other reserves 

 
 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Reserve for General Banking Risks 535,605 96,608 

   
 
 

   
The Reserve for General Banking Risks refers to the amount allocated by the Bank from its retained 
earnings to a non-ŘƛǎǘǊƛōǳǘŀōƭŜ ǊŜǎŜǊǾŜ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ ǇƻǘŜƴǘƛŀƭ Ǌƛǎƪǎ ƭƛƴƪŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƴƻƴ-performing loans 
and advances. This allocation is to occur over a three-year period, with a 40% allocation during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2013, and a 30% allocation both in the financial year ended 31 
December 2014 and in that ended 31 December 2015.   The current year allocation amounted to 
ϵпоуΣффт όнлмпΥ ϵфмΣоунύΦ 
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13.  Borrowed funds 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

Current:   

Amounts owed to credit institution 119,408 153,357 

Amounts owed to corporate entity 226,076 1,565,366 

Amounts owed to other financial institution - 2,500,000 

   
   
 345,484 4,218,723 

   
    
Amounts owed to credit institution constitutes a funding facility which is repayable on demand, 
unsecured and not subject to interest.   
 
!Ƴƻǳƴǘǎ ƻǿŜŘ ǘƻ ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ Ŝƴǘƛǘȅ ǊŜŦƭŜŎǘ ŦǳƴŘƛƴƎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƛƴ ŀ ǎǇŜŎƛŦƛŎ ǘŜǊǊƛǘƻǊȅΣ 
which funding is repayable within a three month period from origination and is subject to a fixed 
interest rate of 7.4% per annum. The loan is secured by the lending portfolio attributable to the specific 
jurisdiction.   
 
Amounts owed to other financial institution comprised funding which was not subject to a contractual 
maturity date and could be terminated subject to a six-month notice period. The borrowing, which was 
repaid during 2015, was subject to a floating interest rate of six months Euribor plus 7.5%.     
 

14.  Amounts owed to customers 
 

 2015 2014 
 ϵ ϵ 
Current:   
Call accounts 2,783 - 
   
     
Amounts owed to customers are classified as liabilities at amortised cost and are subject to fixed 
interest rates. 
 

15.  Debt securities in issue 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

Non-current:   

4.90% euro debt securities 20,000,000 - 

Issue costs (440,000)  

Amortisation of issue costs 145,627  

Accrued interest expense on securities  437,644 - 

   
    20,143,271 - 
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!ǎ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ ϵолΣлллΣллл .ƻƴŘ LǎǎǳŀƴŎŜ tǊƻƎǊŀƳƳŜΣ ƻƴ нн Wǳƭȅ нлмрΣ ōȅ ǾƛǊǘǳŜ ƻŦ ŀ ōŀǎŜ ǇǊƻǎǇŜŎǘǳǎ 

dated 17 July 2015, the Bank issued the first tranche of its bond offering, amounting to 200 bonds with 

ŀ ƴƻƳƛƴŀƭ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻŦ ϵмллΣллл ǇŜǊ ōƻƴŘΣ ƭƛǎǘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ European Securities Wholesale Market. The bonds 

are subject to fixed interest of 4.90% per annum payable on 21 July 2016 and 21 January 2017. All 

bonds are redeemable at par and shall become due for final redemption on 21 January 2017, however, 

the Bank reserves the right to redeem the bond in particular circumstances specified in the base 

prospectus dated 17 July 2015.  

¢ƘŜ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭ ŀƴŘ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŜǇŀȅƳŜƴǘǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ōƻƴŘǎ ŀǊŜ ƎǳŀǊŀƴǘŜŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ǳƭǘƛƳŀǘŜ ǇŀǊŜƴǘ 

company, Ferratum Oyj. 

 

16.  Other liabilities 

 

 2015 

5 

2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

Current:   

Dividend payable 2,345,324 - 

Amounts due to group companies 2,845,808 1,567,838 

Other payables 462,983 597,980 

Other accruals 1,477,984 1,064,446 

   
    7,132,099 3,230,264 

   
 

 

    

 Amounts due to group companies are repayable on demand, unsecured and bear no interest. 

 

17.  Commitments 

 

 Credit related commitments  

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Financial guarantee contracts issued 1,157,277 1,294,452 

   
 
 Financial guarantee contracts issued, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make 

payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same 
credit risk as loans. The Bank issues financial guarantee contracts in respect of micro-loans and other 
credit products originated by other parties. At the end of each reporting period, these commitments are 
measured at the higher of (i) the remaining unamortised balance of the amount at initial recognition 
(fees received) and (ii) the best estimate of expenditure required to settle the commitment at the end 
of each reporting period. 

 With respect to revolving credit facilities that are issued to customers, the Bank has undrawn credit 
lines that are considered revocable. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the 
Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments, if the unused 
amounts were to be drawn down. However, commitments to extend credit are in all circumstances 
contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards under the terms of this product.  
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 Operating lease commitments ς where the Bank is the lessee 

 The future aggregate minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases, mainly 

relating to the lease of office premises by the Bank subject to normal commercial terms and conditions, 

are as follows: 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Less than one year 251,569 174,865 

More than one year and less than five years 88,101 4,225 

   
    339,670 179,090 

   
 

18.  Interest and similar income 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

On loans and advances to banks 2,557 6,697 

On loans and advances to customers 42,578,542 18,342,029 

On loans and advances to group company 207,296 - 

   
    42,788,395 18,348,726 

     
    

19.  Interest and similar expense 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

On borrowed funds 253,022 205,124 

On loans and advances from group company  751,732 49,378 

On debt securities in issue 437,644 - 

     
    1,442,398 254,502 
     
    

Interest and similar expense includes a net interest cost incurred on the funding arrangement with a 

ƎǊƻǳǇ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΣ ŀǎ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ƛƴ bƻǘŜ тΣ ŀƳƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ϵрппΣпос όнлмпΥ ϵпфΣотуύΦ  
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20.  Fee and commission income and expense 

 

(a) Fee and commission income 
 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Fee income 344,210 207,742 

     
    

(b) Fee and commission expense 
 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Commission charges payable to a related party 33,076 - 

Interbank transaction fees  2,507,565 675,766 

Other fees  188,462 26,095 

     
   
 2,729,103 701,861 

     
    

21.  Net trading gains 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Net foreign exchange gains - - 

     
    

¦ƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǘŜǊƳǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŦǳƴŘƛƴƎ ŀǊǊŀƴƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳǇ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΣ ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ƛƴ bƻǘŜ тΣ ǘƘŜ 
group company has also committed to provide cover to the Bank from any realised and unrealised gains 
or losses arising on foreign currencies as a result of ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΣ ƛƴ ŎŜǊǘŀƛƴ ǘŜǊǊƛǘƻǊƛŜǎΣ 
denominated in specific foreign currencies taking cognisance of the funding obtained by the Bank in 
ǘƘƻǎŜ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎƛŜǎΦ 5ǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊΣ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪ ƛƴŎǳǊǊŜŘ ƴŜǘ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ƭƻǎǎŜǎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ϵтпΣнл3 
όнлмпΥ ϵмсмΣмолύ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǿŜǊŜ ōƻǊƴŜ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳǇ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΦ  
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22. Expenses by nature  

 

  2015  2014 

  ϵ  ϵ 

   

Employee benefit expense (Note 23) 4,535,017 2,422,074 

Annual statutory audit remuneration  47,200 47,200 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 8) 33,960 20,989 

Information technology costs 175,373 161,837 

Property rental expenses 239,749 163,801 

Consultancy and business development costs 6,710,128 3,767,178 

Other administrative expenses 5,997,272 1,993,637 

   
    17,738,699 8,576,716 

   
    

Other administrative expenses comprise services or expense items which are incurred in the course of 
ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΦ 

!ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ 

Fees charged by the auditor for services rendered during the financial year relates to the following: 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Annual statutory audit 47,200 47,200 

Other non-audit services 159,000 127,000 
       206,200 174,200 
   
    

23.  Employee benefit expense  

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

²ŀƎŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǎŀƭŀǊƛŜǎ όƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ŜȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴύ  3,857,879 2,102,653 

Social security costs 617,138 258,908 

   
    4,475,017 2,361,561 
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The average number of persons employed by the Bank during the period: 

 2015 2014 

   

 - Senior managerial 9 6 

 - Operational/administrative 163 95 

   
   
 172 101 

   
    

24.  5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ŜƳƻƭǳƳŜƴǘǎ 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Salaries, fees and other emoluments 318,540 318,513 

   
     

25.  Tax expense 

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Current tax expense 2,585,569 1,309,892 

   
 
 

   
The tax on the profit before income tax is equivalent to the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the tax rate applicable as follows:  
 
 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Profit before tax  7,387,340 3,742,548 

   
 
 

     

Tax charge for the year 2,585,569 1,309,892 
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26.  Cash and cash equivalents 

 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with 
contractual maturity of not more than three months, which form an ƛƴǘŜƎǊŀƭ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŎŀǎƘ 
management: 
 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta (Note 4) 182 - 

Loans and advances to banks (Note 5)  3,704,583 3,043,304 

Borrowed funds (Note 13) (345,484)  (1,718,723) 

   
    3,359,281   1,324,581 

   
 
 

   

Borrowed funds, which are repayable on demand or within three months from origination, are treated 
ŀǎ ŎŀǎƘ ŜǉǳƛǾŀƭŜƴǘǎ ŀǎ ǘƘŜȅ ŦƻǊƳ ŀƴ ƛƴǘŜƎǊŀƭ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŎŀǎƘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΦ 
 

27.  Dividends  

 

 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

   

Dividends declared by the Bank  2,345,324 - 

   
   euro cent per share - net 23.5 - 

   
 
 

   

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Bank declared a final net dividend of 23.5 euro cent per 
share (gross dividend of 36 euro cent per share).  
 

28. Related party transactions 

 

CŜǊǊŀǘǳƳ hȅƧ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ǳƭǘƛƳŀǘŜ ǇŀǊŜƴǘ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ όǊŜŦŜǊ ǘƻ bƻǘŜ нфύΣ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎƭȅ ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ W¢ CŀƳƛƭȅ 
Holding Oy.  All entities, which are ultimately controlled by Ferratum Oyj, are considered by the 
directors to be related parties. The ultimate controlling party of Ferratum Bank plc is Mr Jorma Jokela, 
who holds a majority stake in the share capital of Ferratum Oyj.  
 
During the financial years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Bank effected financing transactions, 
comprising advances and repayments thereof with a group company, Ferratum Capital Oy, in terms of a 
funding arrangement entered into with this entity. Transactions entered into under this agreement are 
disclosed within Note 7, as are the terms and conditions, including maturity, interest and collateral 
terms, of all such transactions.    Under the arrangement with Ferratum Capital Oy, the group company 
has also committed to provide cover to the Bank from any realised and unrealised gains or losses arising 
on foreign cǳǊǊŜƴŎƛŜǎ ŀǎ ŀ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ƭŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΣ ƛƴ ŎŜǊǘŀƛƴ ǘŜǊǊƛǘƻǊƛŜǎΣ ŘŜƴƻƳƛƴŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ 
specific foreign currencies taking cognisance of the funding obtained by the Bank in those currencies. 
During the year, the Bank incurred net foreign exchange loǎǎŜǎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ϵтпΣнлоΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǿŜǊŜ 
borne by the group company (refer to Note 21). Interest income and expense attributable to these 
loans and advances is presented in the following table.  
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The following principal transactions were carried out with related parties, comprising mainly group 
companies: 
 
 2015 2014 

 ϵ ϵ 

Interest receivable from group company (Note 18) 207,296 - 

Interest payable to group company (Note 19) (751,732) (49,378) 

Recharge of expenses from ultimate parent company:   

   Information technology costs, marketing fees 
   and other costs 

 
(1,531,452) 

 
(441,797) 

Recharge of marketing and staff training expenses from  
other group companies 

 
(1,572,946) (840,946) 

Consultancy services provided by key management personnel  (113,365) (108,678) 

Dividend payable to group company (Note 27) (2,345,324) - 

   
    

Amounts owed from/to group companies are disclosed in Notes 10 and 16. 
 
¢ƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ŀǊŜ ŘŜŜƳŜŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ƛǘǎ ƪŜȅ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭ ǘŀƪƛƴƎ ŎƻƎƴƛǎŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ŀƴƪΩǎ 
ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΦ YŜȅ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭ ŎƻƳǇŜƴǎŀǘƛƻƴΣ ŎƻƴǎƛǎǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴΣ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ 
disclosed in Note 24. 
 

29. Statutory information 

 

Ferratum Bank plc is a limited liability company and is incorporated in Malta. 

The immediate parent company of Ferratum Bank plc is Ferratum (Malta) Holding Limited, a company 
registered in Malta, with its registered address at Tagliaferro Business Centre, Level 6, 14, High Street, 
Sliema, Malta. The immediate parent company is the holder of the entire ordinary share capital of the 
Bank, with the exception of one ordinary share which is held by Ferratum Oyj, previously known as JT 
Family Holding Oy. 

The ultimate parent company of Ferratum Bank plc is Ferratum Oyj, a company registered in Finland, 

with its registered address at Ratamestarinkatu 11 A, Helsinki 00520, Finland. The financial statements 

of Ferratum Bank plc are included in the consolidated financial statements prepared by Ferratum Oyj, 

which consolidated financial statements are available from ǘƘŜ ǳƭǘƛƳŀǘŜ ǇŀǊŜƴǘ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǊŜƎƛǎǘŜǊŜŘ 

address.  
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)ÎÄÅÐÅÎÄÅÎÔ ÁÕÄÉÔÏÒȭÓ ÒÅÐÏÒÔ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ &ÉÎÁÎÃÉÁÌ 3ÔÁÔÅÍÅÎÔÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ )ÓÓÕÅÒ ÆÏÒ ÔÈÅ ÙÅÁÒ ÅÎÄÅÄ σρ 

December 2015  
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)ÎÄÅÐÅÎÄÅÎÔ ÁÕÄÉÔÏÒȭÓ ÒÅÐÏÒÔ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ &ÉÎÁÎÃÉÁÌ 3ÔÁÔÅÍÅÎÔÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ )ÓÓÕÅÒ ÆÏÒ ÔÈÅ ÙÅÁÒ ÅÎÄÅÄ 31 

December 2014   
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